# Energy Efficient Techniques For Algorithmic Analog-To-Digital Converters

by

### Noman Hai

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2011

© Noman Hai 2011

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

#### Abstract

Analog-to-digital converters (ADCs) are key design blocks in state-of-art image, capacitive, and biomedical sensing applications. In these sensing applications, algorithmic ADCs are the preferred choice due to their high resolution and low area advantages. Algorithmic ADCs are based on the same operating principle as that of pipelined ADCs. Unlike pipelined ADCs where the residue is transferred to the next stage, an N-bit algorithmic ADC utilizes the same hardware N-times for each bit of resolution. Due to the cyclic nature of algorithmic ADCs, many of the low power techniques applicable to pipelined ADCs cannot be directly applied to algorithmic ADCs. Consequently, compared to those of pipelined ADCs, the traditional implementations of algorithmic ADCs are power inefficient.

This thesis presents two novel energy efficient techniques for algorithmic ADCs. The first technique modifies the capacitors' arrangement of a conventional flip-around configuration and amplifier sharing technique, resulting in a low power and low area design solution. The other technique is based on the unit multiplying-digital-to-analog-converter approach. The proposed approach exploits the power saving advantages of capacitor-shared technique and capacitor-scaled technique. It is shown that, compared to conventional techniques, the proposed techniques reduce the power consumption of algorithmic ADCs by more than 85%.

To verify the effectiveness of such approaches, two prototype chips, a 10-bit 5 MS/s and a 12-bit 10 MS/s ADCs, are implemented in a 130-nm CMOS process. Detailed design considerations are discussed as well as the simulation and measurement results. According to the simulation results, both designs achieve figures-of-merit of approximately 60 fJ/step, making them some of the most power efficient ADCs to date.

#### Acknowledgements

Writing acknowledgements for a PhD thesis is the same as performing analog-to-digital (ADC) conversion. One takes continuous support, help, encouragement, and love–all analog signals–from the people around during one's research work, and converts these analog signals into a few sentences–a digital equivalent.

As almost all ADCs start with the most significant bit, in the same manner, my thesis acknowledgements start with the most significant person, that is, my supervisor. I truly thank Prof. David Nairn for accepting me as his PhD student, and his continuous support, guidance, encouragement and patience throughout my PhD years. Many times I entered his office dejected and frustrated, and came out with renewed energy and something new to try. His guidance on stress management and on writing research papers and this thesis has been as valuable as his technical guidance. I cannot imagine a better supervisor than him.

I have been fortunate to have as my co-supervisor Prof. Adel Sedra, whose third edition of his famous Microelectronics Circuits book introduced me to the world of transistors. Each and every meeting with him has been a source of inspiration. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members, Prof. Manoj Sachdev and Prof. Karim Karim. I am grateful to Phil Regier for helping me out on various computer-related issues. I am also thankful to Prof. Bosco Leung.

There are many friends who helped me in some way or another during my PhD studies. Special mention must go to Mahmoud Khater for always being there to listen to my research worries and challenges and for advising me accordingly. Thanks to Adam Bray, Zhao Li, Jason Shirtliff, Jaspal Shah, David Li, David Rennie, Sumanjit Singh, Faisal Maalik, Faisal Ali, Sohail Javaad, Ayman Ismail, Rami Fathy, Hasan Mostafa, Hazem Shehata, Aviviere Telang, and Umar Shafique. I would especially like to thank my Uncle Jamal and his family for helping me settle in Canada. My apologies to anyone I have missed.

I would like to thank my wife, Hoamna, for everything she did to make my PhD life as comfortable and easy as possible. She listened to my research issues, my chip measurement issues, and even my presentations rehearsals, even though she has not an iota of knowledge of how circuits work. Also, thanks to my two-year old son, Shazil, for asking me to dance for him intermittently, each night, from the time I return from university until he goes to sleep. I realize now that this dancing and playing with him has kept me sane. I would like to thank my brother, sister, father-in-law and all my relatives in Pakistan for their love and prayers.

Last but not least, I am really indebted to my parents Mrs. and Prof. Rashid Hai. It is their love, dedication, selflessness, encouragement, support, confidence in my abilities and most importantly their prayers that have helped me overcome all the challenges of my academic life. Their personal tutoring, mentoring and interest in my overall academics during my school years have helped shape my career into what it is now. No words of appreciation can accurately reflect how thankful I am to them. I pray for their health and long and happy lives.

### Dedication

In loving memory of my grandparents Mr. and Mrs. Abdul Hai

# Contents

|          | List                  | of Ta  | bles   |   | xi   |
|----------|-----------------------|--------|--|---|------|
|          | $\operatorname{List}$ | of Fig | gures  |   | xiii |
|          | $\operatorname{List}$ | of Sy  | mbols and Abbreviations                                      | x | viii |
| 1        | $\operatorname{Intr}$ | oducti | ion  |   | 1    |
|          | 1.1                   | ADCs   | for Imaging, Biomedical, and Capacitive Sensing Applications | • | 1    |
|          | 1.2                   | Motiv  | ation  | • | 2    |
|          | 1.3                   | Thesis | Organization   |   | 3    |
| <b>2</b> | Bac                   | kgroui | nd   |   | 4    |
|          | 2.1                   | Analo  | g-to-Digital Conversion Overview                             |   | 4    |
|          | 2.2                   | Archit | ectural Details of Pipelined and Algorithmic ADCs            |   | 5    |
|          |                       | 2.2.1  | Pipelined ADCs   |   | 5    |
|          |                       | 2.2.2  | Algorithmic ADCs   | • | 7    |
|          |                       |        | 2.2.2.1 Effects of offsets on the residue                    | • | 9    |
|          |                       | 2.2.3  | Switched capacitor realization of the algorithmic stage      | • | 10   |
|          |                       | 2.2.4  | Sources of errors in the pipelined/algorithmic stages        | • | 16   |
|          |                       |        | 2.2.4.1 Switching errors                                     | • | 16   |
|          |                       |        | 2.2.4.2 Matching   | • | 17   |

|   |     |        | 2.2.4.3 Gain errors   | .8  |
|---|-----|--------|---|-----|
|   |     |        | 2.2.4.4 Noise   | 22  |
|   | 2.3 | Low P  | Power Techniques for Pipelined ADCs                                       | 23  |
|   |     | 2.3.1  | Architectural level design  | 23  |
|   |     | 2.3.2  | Stage level design  | 25  |
|   |     | 2.3.3  | Circuit level design  | 28  |
|   | 2.4 | Overv  | iew of Recent Energy Efficient Techniques for Algorithmic ADCs $\ldots$ 3 | 30  |
|   |     | 2.4.1  | Flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique                        | \$1 |
|   |     | 2.4.2  | Bias and clock phase scaling  | 32  |
|   |     |        | 2.4.2.1 Non-uniform clocking  | 3   |
|   |     |        | 2.4.2.2 Dynamic biasing technique   | 34  |
|   |     |        | 2.4.2.3 Summary   | 36  |
|   |     | 2.4.3  | Capacitor-shared techniques   | 36  |
|   |     |        | 2.4.3.1 2-cap-shared technique  | 37  |
|   | 2.5 | Figure | es-of-Merit for ADCs  | 39  |
|   |     | 2.5.1  | Low power limit of ADCs 3   | 39  |
|   |     | 2.5.2  | ADCs' FOM   | 10  |
|   |     | 2.5.3  | Recent progress in low power pipelined and algorithmic ADCs 4             | 1   |
|   |     | 2.5.4  | Comparison of the FOM of algorithmic and pipelined ADCs 4                 | 1   |
|   | 2.6 | Summ   | ary   | 2   |
| 3 | Pow | ver Re | duction In Algorithmic ADCs 4   | 4   |
|   | 3.1 | Overv  | iew   | 4   |
|   | 3.2 | Propo  | sed 3-Cap-Shared Technique for Algorithmic ADCs                           | 4   |
|   |     | 3.2.1  | Proposed approach   | 15  |
|   |     | 3.2.2  | Improved 3-cap-shared approach  | 6   |
|   |     | 3.2.3  | Power estimates   | 17  |

|   |     | 3.2.4  | Summary  | 47 |
|---|-----|--------|--|----|
|   | 3.3 | Propo  | sed Capacitor-Shared and Capacitor-Scaled Technique                  | 49 |
|   |     | 3.3.1  | Practical considerations   | 51 |
|   |     | 3.3.2  | Bias current scaling   | 51 |
|   |     | 3.3.3  | Proposed approach: OTA's scaling                                     | 55 |
|   |     |        | 3.3.3.1 Combined U-MDAC and the 3-caps-shared approach $\ . \ .$     | 57 |
|   |     | 3.3.4  | Combining the proposed techniques with phase/bias scaling techniques | 58 |
|   |     | 3.3.5  | Estimated power savings in the presence of parasitic capacitance     | 59 |
|   |     | 3.3.6  | Summary  | 60 |
|   | 3.4 | Therm  | al Noise Analysis  | 62 |
|   | 3.5 | Low F  | Power Limit of OTA-Based Capacitor-Shared and Capacitor-Scaled       |    |
|   |     | Algori | thmic ADC  | 65 |
|   | 3.6 | Design | Procedure of U-MDAC Algorithmic ADCs                                 | 69 |
|   | 3.7 | Summ   | ary  | 76 |
| 4 | Des | ign Of | The Experimental ADCs  | 77 |
|   | 4.1 | Design | Considerations   | 77 |
|   | 4.2 | 10-bit | 5 MS/s Algorithmic ADC   | 79 |
|   |     | 4.2.1  | Simulation results   | 81 |
|   |     | 4.2.2  | Testing  | 82 |
|   |     | 4.2.3  | Summary  | 83 |
|   | 4.3 | 12-bit | 10 MS/s Algorithmic ADC  | 86 |
|   |     | 4.3.1  | System level   | 86 |
|   |     | 4.3.2  | Architectural level  | 87 |
|   |     | 4.3.3  | Circuit level  | 91 |
|   |     |        | 4.3.3.1 Switches   | 91 |
|   |     |        |  |    |

|    |      |         | 4.3.3.3        | Con      | npara  | tor.  |        |       | •••    | • • |     | • •           | • • |       | <br>• | <br> | 95  |
|----|------|---------|----------------|----------|--------|-------|--------|-------|--------|-----|-----|---------------|-----|-------|-------|------|-----|
|    |      | 4.3.4   | $2^{nd}$ stage | e des    | ign .  |       |        |       | •••    |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 101 |
|    |      | 4.3.5   | Clock ge       | enera    | tion   |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 101 |
|    |      | 4.3.6   | Simulati       | ion re   | sults  |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 106 |
|    |      | 4.3.7   | Measure        | ement    | setu   | p and | d res  | ults  |        |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 110 |
|    |      |         | 4.3.7.1        | Mea      | surer  | nent  | resu   | lts . | •••    |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 110 |
|    |      | 4.3.8   | Summar         | y.       |        |       | •••    |       | •••    |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 111 |
| -  | C    | _l      |                | <b>F</b> |        | 71-   |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       |      | 115 |
| Э  | Con  | ciusio  | ns And I       | Futu     | re w   | ork   |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       |      | 117 |
|    | 5.1  | Major   | Contribu       | itions   |        |       |        |       | •••    |     | ••• | •••           | • • |       |       | <br> | 118 |
|    | 5.2  | Future  | e Work .       |          |        |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     | <br>• |       | <br> | 119 |
| Aj | ppen | dices   |                |          |        |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       |      | 121 |
|    | A.1  | ADC     | Character      | ristics  |        |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 122 |
|    | A.2  | Optim   | um Scalir      | ng Fa    | ctor . | Anal  | ysis i | for F | Pipeli | ned | AD  | $\mathbf{Cs}$ |     |       |       | <br> | 129 |
|    | A.3  | Deriva  | tion of M      | linim    | um S   | ampl  | ing I  | Powe  | er.    |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 133 |
|    | A.4  | Layou   | ts and De      | evice    | Sizes  |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       | <br> | 136 |
|    | Bib  | liograp | $\mathbf{b}$   |          |        |       |        |       |        |     |     |               |     |       |       |      | 145 |

# List of Tables

| 2.1 | Comparing power and conversion time of the different techniques for an N-bit ADC.   | 33  |
|-----|---|-----|
| 2.2 | Combining flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with phase<br>and bias current scaling for an N-bit ADC  | 36  |
| 2.3 | Combining flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with the capacitor-shared techniques for an N-bit ADC  | 39  |
| 3.1 | Combining flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with capacitor-<br>shared techniques for an N-bit ADC.   | 48  |
| 3.2 | Combining the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with the capacitor-scaled techniques for a 10-bit ADC.   | 58  |
| 3.3 | Comparing energy efficiencies of the different implementation techniques of a 10-bit algorithmic ADC when combined with phase/bias scaling techniques.                  | 59  |
| 3.4 | Power estimates in the presence of parasitic capacitance  | 61  |
| 3.5 | Unit capacitor size for full scaling and scaling the first four cycles when $n_f$<br>= 6 and $V_{FS}$ = 1.5 V   | 70  |
| 3.6 | Unit capacitor size for the optimal number of cycles $(n_f = 6)$  | 71  |
| 4.1 | ADC's design considerations   | 78  |
| 4.2 | Performance summary of the simulated 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC. $% \left( {{\rm ADC}} \right)$ .  | 81  |
| 4.3 | Comparison of THD of various simulated switches at input frequency of $1.006$ MHz and a sample rate of $10$ MS/s. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ | 92  |
| 4.4 | Power consumption of different blocks of the simulated ADC  | 107 |

| 4.5 | Performance summary | of the | 12-bit 10 | MS/s | algorithmic ADC | J |  | 109 |
|-----|---------------------|--------|-----------|------|-----------------|---|--|-----|
|-----|---------------------|--------|-----------|------|-----------------|---|--|-----|

4.6 Comparison the FOM of recently published algorithmic ADCs. . . . . . . 109

# List of Figures

| M-bit/stage pipelined ADC.   | 6   |
|--|---|
| Digital alignment of pipelined output bits   | 7   |
| Algorithmic ADC architecture.  | 8   |
| Transfer characteristics of a 1-bit pipelined stage  | 9   |
| Transfer function of the 1-bit pipelined stage with an offset  | 10  |
| Flow chart of an RSD algorithmic ADC   | 11  |
| Residue plots of the 1.5-bit/stage   | 12  |
| Single-ended SC implementation of the conventional two-stage algorithmic ADC: (a) Schematics and (b) Clocks. | 13  |
| Residue plot of the 2.8-bit/stage  | 16  |
| Residue plot showing the impact of the capacitor mismatch.   | 19  |
| Settling time and gain error due to the imperfect OTA  | 20  |
| Residue plot showing the impact of the gain errors.  | 21  |
| Scaling of the pipelined stages by the scaling factor $\gamma$   | 24  |
| Normalized power versus the scaling factor   | 25  |
| Normalized power versus the stage resolution   | 26  |
| Traditional regular and flip-around configuration pipelined stage $\ldots$ .                                 | 27  |
| Switched-OTA technique.  | 28  |
| Concept of OTA-shared technique across two parallel channels   | 29  |
| Concept of OTA-shared technique between two cascaded stages  | 30  |
|  | $ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$ |

| 2.20 | Double sampling (DS) technique   | 31 |
|------|--|----|
| 2.21 | Single-ended SC implementation of a flip-around configuration and OTA-<br>shared algorithmic ADC   | 32 |
| 2.22 | Non-uniform clocking scheme of an N-bit algorithmic ADC  | 34 |
| 2.23 | Dynamic current scaling scheme of an N-bit algorithmic ADC   | 35 |
| 2.24 | Capacitor-shared technique: (a) sampling, (b) $1^{st}$ evaluation phase, (c) $2^{nd}$ evaluation phase, and (d) $3^{rd}$ evaluation phase.   | 38 |
| 2.25 | 2-cap-shared technique: (a) 1 <sup>st</sup> evaluation phase and (b) sampling capacitor charging phase.  | 39 |
| 2.26 | $\mathrm{FOM}_2$ versus year of publication for pipelined and algorithmic ADCs   | 41 |
| 2.27 | $\rm mW/MHz$ versus the ENOB of published pipelined and algorithmic ADCs.  | 42 |
| 2.28 | Comparison of the FOMs of recently published algorithmic and pipelined ADCs  | 43 |
| 3.1  | Evaluation phase of the flip-around configuration and OTA shared stage.  | 45 |
| 3.2  | 3-cap-shared technique: (a) 1 <sup>st</sup> evaluation phase and (b) 2 <sup>nd</sup> evaluation phase.   | 46 |
| 3.3  | Improved 3-cap-shared technique: (a) $1^{st}$ evaluation phase and (b) $2^{nd}$ evaluation phase.  | 47 |
| 3.4  | Capacitor-shared scheme: (a) $1^{st}$ evaluation phase and (b) $2^{nd}$ evaluation phase.  | 50 |
| 3.5  | Conceptual capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADC   | 50 |
| 3.6  | Capacitor-scaled scheme. The disconnected capacitors are shown in dotted<br>lines: (a) sampling, (b) 1 <sup>st</sup> evaluation phase, (c) 2 <sup>nd</sup> evaluation phase, and<br>(d) 3 <sup>rd</sup> evaluation phase | 51 |
| 3.7  | Evaluation phase of the U-MDAC stage.  | 53 |
| 3.8  | Bandwidth versus capacitive load for a cascode OTA in a 130-nm CMOS process with $I_{bias}=7.5 \ \mu\text{A}$ (solid-line) and $I_{bias}=8.5 \ \mu\text{A}$ (dashed-line)  | 53 |
| 3.9  | OTA's bandwidth normalized to the maximum bandwidth for N=10 versus unit capacitor size normalized to the optimum unit capacitance. $\dots \dots$  | 54 |

| 3.10 | U-MDAC approach   |
|------|---|
| 3.11 | U-MDAC phases (the powered down OTA and disconnected wires are represented by the dotted lines): (a) $1^{st}$ evaluation phase, (b) $2^{nd}$ evaluation phase, and (c) $3^{rd}$ evaluation phase. |
| 3.12 | Load capacitance of different techniques: (a) flip-around and OTA-shared,<br>(b) 3-cap-shared, (c) Improved 3-cap-shared, and (d) U-MDAC's during the<br>K <sup>th</sup> evaluation phase         |
| 3.13 | Noise analysis of the MDAC during the evaluation phase  |
| 3.14 | $\mathbf{K}^{th}$ evaluation phase of the U-MDAC stage  |
| 3.15 | MDAC during the evaluation phase  |
| 3.16 | $\frac{C_{pi}}{C_u}$ versus $\frac{C_{pi}}{C_{dd}}$ for the different values of $\zeta = \frac{C_u}{C_{CMFB}}$  |
| 3.17 | $\alpha$ versus different NMOS's lengths for a 130-nm CMOS process  |
| 4.1  | Single-ended implementation of a 3-cap-shared stage: (a) SC implementa-<br>tion and (b) clocks.   |
| 4.2  | Schematic of the OTA  |
| 4.3  | Chip layout   |
| 4.4  | 512-point post-layout FFT of the 10-bit 5 MS/s Algorithmic ADC, where $f_{in} = 517.57$ kHz   |
| 4.5  | PCB layout of the top layer   |
| 4.6  | Implementation of a 12-bit algorithmic ADC.   |
| 4.7  | Single-ended U-MDAC's implementation  |
| 4.8  | Schematic of a 16 U-MDACs' circuit.   |
| 4.9  | Clocks for 16 U-MDACs' circuit.   |
| 4.10 | Test bench for simulating the THD of switches.  |
| 4.11 | Schematic of the OTA with a switched biasing scheme. During $\phi_{pd}$ the cascode transistors are turned OFF  |
| 4.12 | Variations of the bias nodes during the OTA's turn ON and turn OFF. $\ . \ .$   |
| 4.13 | OTA's turn ON timings.  |

| 4.14 | Schematic of booster amplifiers: (a) N-booster and (b) P-Booster   | 96  |
|------|--|-----|
| 4.15 | Loop gain $ A_0\beta $ and phase of the OTA  | 97  |
| 4.16 | Comparator schematic.  | 99  |
| 4.17 | Simplified schematic of the latch.   | 100 |
| 4.18 | Common-centroid layout of the comparator's input differential pair with dummies.                                       | 101 |
| 4.19 | Loop gain $ A_0\beta $ and phase of the second stage OTA   | 102 |
| 4.20 | Schematic of clock generation circuit.   | 103 |
| 4.21 | Six clock phases.  | 104 |
| 4.22 | Non-overlapping clock generator.   | 105 |
| 4.23 | Non-overlapping time between $\phi_1$ and $\phi_2$   | 105 |
| 4.24 | Chip layout of the algorithmic ADC.  | 106 |
| 4.25 | Current profile of the core ADC  | 108 |
| 4.26 | Simulated 256-point FFT plot at $f_s = 10$ MS/s: (a) $f_{in} = 528.97$ kHz and (b) $f_{in} = 4.59$ MHz.                | 112 |
| 4.27 | PCB layout of the top layer  | 113 |
| 4.28 | Test setup for the 12-bit Algorithmic ADC  | 114 |
| 4.29 | Expected and measured $\phi_2$ phase indicating the operation of the DSM   | 115 |
| 4.30 | Expected and measured MSB when common-mode input is provided. MSB is measured after passing through an inverter buffer | 116 |
| A.1  | Basic operation of an ADC; Sampling and Quantization   | 123 |
| A.2  | 3-bit ADC characteristic   | 124 |
| A.3  | Frequency domain characterization  | 127 |
| A.4  | Capacitor scaled stages  | 129 |
| A.5  | Normalized power versus the taper factor   | 131 |
| A.6  | Optimum scaling factor versus M  | 132 |
| A.7  | Normalized power versus the stage resolution   | 133 |

| A.8  | Complete Spectre schematic of the 12-bit 10 MS/s ADC           | 136 |
|------|--|-----|
| A.9  | Layout of the U-MDAC's stage.                                  | 137 |
| A.10 | Layout of the second stage                                     | 138 |
| A.11 | Layout of the comparator.                                      | 139 |
| A.12 | Chip micrograph of the 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC. $\ldots$ | 142 |
| A.13 | Chip micrograph of the 12-bit 10 MS/s algorithmic ADC          | 144 |

### List of Symbols and Abbreviations

| $\beta$              | Feedback factor                          |
|----------------------|--|
| au                   | Time constant                            |
| $C_{pi}$             | Input Parasitic Capacitance              |
| $C_{po}$             | Output Parasitic Capacitance             |
| $f_{3dB}$            | OTA's closed loop bandwidth              |
| $f_{in}$             | Input signal frequency                   |
| $f_s$                | Sampling frequency                       |
| $f_T$                | Unity gain frequency                     |
| $n_f$                | Noise factor of the circuit              |
| $\Sigma\Delta$ ADC   | Sigma Delta Analog to Digital Converter  |
| $A_v$                | OTA DC gain                              |
| ADC                  | Analog-to-Digital Converter              |
| $C_f$                | Feedback Capacitor                       |
| $C_s$                | Sampling Capacitor                       |
| CMOS                 | Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor  |
| $\mathbf{CS}$        | Capacitor-shared                         |
| CSFA                 | Capacitor-shared flip-around             |
| $\operatorname{CSR}$ | Capacitor-shared regular                 |
| DAC                  | Digital-to-Analog Converter              |
| $\mathrm{dB}$        | Decibels                                 |
| DNL                  | Differential Non-linearity               |
| DR                   | Dynamic Range                            |
| DSP                  | Digital Signal Processing                |
| ECG                  | Electrocardiogram                        |
| EEG                  | Electroencephalogram                     |
| ENOB                 | Effective Number of Bits                 |
| EOG                  | Electrooculogram                         |
| ERBW                 | Effective Resolution Bandwidth           |
| FAOS                 | Flip-around and OTA-shared configuration |
| $\mathbf{FF}$        | Flip-flop                                |
| FFT                  | Fast Fourier Transform                   |
| FOM                  | Figure of Merit                          |
| Ι                    | Number of pipelined stages               |
|                      |  |

| INL                 | Integral Non-linearity                            |
|---------------------|---|
| К                   | Current resolved bit or Current evaluation phase  |
| k                   | Boltzman's constant                               |
| LSB                 | Least Significant Bit                             |
| М                   | Stage resolution [bits]                           |
| MDAC                | Multiplying Digital-to-Analog Converter           |
| MOSFET              | Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor |
| MSB                 | Most Significant Bit                              |
| Ν                   | ADC number of bits                                |
| OTA                 | Operational Transconductance Amplifier            |
| $\rm S/H$           | Sample and Hold                                   |
| SAR                 | Successive Approximation Register                 |
| $\mathbf{SC}$       | Switched Capacitor                                |
| SFDR                | Spurious Free Dynamic Range                       |
| SNDR                | Signal-to-Noise and Distortion Ratio              |
| SNR                 | Signal-to-Noise Ratio                             |
| $\operatorname{SR}$ | Set-Reset   |
| Т                   | absolute temperature                              |
| TFA                 | Traditional flip-around configuration             |
| THD                 | Total Harmonic Distortion                         |
| TR                  | Traditional regular                               |
| U-MDAC              | Unit-Multiplying Digital-to-Analog Converter      |
| $V_{FS}$            | Full scale voltage                                |
| $V_{LSB}$           | Least Significant Bit Voltage                     |
| $V_t$               | Threshold voltage                                 |
|                     |   |

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

Analog-to-digital converters (ADCs) are ubiquitous wherever analog signals are processed, stored, or transported in a digital form. For example, in the music industry, ADCs are used to convert the voice into digital format so that it is processed, compressed, or stored. ADCs are also an integral part of wireless communication systems, disk drives, audio and video communications, radar, sonar, camcorders, cellular phones, touch-screens, displays, and other analog/digital mixed-signal applications. Typically, such applications determine the architecture of the embedded ADCs and their performance to satisfy the needs of the overall system.

## 1.1 ADCs for Imaging, Biomedical, and Capacitive Sensing Applications

During the last decade, there has been an increasing demand for digital signal processing (DSP) of images and other sensor based data requiring low speed and moderate resolutions, while consuming a very low power. General imaging, biomedical imaging and capacitive touch sensing applications are perhaps the most rapidly growing ones [1–14].

The most common ADC architectures for these sensing applications are successiveapproximation register (SAR) [15–19], single-slope (SS) [20–22], sigma-delta ( $\Sigma\Delta$ ) [6,23– 25], and algorithmic or cyclic [2,3,26] ADCs. Although SAR ADCs are easy to use, they require a digital-to-analog converter (DAC) in a column, whose area is unacceptably large for consumer electronics. Other commonly used ADCs in sensing applications are singleslope and  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADCs. Single-slope ADCs need  $2^N$  clock cycles for an N-bit conversion, requiring very fast clock signals leading to a high power consumption in high-speed imaging and sensing applications. Whereas in many sensing applications,  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADCs are typically avoided due to the complexity of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulators and the following decimation filters [3, 27]. Although algorithmic ADCs require a less silicon area than SAR ADCs [2, 28, 29], algorithmic ADCs typical implementations necessitate accurate amplifiers, resulting in a higher power consumption. Also, algorithmic ADCs have a comparable or faster operation speed than SAR ADCs [2, 15].

### 1.2 Motivation

The power consumption of an ADC has a significant effect on the overall power budget of a sensor acquisition system. Among the different ADC architectures in sensing applications, algorithmic ADCs are the preferred choice [2, 13, 28, 30]. Although algorithmic ADCs are, inherently, area efficient due to the fact that in a typical N-bit algorithmic ADC, the hardware is reused N times, once for each bit of resolution, they are relatively power inefficient, compared to that of other ADC architectures.

Algorithmic ADCs are based on the same operating principle as that of pipelined ADCs, which have greatly benefited from the interstage scaling [31]. The concept of interstage scaling stems from the fact that the noise, accuracy, and settling time requirements are relaxed as the signal travels to the later stages in the pipeline. Therefore, the operational transconductance amplifier (OTA) gain and capacitors can be scaled along the pipeline such that lower-power OTAs can be utilized. In addition to low-power OTAs, various other low power techniques have been developed to reduce the power consumption of pipelined ADCs. Among them, the switched-OTA, the OTA-shared, and capacitor-shared techniques exhibit the most promise. The switched-OTA [32, 33] takes advantage of the fact that each OTA is idle for one of the clock phases, and hence, can be switched off to conserve power. OTA-shared technique [34, 35] saves power by using the same OTA for two successive stages. Capacitor-shared technique in pipelined ADCs [36–38] depends on the fact that in near optimally scaled pipelined ADCs, the unit capacitors in each stage are scaled by the interstage gain, and the feedback capacitor of one stage is equal to the total input capacitance of the following stage. Consequently, the feedback capacitor of one stage can be reused as the input capacitor of the following stage, thereby reducing the OTA's capacitive load and its power requirements.

Due to the cyclic nature of algorithmic ADCs, many of these conventional low power techniques cannot be utilized in typical implementations of algorithmic ADCs. However, algorithmic ADCs still offer other advantages over pipelined counterparts, including as low area [39], ease of calibration [40], and capacitor mismatch insensitivity at the expense of multiple conversion cycles per bit [41, 42].

The objective of this thesis is to introduce some novel low power techniques for designing algorithmic ADCs. These techniques are verified by designing prototype ADCs.

### 1.3 Thesis Organization

The thesis comprises of five chapters. Chapter 2 is a review of some background material for ADCs in general, and algorithmic ADCs in particular. The algorithmic architecture, its implementation techniques, and sources of errors are explored, and the low power techniques of pipelined ADCs are discussed. The chapter is concluded with the examination of recent energy efficient techniques for algorithmic ADCs. Chapter 3 presents two proposed power efficient techniques for algorithmic ADCs. The proposed technique exploits the OTA-shared, the switched-OTA, the capacitor-shared, and the capacitor-scaled techniques to achieve a low-power data conversion. The details of two experimental ADCs are provided in Chapter 4. The design details for the circuits are described, along with the simulation and measurement results. In Chapter 5, conclusions are drawn and some future work is suggested.

## Chapter 2

# Background

### 2.1 Analog-to-Digital Conversion Overview

An ADC is a device that converts a continuous-time analog signal into a series of corresponding digital codes. Each code is a quantized version of the analog signal at the corresponding time instant.

There are two main types of ADCs: Nyquist-rate ADCs and over-sampled ADCs. The term, Nyquist-rate, is derived from the Nyquist theorem, which states that the sample rate must be greater than twice the bandwidth of the signal to preserve all the signal information. Usually, Nyquist-rate converters operate close to the Nyquist-rate, and rely on analog circuits for anti-aliasing and reconstruction filters. In addition, ADCs can be operated at much higher sampling rates than those determined by the Nyquist-rate, and increase the output's SNR by filtering out the quantization noise that is not in the signal bandwidth. These ADCs are called over-sampled ADCs.

Among the different ADC architectures, flash ADCs are known to be the fastest quantizers of an analog signal. However, for high resolutions, flash ADCs require a large number of comparators, thereby occupying a large chip area and consuming high power. A possible way to reduce the power consumption in an ADC is to split the conversion process into identical low resolution stages, working concurrently in a pipelined fashion. Each stage samples the analog signal, coarsely quantizes it, and transfers the residue (the unconverted part of the signal) to the next stage. Once the residue is sampled by the next stage, the sampling process is repeated. This pipelined approach increases the throughput and reduces the number of comparators at the cost of an increased latency. An alternative approach to the pipelined scheme is algorithmic conversion. In an algorithmic ADC, rather than transferring the residue to the next stage, the residue is fed back to the same stage. By performing the data conversion in algorithmic or cyclic fashion, the conversion speed is traded off with the die area [43].

In this chapter, the architectural details of algorithmic and pipelined ADCs are explored, and the sources of errors in algorithmic ADCs are discussed. The last part of the chapter focusses on the low power aspects of pipelined and algorithmic ADCs.

## 2.2 Architectural Details of Pipelined and Algorithmic ADCs

In this section, architectural details of pipelined and algorithmic ADCs are investigated. The implementation details of a generic stage, as well as the discussion of sources of errors are introduced.

#### 2.2.1 Pipelined ADCs

A typical pipelined ADC, consisting of I cascaded stages with each stage resolving M-bits, is depicted in Figure 2.1. The input of each stage is the output of the previous stage, except for the first stage for which the input signal is the analog input,  $V_{in}$ . In each stage, there is a sample-and-hold (S/H), sub-ADC, DAC, summing block and gain block. All the stages operate in the same fashion, except for the last stage which is simply a flash converter.

At each stage, the analog signal is first sampled and held. This sampled signal is converted to its digital equivalent by using the flash sub-ADC, and then it is converted back to an analog value by using a DAC. The analog signal from the DAC is subtracted from the original held input signal to generate the residue voltage. This voltage is amplified by  $2^{M}$  to generate an output voltage range equivalent to the input voltage range. This allows the use of same or similar hardware for each stage.

The residue voltage is sampled by the next stage in the next clock cycle, and the same operation is repeated. When the second stage samples the residue of the first stage, the



Figure 2.1: M-bit/stage pipelined ADC.

first stage is free to sample the analog input again. Consequently, a new analog sample can be taken at each clock cycle.

During each clock period, each pipelined stage resolves M-bits<sup>1</sup> that are digitally combined after I-cycles to generate an N-bit (=  $M \times I$ ) digital code. This process is described in Figure 2.2. Three stages are shown where the first two stages are the 1.5-bit/stage (described in Section 2.2.2.1) and the last stage is a 2-bit flash. The delay elements are represented as D. The output bits of stage 1 passes through the two delay elements, until the data bits are available from the remaining stages. Then, at the end, all these bits are combined in the manner as illustrated in Figure 2.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Assuming all stages resolve the same number of bits.



Figure 2.2: Digital alignment of pipelined output bits. Here D are the delay elements.

#### 2.2.2 Algorithmic ADCs

The operation of algorithmic ADCs is established on the same operating principle of pipelined ADCs. In pipelined ADCs, the residue is propagated to the next stage, whereas in algorithmic ADCs, the residue voltage is fed back to the same stage, by trading speed with die area.

The primary task of an algorithmic stage is to sample the signal from the previous cycle, generate the analog residue voltage for the next cycle, and produce the digital output bits. A generic algorithmic stage, resolving M-bits, is shown in Figure 2.3. The stage consists of an S/H, a sub-ADC, a DAC, a summing block, and a gain block.

In the first cycle,  $V_{S/H}(1) = V_{in}$ . The sampled signal is compared to the reference voltage to generate the most significant bit (MSB). The sub-DAC generates an analog estimate of the ADC output, and the DAC output is subtracted from the held signal to generate the analog residue voltage. A precise gain of  $2^M$  brings the residue signal swing back to the full-scale reference level. This residue voltage is propagated to the next cycle such that

$$V_{S/H}(K+1) = 2^M \cdot V_{S/H}(K) \pm V_{ref}$$
(2.1)

where K is the current evaluation phase. This process continues until all the bits are generated. In the next sampling cycle, the stage again samples the  $V_{in}$ , and the same conversion process occurs again.



Figure 2.3: Algorithmic ADC architecture.

For a 1-bit case, where M=1, the circuit operates in the following manner. The sampled signal,  $V_{in}$ , which ranges from  $-V_{ref}$  to  $V_{ref}$ , is quantized by the sub-ADC. The sub-ADC's output is then fed to the DAC to generate the analog estimate of the input signal. The estimate is then subtracted from the sampled signal to generate the internal residue voltage. The residue voltage is amplified by a gain of two such that the voltage is centered around zero. Then, this internal residue is sampled by the next cycle.

The resulting transfer characteristic of a 1-bit/stage is shown in Figure 2.4.  $b_K$  is the output bit, generated by the sub-ADC. The discontinuity at zero occurs when the comparator switches its decision from  $b_K = 0$  to  $b_K = 1$ .

To generate the transfer function, the output of the DAC is either  $-V_{ref}/2$  or  $+V_{ref}/2$ ,

corresponding to the input codes of 1 and 0, respectively. So, the output voltage becomes

$$V_{out} = 2V_{in} \pm V_{ref} \tag{2.2}$$

which is the key function performed by an algorithmic stage. This function is referred to as the residue. Since the residue range of the algorithmic stage is the same as that of its input range, due to the gain of two, the residue is sampled during the next cycle without any further processing.



Figure 2.4: Transfer characteristics of a 1-bit pipelined stage.

#### 2.2.2.1 Effects of offsets on the residue

Offsets in the comparators, which are in the sub-ADCs, shift the point, where the transition from one segment of the transfer function to the other segment occurs. Shifting the transition point can lead to missing codes.

Figure 2.5 demonstrates the residue of a 1-bit algorithmic stage with a comparator offset. The transition from one segment to the other segment occurs at a positive input voltage. As a result, the input to the next cycle is more than the value of  $V_{ref}$ . If the offset is large enough, it leads to missing codes in the ADC's output.

One way to get around the problem of comparator offsets is to use digital error correction. Most digital error correction techniques are based on the use of redundancy. One of the most popular digital error correction techniques is the 1.5-bit/stage structure [44] [31].



Figure 2.5: Transfer function of the 1-bit pipelined stage with an offset.

The flowchart of the redundant sign digit (RSD) algorithmic ADC is shown in Figure 2.6.

Figure 2.7(a) reflects the residue plot of the ideal 1.5-bit/stage. There are two transition points: at  $+V_{ref}/4$  and  $-V_{ref}/4$ . The input range is now divided into three segments. In the 1.5 bit/stage implementation, a digital set of {-1, 0, 1} corresponding to a set of digital codes of 00, 01 and 10, respectively, are used. Here -1 represents  $V_{in} < -V_{ref}/4$ , 0 represents  $-V_{ref}/4 \le V_{in} \le V_{ref}/4$ , and +1 represents  $V_{in} > V_{ref}/4$ .

An important property of the 1.5-bit/stage is that it can tolerate  $\pm V_{ref}/4$  comparator offsets. As a result, the errors caused by these comparator offsets can be corrected in the digital domain. The residue plots of the 1.5-bit/stage with comparator offsets of  $+V_{ref}/4$ and  $-V_{ref}/4$  are shown in Figure 2.7(b) and (c), respectively. In both cases, it is evident that, the residue voltages still fall within the desired output range of  $\pm V_{ref}$ . Provided the residue voltage remains within the input range of the following stage, the residue voltage can be successfully resolved by the following cycle.

#### 2.2.3 Switched capacitor realization of the algorithmic stage

There are many ways to implement an pipelined/algorithmic stage [45–47]. However, the switched-capacitor (SC) approach is currently the most popular technique for the implementation. SC circuits depends on the ratios of the capacitor and not on the absolute



Figure 2.6: Flow chart of an RSD algorithmic ADC.

values of these capacitors. Therefore, SC circuits are very well suited to use within the integrated circuits.

A typical implementation of an algorithmic ADC is shown in Figure 2.8. Here, the algorithmic ADC operates with a two-phase clock: a sample phase,  $\phi_s$ , and an evaluation phase,  $\phi_e$ . During the first sampling phase,  $\phi_{in}$  is active to sample V<sub>in</sub> on C<sub>s</sub>, while all the



Figure 2.7: Residue plot of the 1.5 bit/stage: (a) the ideal case with zero offset, (b) one extreme case with the offset of the lower comparator at  $-V_{ref}/2$ , and (c) the other extreme case with the offset of the lower comparator at 0.

other capacitors are reset. All the capacitors are equal in size, except  $C_e$ , which is twice the size of the others.





(b)

Figure 2.8: Single-ended SC implementation of the conventional two-stage algorithmic ADC: (a) Schematics and (b) Clocks.

The ADC consists of two stages: the first stage, consisting of  $C_s$ ,  $C_h$ , and  $A_1$ , is used as a sample-and-hold-amplifier (SHA) and the second stage, consisting of  $C_e$ ,  $C_f$ ,  $C_r$  and  $A_2$  is used to generate the residue. The SHA has two principal roles: sample the analog input,  $V_{in}$ , and sample the residue generated by the second stage, before transferring the sample back to the input of the second stage. During the first cycle,  $V_{in}$  is sampled on  $C_s$ . During  $\phi_e$ , A1 transfers the charge from  $C_s$  to  $C_h$  where the sample is held. The held signal is compared by the comparator to generate the MSB. Simultaneously, the held signal is sampled on  $C_e$ . The charge stored on  $C_e$  is given as

$$Q_{\phi_e} = \mathcal{C}_e \cdot V_{in} \tag{2.3}$$

Then, during  $\phi_s$ , the charge on  $C_e$  is injected into the OTA loop to generate  $2V_{in}$  at the output. At the same time, based on the comparator output,  $C_r$  is connected to  $\mp V_{ref}$  to generat the residue, expressed as

$$V_{out}(K+1) = \frac{C_e}{C_f} \cdot V_{out}(K) - b_K \cdot \frac{C_r}{C_f} V_{ref}$$
(2.4)

where  $V_{out}(K)$  is the residue generated in the  $K^{th}$  evaluation phase, and  $V_{out}(0) = V_{in}$ .  $b_K = \pm 1$  is the comparator output. Since  $C_e = 2C$  and  $C_f = C_r = C$ , (2.4) is written as,

$$V_{out}(K+1) = 2V_{out}(K) - b_K \cdot V_{ref}$$

$$\tag{2.5}$$

Therefore,

$$V_{out}(K+1) = \begin{cases} 2V_{out}(K) - V_{ref} & \text{if } V_{out}(K) > V_{ref}/4\\ 2V_{out}(K) & \text{if } -V_{ref}/4 \le V_{out}(K) \ge V_{ref}/4\\ 2V_{out}(K) + V_{ref} & \text{if } V_{out}(K) < -V_{ref}/4 \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

The SHA samples this residue voltage on  $C_s$  and holds it for the second stage to generate the next residue. This residue generation and sampling process continues until all the bits are generated. Then, the stage takes the next input sample and the conversion process starts again. Therefore, for a two-phase clocking scheme, an N-bit ADC requires 2N clock phases to perform an N-bit data conversion.

The effective number of bits, ENOB, of the 1.5-bit/stage architecture is calculated,

where the  $V_{LSB}$  is given as

$$V_{LSB} \cong \frac{V_{FS}}{3} \tag{2.7}$$

because there are three decision levels. The quantization noise is expressed as

$$\overline{v}_{qns} = \frac{V_{FS}}{3\sqrt{12}} \tag{2.8}$$

For a sinusoidal input signal, the SNR is calculated as [43]

$$SNR = 20 \log_{10} \left( \frac{V_{FS}}{2\sqrt{2}} \cdot \frac{3\sqrt{12}}{V_{FS}} \right) = 11.3 \text{ (dB)}$$
 (2.9)

Therefore, the ENOB is mathematically represented as

$$ENOB = \frac{SNR(dB) - 1.76}{6.02} = 1.58 \text{ (Bits)}$$
(2.10)

This is why the stage is called the 1.5-bit/stage.

The concept of the 1.5-bit/stage technique can be extended to higher resolutions per stage. For example, a 2.8-bit/stage resolves 2-bits of information from the input signal, whereas the extra 0.8-bit information is adopted to correct the comparator errors. In the 2.8 bit/stage the gain of the stage is four compared to the gain of two in an 1.5-bit/stage. This is carried out to restore the residue to full-scale. The residue plot of a 2.8-bit stage is shown in Figure 2.9.

The 2.8-bit/stage implementation can be extended to higher bits per stage by providing an interstage gain of  $2^M$ , where M is the stage resolution. Higher resolutions per stage means a lower total number of clock phases for a given ADC resolution.

In summary, the combination of SC techniques and the 1.5-bit/stage concept, provides an excellent approach to implement high-speed, high-resolution ADCs. The use of the 1.5-bit/stage implies that comparator offsets of  $\pm V_{ref}/4$  can be tolerated, leading to the possibility of very high-resolution ADCs. However, there are many other sources of errors in pipelined and algorithmic ADCs. These sources of errors are analyzed next.



Figure 2.9: Residue plot of the 2.8-bit/stage.

#### 2.2.4 Sources of errors in the pipelined/algorithmic stages

There are many error sources (other than comparator offsets) that have historically limited the performance of pipelined and algorithmic ADCs. These error sources are divided into two categories: noise, which varies from sample to sample, and systematic errors, which do not vary from sample to sample. The typical sources of errors in a pipelined/algorithmic stage are:

- Switching errors; caused by the non-idealities of the switches
- Matching errors; incurred from capacitor and device mismatches
- Gain errors; due to imperfect OTAs
- Noise; from switch resistances and OTAs

#### 2.2.4.1 Switching errors

In SC implementations, MOS transistors are used as switches. The requirement of these switches are that they do not introduce any offsets, meet settling time constraints, and have a low OFF state leakage. However, these switches, being imperfect, cause clockfeedthrough and charge-injection errors, and exhibit non-linear on-resistance. MOSFETs have capacitive coupling between the gate and the junctions. These capacitances couple the clock signal into the signal path. This phenomenon causes an error called, the clock feed-through error. The coupling is proportional to the size of the transistor, but this error is independent of the input signal. In a 0.18  $\mu$ m technology, an NMOS switch of size 5 $\mu$ m/0.18 $\mu$ m charging a 100 fF capacitor at 100 MHz, leads to a clock-feedthrough charge of about 5%. With technology scaling, this coupling generally decreases, and can be canceled by using a fully differential topology

Charge injection is another mechanism that distorts the signal. When an ON MOS transistor is turned OFF, the charges in the channel at that moment are pushed to the drain and source terminals. For the aforementioned NMOS switch, a 1V input signal causes an error voltage of approximately -30 mV. This negative injected charge is signal dependent. A number of techniques have been reported, including the use of transmission gates and dummy switches to deal with this problem [48].

Another signal dependant issue of the MOS switches is the non-linear on-resistance. A MOSFET's on-resistance depends on  $V_{gs}$ , where  $V_s$  varies with the input signal. For the previous switch previous and a signal ranging from 0 to 1 V, the on-resistance ranges between 100  $\Omega$  and 1.15 k $\Omega$ . This non-linear on-resistance leads to a signal dependant settling time. The nonlinearity of the switch resistance can be improved by the use of CMOS transmission gates. However, in high resolutions, the transmission gates do not give enough linearity, and another technique, called bootstrapping is commonly used [44, 49].

In summary, switches have numerous problems, and the design techniques discussed above have been developed to avoid the errors caused by them. Consequently, errors due to MOS switches do not lead to significant problems.

#### 2.2.4.2 Matching

Due to process variations, nominally identical components do not match in practical circuit realizations. Often, these component mismatches limit the attainable resolution of pipelined ADCs. For pipelined ADCs, implemented in CMOS processes, the most significant mismatches are capacitor mismatches and MOSFET mismatches.

The capacitor matching accuracy is usually limited by the lithography and subsequent processing steps. Modern CMOS processes offer Metal-Insulator-Metal (MIM) capacitors, which, if carefully designed in the layout, match to 0.01-0.1% accuracy [50]. However, capacitor mismatches decrease with increased capacitor size. The standard deviation of
the fractional matching error between two adjacent square capacitors is commonly modeled as [51]

$$\sigma_{\frac{\Delta C}{C}} = \frac{A_c}{\sqrt{W \cdot L}}$$

where W and L are the width and length of the capacitor. The value of  $A_c$  is a technology dependent parameter.

In SC pipelined/algorithmic ADCs, the capacitors are employed to set the gain of each stage. For the residue voltage,  $V_{out} = V_{in} \left(\frac{C_1+C_2}{C_1}\right)$ ,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are set nominally equal to obtain a gain of two. Assume  $C_1 = C \pm \Delta C$  and  $C_2 = C \mp \Delta C$ . Therefore, the residue voltage becomes

$$V_{out} = \left(\frac{C \pm \Delta C + C \mp \Delta C}{C \pm \Delta C}\right) V_{in}$$
$$= \left(\frac{2C}{C \pm \Delta C}\right) V_{in}$$
$$\cong 2 \left(1 \mp \frac{\Delta C}{C}\right) V_{in}$$
(2.11)

The impact of the errors caused by capacitor mismatch can be seen in Figure 2.10. Due to such a mismatch, there are discontinuities in the residue plot which give rise to missing codes.

For a full scale input,  $V_{out}$  must not deviate from the ideal value by more than a half LSB. However, for an N-bit ADC, the capacitor matching must be accurate to the number of bits remaining to be resolved or N-K+1 for a half LSB accuracy, such that

$$\frac{\Delta C}{C} < 2^{-(N-K+1)} \tag{2.12}$$

Consequently, a 10-bit part resolving the first bit must match to effectively 0.1% accuracy. In summary, for high-resolutions, tight capacitor matching must be achieved. Increasing the capacitor area increases the capacitor matching, however increasing the area is impractical in many cases. In this case, digital calibration is used [52–54].

#### 2.2.4.3 Gain errors

An OTA is the most important building block in SC implementations of pipelined ADCs. Since the DC gain of an OTA is finite, a gain error is introduced in the residue transfer



Figure 2.10: Residue plot showing the impact of the capacitor mismatch: (a) Residue plot of the first stage with capacitor mismatch and (b) Reconstructed output for the ramp input.

function, as shown in Figure 2.11, where t is the required settling time, and  $\tau$  is the time constant of the closed loop system.

The relationship between an OTA's DC gain and the ADC's resolution is derived here. If the open-loop DC gain of an OTA is  $A_v$ , then the closed-loop gain, G, of the OTA is given by solving

$$G = \frac{A_v}{1 + A_v \cdot \beta} \tag{2.13}$$

where  $\beta$  is the feedback factor. If M is the stage resolution, then  $\beta$  of an M-bit flip-around stage (explained in Section 2.3.2) is given as

$$\beta = \frac{1}{2^M} \tag{2.14}$$

If the OTA DC open-loop gain is infinite, then the ideal closed-loop gain should be  $1/\beta$ .



Figure 2.11: Settling time and gain error due to the imperfect OTA.

However, due to the finite  $A_v$ , the gain error is

$$\frac{G_{ideal} - G}{G_{ideal}} = \frac{1/\beta - A_v/(1 + A_v \cdot \beta)}{1/\beta} \\
= \frac{1}{1 + A_v \cdot \beta}$$
(2.15)

If  $A_v \cdot \beta \gg 1$ , then the gain error of the interstage amplifier is given as

$$\left|\frac{\Delta G}{G}\right| \approx \frac{1}{A_v \cdot \beta} \tag{2.16}$$

The impact of the errors caused by a low DC gain OTA is illustrated in Figure 2.12. Due to the gain errors, discontinuities in the residue plot result in missing codes.



Figure 2.12: Residue plot showing the impact of the gain errors: (a) Residue plot of the first stage with OTA's gain and (b) Reconstructed output for the ramp input.

A common requirement is that the error should be less than the maximum quantization error, that is, 0.5 LSB. Accordingly, for an N-bit algorithmic ADC currently resolving  $K^{th}$ -bit, the gain error is given as

$$\left|\frac{\Delta G}{G}\right| < \frac{1}{2^{(N-K+1)}}$$

$$A_v \cdot \beta > 2^{(N-K+1)} \tag{2.17}$$

Consequently, for a 12-bit algorithmic ADC resolving 1 bit in each cycle, the amplifier loop gain must be higher than 72 dB.

OTAs also have a finite bandwidth such that an OTA necessitates a finite amount of time to settle to the final value shown in Figure 2.11. The OTA's bandwidth is dictated by the settling accuracy requirements of the closed-loop system.

For a half LSB settling accuracy, the time constant,  $\tau$ , of a single pole OTA, is computed

by [55]

$$\tau < \frac{t}{(N-K+1)\cdot\ln 2} \tag{2.18}$$

The settling time of an N-bit algorithmic ADC, requiring N-clock phases, is given as

$$t = \frac{1}{N \cdot f_s} \tag{2.19}$$

where  $f_s$  is the sampling frequency. Hence, by combining (2.18) and (2.19), the OTA's closed-loop bandwidth is given as

$$f_{3dB} = f_T \cdot \beta > \left(\frac{N \cdot (N - K + 1) \cdot f_s \cdot \ln 2}{2\pi}\right)$$
(2.20)

Equation (2.20) shows that increasing the ADC's resolution, sampling frequency, and stage resolution increases the OTA's bandwidth requirements. For a  $f_s = 10$  MS/s conversion rate, the OTA's closed loop bandwidth of a N = 12-bit algorithmic ADC with the stage resolution of K = 1-bit must be higher than approximately 160 MHz.

#### 2.2.4.4 Noise

Error sources can be classified into two broad categories of noise and systematic errors. Noise varies from sample to sample, whereas systematic errors do not. This distinction has a significant impact. Systematic errors are commonly fixed with calibration, leaving only the noise as a limiting factor.

There are many kinds of noise, including shot noise, flicker noise, and thermal noise. Shot noise does not exist in typical MOS devices, but they can appear in deep sub-micron devices that exhibit significant gate leakage [56]. Flicker noise is reduced by increasing the sizes of the input transistors, and using PMOS transistors rather than NMOS transistors. However, thermal noise is a fundamental noise inside any conductor and is the dominant noise in sampled data systems.

In a SC circuit, the thermal noise of a switch is filtered by a single pole low-pass filter created by the resistance of the switch and the sampling capacitor. Therefore, the rms noise voltage sampled on the capacitor is given as [48]

$$\sqrt{\overline{e}_N^2} = \sqrt{\frac{kT}{C}} \tag{2.21}$$

where k is Boltzman's constant, T is the absolute temperature and C is the sampling capacitor size.

In algorithmic ADCs, the total input referred noise is proportional to the weighted sum of the reciprocals of the sampling capacitors. For an M-bit stage with equal sized sampling capacitors  $C_s$ , in each stage, the input referred noise is shown as [31]

$$\overline{v}_{n,in}^2 \propto \frac{kT}{C_s} \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{2^{2M}} + \frac{1}{2^{4M}} + \cdots \right]$$
 (2.22)

In the case of pipelined ADCs, having scaled sampling capacitors (i.e., they get smaller in successive stages), the noise increases in the later stages, leading to a higher input referred noise.

## 2.3 Low Power Techniques for Pipelined ADCs

In embedded pipelined ADCs, reducing the power consumption has been the major focus of recent research. Pipelined ADCs are a cascade of low resolution stages that include OTAs and comparators. At each stage, the majority of power is consumed in OTAs [57, 58]. Their power consumption is determined by the load capacitance they drive. Consequently, a designer can minimize the power dissipation by addressing the load capacitance of the OTAs, how the OTAs are used, and the design of the OTAs.

#### 2.3.1 Architectural level design

Historically, pipelined ADCs use I identical stages, where each stage resolves M = N/I bits. A straight forward approach is to employ 1-bit/stage [59]. However, as seen from (??), the noise contributions from the later stages are greatly reduced by the interstage gains of the preceding stages. By exploiting this fact, the later stages can be scaled down to save power, while minimally degrading the SNR [31]. By scaling the later stages, the power can be optimized, based on the number of bits converted in each stage.

The precision requirements of each stage depend on how many bits need to be resolved after that stage. Therefore, the precision requirements decrease along the pipeline. Consequently, the later stages can have reduced analog design complexity (lower OTA's gain and bandwidth and smaller capacitors). Therefore, scaling the capacitors and OTAs in later stages, as shown in Figure 2.13, leads to a low power and area efficient design.



Figure 2.13: Scaling of the pipelined stages by the scaling factor  $\gamma$ .

A relationship between the pipelined ADC power dissipation and interstage scaling has been reported in [31]. A more detailed analysis is described in Appendix Section A.2. In the analysis, a taper factor (x) is chosen to determine the optimal scaling factor between stages. The scaling factor is related to the taper factor (x) by

$$\gamma = 2^{-Mx} \tag{2.23}$$

where M is the stage resolution. The relationship between the taper factor and normalized power dissipation is plotted in Figure 2.14 for different values of M. From the plots, it is evident that the optimal scaling factor is approximately equal to the reciprocal of the interstage gain of the pipelined stage. As shown in Appendix Section A.2, for M=1, a power savings of 70% can be achieved by using the optimal scaling factor.

As portrayed in Figure 2.15, increasing the stage resolution, ideally, results in further power savings. Increasing the number of bits allows greater capacitor scaling in the later stages, resulting in a significant power savings. On the other hand, multi-bits/stage significantly increase the number of comparators and digital overhead required. Therefore, the optimum stage resolution is still an open matter for research.

Based on the previous discussion, pipelined ADCs, designed for low power, are designed with an interstage scaling equal to the interstage gain. Typically, the number of bits converted per stage is higher for higher resolutions and lower for lower resolutions ADCs.



Figure 2.14: Normalized power versus the scaling factor.

#### 2.3.2 Stage level design

At each stage, the dominant source of power dissipation is an OTA. It must be used efficiently, and the design of an OTA must be power efficient.

A traditional regular pipelined stage is implemented as shown in Figure 2.16(a). The load capacitance,  $C_L$ , consists of the sampling capacitor of the next stage and the parasitic capacitance loading the OTA. The stage works by sampling the input into  $2^M$  unit capacitors and moving the charge into a single unit capacitor for an overall gain of  $2^M$ . Note that, in an optimally scaled pipelined, the total input capacitance of the following stage is equal to the unit capacitance of the current stage.

An alternative approach for attaining the gain of  $2^M$  is the flip-around technique in Figure 2.16(b). Similar to traditional pipelined stages, the input signal is sampled on  $2^M$  unit capacitors. Then, to achieve the gain of  $2^M$ , the charge on  $2^M$ -1 unit capacitors is transferred to the remaining unit capacitor. Note that the sampling capacitor of the next stage is still equal to the unit capacitance. The benefit of this approach, to typical low



Figure 2.15: Normalized power versus the stage resolution. Here optimum taper factor of each stage resolution is used.

values of M (M=1, M=2), is a significant improvement in the feedback factor. For M=1, the feedback factor is increased from 1/3 to 1/2 in an ideal circuit. The improved feedback factor can be exploited to increase the speed or the power dissipation is reduced to maintain the desired speed. Consequently, for all pipelined ADCs, based on the 1-bit/stage, the fliparound architecture is the preferred choice.

The second approach to minimize the power within the stage is to utilize the OTA in a more efficient manner. Note that in typical implementations, during the sampling phase, the OTA is idle. This leads to the development of the switched-OTA (SO) technique [32,37], the OTA-shared technique [35,60], and the double-sampling (DS) technique [61,62].

For the switched-OTA technique in Figure 2.17, the OTAs are switched off during the sampling phase,  $\phi_1$ , thereby reducing the overall power consumption. Also, the switch at the output of the OTA is removed. A drawback of this approach is that an additional turn-on time is needed, when the OTA is switched back ON from the OFF state.

Another low power design technique is based on the principle of OTA sharing. Here, one OTA serves as the residue amplifier for two different stages during two different clock phases. Therefore, the number of total OTAs are reduced by half, saving both area and



Figure 2.16: Traditional regular and flip-around configuration pipelined stage: (a) traditional regular (TR) pipelined stage and (b) traditional flip-around (TFA) pipelined stage.



Figure 2.17: Switched-OTA (SO) technique.

power. Figure 2.18 indicates the OTA is shared between two time interleaved stages, whereas in Figure 2.19, the OTA is shared by the consecutive stages.

As mentioned that an OTA is used for only half of the clock cycles, hence, effectively, sampling rates can be doubled and the OTA is utilized in both the clock phases [63], as shown in Figure 2.20. Alternatively, the DS technique facilitates halving the clock frequency, thereby minimizing the power consumption. It is observed that during phase  $\phi_1$ ,  $C_{s_{odd}}$  samples the input signal. During  $\phi_2$ ,  $C_{s_{odd}}$  transfers its charge to  $C_{f_i}$ , and  $C_{s_{even}}$  samples the input, and so on. In other words, the output is updated during both phases such that the operation speed is twice as fast as that of the conventional single sampling stage.

In summary, since the dominant source of power consumption in an individual stage is the OTA, most of the techniques, discussed at the stage level, are used to decrease the number of OTAs by sharing them or to switch them OFF. In addition, the flip-around technique is employed for almost all the low resolution stages due to its power dissipation being lower than that of the regular gain technique.

#### 2.3.3 Circuit level design

Once the number of bits/stage, interstage gain and overall structure of the individual stages is determined, the circuits within the stage must be designed for low power. Within each stage, the key components are DACs, comparators, and OTA. The DAC is inherently



Figure 2.18: Concept of OTA-shared technique across two parallel channels.

low power, and dynamic comparators are commonly used due to their minimum power consumption. This leaves the OTA as the major source of power dissipation within each stage. Consequently, a number of researchers have focused on lowering the power of the OTAs in pipelined ADCs [64–67].

An OTA, in SC pipelined ADCs, has two tasks: to accurately transport the signal charge from one capacitor to another capacitor without leaking the signal charge to the parasitic capacitors and to act as a buffer such that the voltage on the capacitors can be sampled without affecting the charge on the capacitors. Historically, high gain wide bandwidth OTAs have been used to perform the two aforementioned tasks. These amplifiers are class-A and dissipate a significant amount of power. Recently researchers have looked at other amplifier architectures based on the class-B operation for low power. For example, comparators have been used as OTAs [64], and an even simpler approach is to employ a



Figure 2.19: Concept of OTA-shared technique between two cascaded stages.

zero crossing based detector [65]. By using wide bandwidth and low gain OTAs, significant power savings can be achieved and the resulting errors are corrected in the digital domain [66, 67]. This low power OTA design remains an area of active research interest.

In summary, the low power design techniques for pipelined ADCs are discussed. It is found that the low power techniques for pipelined ADCs can be efficiently used at the architectural, system, and circuit levels.

## 2.4 Overview of Recent Energy Efficient Techniques for Algorithmic ADCs

Due to the cyclic nature of algorithmic ADCs, many of these conventional low power techniques for pipelined ADCs cannot be utilized in typical implementations of algorithmic ADCs. However, a variety of ways of modifying the conventional algorithmic ADC to reduce the ADC's power consumption are reported in the literature [1, 13, 46, 55, 68–71]. Such techniques can be broadly classified into three categories:



Figure 2.20: Double sampling (DS) technique.

- flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique
- bias and clock phase scaling
- capacitor-shared technique

#### 2.4.1 Flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique

The most straightforward low power configurations utilize the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared techniques [13, 46, 59, 68]. The former technique reduces the load capacitance of the OTA and the latter technique cuts the number of OTAs to one. A single-ended flip-around configuration and OTA-shared SC algorithmic ADC is displayed in Figure 2.21. The ADC requires only two sets of capacitors {C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>2</sub>} and {C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>}, an OTA, and switches. During  $\phi_{in}$ , the input signal, V<sub>in</sub> is sampled on C<sub>1</sub> and C<sub>2</sub>. Then, during  $\phi_e$ , C<sub>1</sub> is connected to the DAC reference and C<sub>2</sub> is connected around the OTA to generate the residue. The residue is sampled by C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub>. To generate the next residue, the roles of



 $C_3$  and  $C_4$  are exchanged with  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , respectively, during  $\phi_o$ . This residue generating and sampling process continues for N-phases until all the N-bits are resolved.

Figure 2.21: Single-ended SC implementation of a flip-around configuration and OTA-shared algorithmic ADC.

The combination of the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared scheme significantly reduces the power consumption of algorithmic ADCs. As listed in Table 2.1, OTA-shared technique reduces the conversion time from 2N in the conventional case to N clock phases due to the lack of an explicit sample and hold phase. The flip-around configuration reduces the power consumption of conventional ones by 50% due to its improved feedback factor and reduced load capacitance. Due to their significant energy savings, the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique is used in almost all algorithmic ADCs.

#### 2.4.2 Bias and clock phase scaling

In an algorithmic ADC, the OTA is the most power hungry block. The power consumption of an OTA depends on its settling time requirements. During the residue evaluation phase,

| Technique                     | Normalized<br>Power $(P_N)$ | Conversion<br>Time $(T_c)$ | Energy $(E = P_N \times T_c)$ |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Conventional                  | 1                           | 1                          | 1                             |
| Flip-around                   | 0.5                         | 1                          | 0.5                           |
| OTA-shared                    | 1                           | 0.5                        | 0.5                           |
| Flip-around and<br>OTA-shared | 0.5                         | 0.5                        | 0.25                          |
| Phase scaling                 | 1                           | 0.5                        | 0.5                           |
| Scaling first 4 cycles        | 1                           | 0.75                       | 0.75                          |
| Bias current scaling          | 0.5                         | 1                          | 0.5                           |
| Scaling first 4 cycles        | 0.75                        | 1                          | 0.75                          |

Table 2.1: Comparing power and conversion time of the different techniques for an N-bit ADC.

the required settling time of an OTA is based on the number of unresolved bits after the current bit. Consequently, after each bit conversion, the OTA settling time requirements are relaxed and can be traded off for power savings [55, 69].

For a single pole OTA, from (2.18), the settling time requirement of the OTA is written as (N+1-K) = 1 - 2 - C

$$T_{set} = \frac{(N+1-K) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot C_L}{\beta \cdot g_m} \tag{2.24}$$

where K is the current bit being resolved beginning with the MSB. Therefore, during each bit conversion, the OTA's settling time requirements are relaxed by a factor of  $\frac{(N-K+1)}{(N-K)}$  as the K bits are resolved. Thus, this relaxation can be exploited by either scaling the clock phases or slowing down the OTA by reducing its bias current.

#### 2.4.2.1 Non-uniform clocking

In traditional implementations of algorithmic ADCs, the conversion time allotted to each bit is equal to the conversion time of the MSB, irrespective of the bit's weight. Equation (2.24) reveals that the settling time requirement decreases as more bits are resolved. For example, a 10-bit ADC theoretically requires 10,9,8...1 time units for each data conversion, compared to ten time units for each phase in the conventional scheme. Therefore, to exploit the relaxed settling requirements, a possible technique is to scale the clock phases according to the accuracy requirements of each conversion step [55]. As shown in Figure 2.22, after the MSB conversion, for a 10-bit ADC, the minimum settling time is reduced by 10% in each step. Therefore, the clock phases can be reduced by 10% for each successive step. Consequently, the conversion time can ideally be reduced by a factor of  $\frac{N+1}{2N}$  compared to that of uniform clocking. However, due to jitter and slewing considerations, only the first few clock phases of the ADC are scaled in practice [55], leading to a lower power savings than expected.

For a given sampling frequency, the reduced conversion time is traded for lower. As a result, a power reduction as high as 50%, is achieved by using non-uniform clocking. Unfortunately, to generate the non-uniform clock phases, a phase-locked-loop (PLL) or a delay-locked-loop (DLL) is required. This PLL or DLL increases the area and power consumption of the overall ADC.



Figure 2.22: Non-uniform clocking scheme of an N-bit algorithmic ADC.

#### 2.4.2.2 Dynamic biasing technique

Another way to exploit the reduced settling time requirements of an MDAC is to adaptively scale transconductance,  $g_m$ , of the input transistors by reducing the bias current in each successive cycle, decreasing the overall power consumption [69]. A possible implementation scheme for dynamic biasing, shown in Figure 2.23, consists of N mirrored transistors, where N is the ADC resolution. During each cycle, gate of one of the mirror NMOS is disconnected from the bias node and connected to the ground. Therefore, in each cycle, the bias current is scaled, reducing the excess power dissipation.



Figure 2.23: Dynamic current scaling scheme of an N-bit algorithmic ADC.

The step response of a single pole OTA is written as

$$V_{ofinal} = V_{in} \left( 1 - e^{-\frac{t}{\tau}} \right) \tag{2.25}$$

where  $V_{ofinal}$  is the final output,  $V_{in}$  is the input step, t is the settling time and  $\tau$  is the time constant. Also, the output current,  $i = C \frac{dV}{dt}$ , during linear settling, the OTA's output current is represented as

$$i_o(t) = C_L \cdot \frac{dV_o(t)}{dt} = \frac{C_L \cdot V_{ofinal}}{\tau} e^{-\frac{t}{\tau}}$$
(2.26)

Since the maximum current  $|i_o|_{\text{max}}$  flows at t=0,  $|i_o|_{\text{max}}$  is expressed as

$$|i_o|_{\max} = \frac{C_L \cdot V_{ofinal}}{\tau} \tag{2.27}$$

If  $|i_o|_{\text{max}} > I_{bias}$ , then slewing occurs and the slew rate, SR, is expressed by

$$SR = \frac{I_{bias}}{C_L} \tag{2.28}$$

Assuming the total settling time consists of slewing time and linear settling time, for  $I_{bias} < \frac{C_L \cdot V_{ofinal}}{\tau}$ , the OTA's settling time requirement increases by lowering the bias cur-

rent. Consequently, the bias current scaling is advantageous only if  $C_L$  can also be scaled for all the cycles.

#### 2.4.2.3 Summary

The aforementioned scaling techniques can be combined with the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique to reduce the overall power consumption as summarized in Table 2.2, where  $P_N$  is the average power consumed by an N-bit ADC,  $T_c$  is the time taken by an N-bit ADC to complete one data conversion and E is the energy consumed by the ADC.

| Technique              | Utilizing flip-around configura-<br>tion and OTA-shared |       |       |
|------------------------|---|-------|-------|
|                        | $P_N$   | $T_c$ | E     |
| Phase scaling          | 0.5   | 0.25  | 0.125 |
| Scaling first 4 cycles | 0.5   | 0.375 | 0.188 |
| Bias current scaling   | 0.25  | 0.5   | 0.125 |
| Scaling first 4 cycles | 0.375   | 0.5   | 0.188 |

Table 2.2: Combining flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with phase and bias current scaling for an N-bit ADC.

For the practical case of scaling only the first four cycles, non-uniform clocking reduces the conversion time by 75%, whereas the bias current scaling reduces the power consumption by 75%. Hence, both non-uniform scaling and the bias current yield the same improvement in energy efficiency, more than 80% of that of conventional implementation. However, phase scaling is more challenging to implement due to the need for a DLL or PLL, which increases the overall power consumption and design complexity.

#### 2.4.3 Capacitor-shared techniques

As already mentioned in Section 2.3.3, reducing the OTA's power consumption reduces the overall power consumption of the ADC. According to (2.24), for a given settling time,

$$g_m \propto C_L \tag{2.29}$$

In a well-designed circuit,  $g_m$  is proportional to the power consumption, and the power consumption is linearly proportional to the load capacitance. Hence, reducing the load capacitance reduces the ADC's power consumption.

One possible technique for load reduction is to utilize the capacitor-shared technique commonly used in pipelined ADCs [34,37,38]. The capacitor-shared technique is based on the observation that, when pipelined ADCs are scaled for minimum power, the capacitors in each stage are scaled by the interstage gain, and the feedback capacitor of one stage becomes equal to the total input capacitance of the following stage. As a result, the feedback capacitor of one stage can be reused as the input capacitor for the following stage to reduce the OTA's capacitive load, and further reduce the power requirements of pipelined ADCs.

Capacitor-shared technique can be applied to algorithmic ADCs by partitioning the sampling and feedback capacitors into two equal sized capacitors,  $C_{1a}$ ,  $C_{1b}$  and  $C_{2a}$ ,  $C_{2b}$ , evident in Figure2.24(a) [70]. During the sampling and generation of the first residue, the operation is identical to the algorithmic ADC, described in Figure 2.21. At this point, the residue is held by  $C_{2a}$  and  $C_{2b}$ . In the next phase,  $C_{2a}$  is connected to the DAC reference, while the other capacitor  $C_{2b}$  remains connected in the feedback. Figure 2.24(c) conveys that the residue is then sampled by the other set of capacitors,  $C_{1a}$ ,  $C_{1b}$ . In the following phase, the two sets of capacitors swap roles as depicted in Figure 2.24(d). Such techniques reduce the load capacitance by 50%, and the capacitor area by 50%, compared to that of the flip-around scheme. However, due to scaling of the capacitors, the input referred thermal noise increases. Therefore, the load capacitance must be increased by almost 1.5 times to compensate for the SNR degradation. Nevertheless, the power savings can be significant, and consequently, the concept of capacitor-shared technique can be implemented in a variety of different ways.

#### 2.4.3.1 2-cap-shared technique

A simple low-area low-power capacitor-shared technique has been presented [1]. As shown in Figure 2.25, for the single-ended case, this technique utilizes only two capacitors. During the evaluation phase, the feedback capacitor,  $C_2$ , is charged to the desired output voltage shown in Figure 2.25(a). However there is no explicit sampling capacitor for the next cycle. In order to perform the next conversion, an extra set of capacitors is needed. This is accomplished by arranging the MDAC as a SHA. Figure 2.25(b) demonstrates that the



Figure 2.24: Capacitor-shared technique: (a) sampling, (b)  $1^{st}$  evaluation phase, (c)  $2^{nd}$  evaluation phase, and (d)  $3^{rd}$  evaluation phase.

plates of  $C_1$  are disconnected from the DAC reference and the OTA's input, and connected to the OTA's output and OTA's input common mode, respectively. This technique reduces of the flip-around implementation by 50%, but requires an additional clock phase. Here, the load capacitance is reduced by 60% compared to that of the flip-around technique and 80%, compared to that of the conventional implementation. However, the required extra phase makes it 50% slower than the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared implementation. These results are summarized in Table 2.3.



Figure 2.25: 2-cap-shared technique: (a) 1<sup>st</sup> evaluation phase and (b) sampling capacitor charging phase.

Table 2.3: Combining flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with the capacitor-shared techniques for an N-bit ADC.

| Technique        | Utilizing flip-around configura-<br>tion and OTA-shared |       |       |
|------------------|---|-------|-------|
|                  | $P_N$   | $T_c$ | E     |
| Capacitor-shared | 0.375   | 0.5   | 0.188 |
| 2-cap shared     | 0.2   | 1     | 0.2   |

## 2.5 Figures-of-Merit for ADCs

In this section, low power limits of sampling-based ADCs are discussed. Also, different figures-of-merit (FOM) for ADCs are presented, along with the FOM comparison of pipelined and algorithmic ADCs.

#### 2.5.1 Low power limit of ADCs

Fundamentally, all ADCs must sample the analog signal, and the accuracy of the sampled signal must be enough to meet the SNR requirement. In practical circuits, the analog signal is sampled on the capacitor, along with the thermal noise. By increasing the capacitor size, the relative SNR is improved. Therefore, the sampling capacitor should be sized for the desired SNR. Then, the power required to charge the sampling capacitor at the required rate limits the minimum power dissipation. This minimum sampling power, as derived in (A-29), is determined as

$$P_s = 12kT \cdot f_s \cdot 2^{2N} \tag{2.30}$$

This equation states that the power consumption in an ADC is proportional to the resolution squared and the sampling frequency. Note that (2.30) is technology independent and sets the lower bound for any sampling-based ADC.

#### 2.5.2 ADCs' FOM

ADCs are designed for a wide range of sample rates and resolutions. Consequently, direct comparison of the power dissipation of various ADCs is difficult. As a result, a variety of different FOMs have been proposed.

The ideal FOM weighs the desirable and undesirable factors in such a manner that the tradeoff among different factors can be done in a relatively neutral fashion. For ADCs, the signal bandwidth (typically half the sampling frequency) and the resolution are desirable features, whereas the power dissipation is undesirable. One of the most popular FOM is attributed to Walden [72] and is defined as

$$FOM_1 = \frac{P}{\min(f_s, 2 \cdot ERBW) \cdot 2^{ENOB}}$$
(2.31)

where the nominal units are the pJ/conversion-step, ENOB is the effective number of bits,  $f_s$  is the conversion rate at which the ADC is running, and ERBW is the effective resolution bandwidth. The FOM<sub>1</sub> is a direct measure of the parameters depending what designers want and not want in an ADC.

In light of the fundamental power dissipation of ADC, derived in (2.30), FOM does not give weight to the SNR and power tradeoff. As a result, a thermal noise based FOM is commonly used such that

$$FOM_2 = \frac{P}{\min(f_s, 2 \cdot ERBW) \cdot 2^{2ENOB}}$$
(2.32)

where the nominal units are the pJ/conversion-step squared. However, this assumption is pessimistic for real designs, as not all building blocks of the ADC, such as comparators and digital clocks, are thermal noise limited.

#### 2.5.3 Recent progress in low power pipelined and algorithmic ADCs

Recently, researchers have attempted to reduce the power consumption of ADCs. Many researchers aimed at increasing the resolution and sampling rates of the ADCs. Figure 2.26 is a plot FOM of recently published pipelined and algorithmic ADCs and the year of publication. There is a trend towards energy efficient ADCs. This is also evident in the



Figure 2.26: FOM<sub>2</sub> versus year of publication for pipelined and algorithmic ADCs.

energy consumption, in terms of mW/MHz, which is plotted in relation to the ENOB in Figure 2.27.

#### 2.5.4 Comparison of the FOM of algorithmic and pipelined ADCs

As already mentioned at the beginning of this section that due to the cyclic nature of algorithmic ADCs, many of these conventional low power techniques for pipelined ADCs



Figure 2.27: mW/MHz versus the ENOB of published pipelined and algorithmic ADCs.

cannot be utilized in typical implementations of algorithmic ADCs. Consequently, when compared to pipelined ADCs, traditional algorithmic ADCs have lagged in terms of energy efficiency. Figure 2.28 illustrates the FOM<sub>1</sub> of recently reported algorithmic and pipelined ADCs. It can be seen that algorithmic ADCs' FOMs fall behind the pipelined ADCs' FOMs for any given year of publication.

## 2.6 Summary

This chapter focuses on the architectural details of algorithmic ADCs in general and their low power techniques in particular. There is a growing trend towards energy efficient ADCs, but compared to pipelined ADCs, algorithmic ADCs are lagging behind in energy efficiency. The fundamental reason behind is the cyclic nature of the algorithmic ADCs



Figure 2.28: Comparison of the FOMs of recently published algorithmic and pipelined ADCs.

and their inability to utilize interstage scaling. It is evident that there is enough room for improvements in the energy efficiency of algorithmic ADCs.

# Chapter 3

# Power Reduction In Algorithmic ADCs With The Capacitor-shared And The Capacitor-scaled Techniques

### 3.1 Overview

Algorithmic ADCs are an attractive choice for image sensing and capacitive sensing applications [1, 13]. There is a continuous demand for lower power algorithmic ADCs for these applications. This chapter describes the proposed low power capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled techniques for algorithmic ADCs, and the power estimates of the proposed techniques. Also, a thermal noise analysis and low power limits are shown for the techniques proposed in this thesis. They are based on a 3-cap-shared technique and a combined capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled technique.

# 3.2 Proposed 3-Cap-Shared Technique for Algorithmic ADCs

As already mentioned in Section 2.4.1, the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique is the most popular SC implementation scheme of an algorithmic ADC. In the proposed 3-cap-shared technique, a modification of the capacitor arrangements of the fliparound configuration is presented. This modification results in a considerable reduction of the OTA's load capacitance and the capacitors' area.

#### 3.2.1 Proposed approach

In the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared scheme, described in Sec.2.4, a total of four capacitors are required to perform the conversion: two capacitors to generate the residue and two to sample the residue, as shown in Figure 3.1. The arrangement of  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  generate the residue voltage, which is sampled on  $C_3$  and  $C_4$ . Also, the same residue voltage is held across the feedback capacitor,  $C_2$ . Therefore, three capacitors hold the residue voltage at the end of the evaluation phase.



Figure 3.1: Evaluation phase of the flip-around configuration and OTA shared stage.

Since only two capacitors are required to generate the residue, only two capacitors are needed to sample the signal from the previous cycle. As a result, one capacitor at the output can be removed without affecting the overall operation of the algorithmic ADC. By assuming  $C_4$  is removed, the next conversion is performed by keeping  $C_2$  connected to the feedback during the entire conversion process, whereas  $C_1$  and  $C_3$  swap roles during the alternate phases, as depicted in the Figure 3.2(b). This residue generation continues



Figure 3.2: 3-cap-shared technique: (a) 1<sup>st</sup> evaluation phase and (b) 2<sup>nd</sup> evaluation phase.

for N-phases to generate N-bits. The 3-cap-shared arrangement reduces the load capacitance from 2.5C to 1.5C (40%) compared to the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique.

#### 3.2.2 Improved 3-cap-shared approach

The explicit load capacitance,  $C_3$  or  $C_1$ , contributes about two-thirds to the overall load capacitance (Figure 3.2). A further load reduction can be achieved by arranging the capacitors such that  $C_3$  is removed and  $C_2$  is divided into two equal sized capacitors  $C_{2a}, C_{2b}$ , providing the two capacitors necessary for the next residue generation. Also,  $C_1$  is divided equally into  $C_{1a}, C_{1b}$ . The first residue evaluation phase is shown in Figure 3.3(a). To evaluate the next residue,  $C_{2a}$  is connected to the DAC reference, whereas  $C_{2b}$  is kept connected in the feedback. As already mentioned, two capacitors are required for sampling the signal for the next cycle. Therefore,  $C_{1a}$  can be used as the required capacitor as shown in Figure 3.3(b). During the remaining evaluation phases,  $C_{1a}$  and  $C_{2a}$  swap roles, whereas  $C_{2b}$  remains connected in the feedback. This process continues until all the bits are generated. Note that after the first evaluation phase,  $C_{1b}$  is disconnected from the sum node and is not used in later cycles.

This capacitor-shared scheme reduces the load capacitance considerably: from 2.5C for the flip-around configuration case to 0.75C for the improved 3-cap-shared case. Since scaling increases the input referred thermal noise, the load capacitance must be increased by 1.25 times in order to compensate for the degraded SNR. Consequently, a power savings



Figure 3.3: Improved 3-cap-shared technique: (a)  $1^{st}$  evaluation phase and (b)  $2^{nd}$  evaluation phase.

of more than 60% can be achieved, compared to that of the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique for the same SNR.

#### 3.2.3 Power estimates

To estimate the power savings, it is assumed that OTA's power is proportional to the load capacitance (see (2.18)). Hence, the load capacitance reduction translates directly to the overall power reduction. These capacitor sharing techniques inherently utilize the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique. The energy efficiencies of these schemes are listed in Table 3.1 (an extended version of Table 2.3). It is obvious that the improved 3-cap-shared techniques can achieve more than an 85% power reduction compared to that of the conventional scheme.

#### 3.2.4 Summary

A low power technique is proposed that improves the existing low power capacitor-shared technique. The proposed technique utilizes the capacitor-shared technique. In the existing techniques, the capacitor are shared for only the first cycle, whereas in the proposed technique, the capacitor sharing is extended to the next cycle reducing the overall power consumption. The main benefits of this approach are a low power, low area, and ease of design.

Table 3.1: Combining flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with capacitor-shared techniques for an N-bit ADC.

| Technique             | Utilizing flip-around configura-<br>tion and OTA-shared |       |       |
|-----------------------|---|-------|-------|
|                       | $P_N$   | $T_c$ | E     |
| Capacitor-shared      | 0.375   | 0.5   | 0.188 |
| 2-cap-shared          | 0.2   | 1     | 0.2   |
| 3-cap-shared          | 0.3   | 0.5   | 0.15  |
| Improved 3-cap-shared | 0.18  | 0.5   | 0.135 |

# 3.3 Proposed Capacitor-Shared and Capacitor-Scaled Technique

As mentioned earlier in Section 2.3.1, one of the main power saving advantages of pipelined ADCs, over those of algorithmic ADCs, their ability to exploit the interstage capacitor scaling. Such scaling is due to the fact that the noise contributions from the later stages are reduced by the factor of the product of the interstage gains of the preceding stages, as given in (??) and is repeated here,

$$\overline{v}_{n,in}^2 \propto kT \left[ \frac{1}{C_{s1}} + \frac{1}{2^{2M}C_{s2}} + \frac{1}{2^{4M}C_{s3}} + \cdots \right]$$
 (3.1)

where  $C_{sI}$  is the sampling capacitor of the I<sup>th</sup> stage and 2<sup>M</sup> is the interstage gain. Therefore, in an optimal design, the capacitors at each stage is scaled down by the interstage gain [31].

Due to the cyclic nature of algorithmic ADCs, inter-cycle scaling is not possible for typical implementations of algorithmic ADCs. Furthermore, due to their inability to use inter-cycle scaling, algorithmic ADCs are unable to exploit the additional power saving advantages of the capacitor-shared technique, discussed in Section 2.4.3.

In the capacitor-shared technique, the first and second evaluation phases are repeated, as shown in Figure 3.4.It is evident that the OTA's load capacitance during the 1<sup>st</sup> evaluation phase is 0.5C, whereas during 2<sup>nd</sup> evaluation phase it is 1.25C. Consequently, the OTA is designed to drive the larger load capacitance of 1.25C, thereby wasting the OTA's power in the first evaluation phase. Therefore, to exploit the maximum advantage of capacitor-shared scheme, a technique utilizing the capacitor-scaled technique is proposed to significantly reduce the power consumption of the algorithmic ADCs.

In the capacitor-shared scheme discussed above, the load capacitance is reduced only for the first evaluation cycle. To extend the capacitor-shared technique to the later cycles, rather than dividing the capacitors into two equal sized capacitors, the sampling capacitors are divided into unit capacitors,  $C_u$ , where each  $C_u = C_s/2^N$ , as depicted in Figure 3.5. Here,  $C_s$  is the total sampling capacitor size, and N is the ADC resolution.

For example, a 4-bit example in Figure 3.6(a), conveys that the sampling capacitor is divided into eight equal sized unit capacitors. Initially, all the unit capacitors sample  $V_{in}$ , and the comparators determine the first bit. To evaluate the first residue, four of the unit capacitors are connected in feedback, and the remaining four capacitors are connected



Figure 3.4: Capacitor-shared scheme: (a)  $1^{st}$  evaluation phase and (b)  $2^{nd}$  evaluation phase.



Figure 3.5: Conceptual capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADC.

to the appropriate reference voltage,  $V_{DAC}$ , as shown in Figure 3.6(b). The feedback capacitors now hold the next cycle's input signal. Since the capacitors, connected to  $V_{DAC}$ , are no longer required, they are disconnected from the OTA's sum node (dotted-line). Then, to evaluate the next residue, two of the feedback capacitors are connected to the appropriate DAC levels, and the other capacitors remain connected to the feedback as signified in Figure 3.6(c). The feedback capacitor is further subdivided for each successive bit conversion. Figure 3.6(d) depicts the last evaluation phase.



Figure 3.6: Capacitor-scaled scheme. The disconnected capacitors are shown in dotted lines: (a) sampling, (b)  $1^{st}$  evaluation phase, (c)  $2^{nd}$  evaluation phase, and (d)  $3^{rd}$  evaluation phase.

#### 3.3.1 Practical considerations

In the proposed capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled scheme, the load capacitance is reduced by 50% in each successive cycle. However, the OTA is designed for the larger load capacitance of the first evaluation phase. As shown in (2.29), to meet the settling time requirements,  $g_m$  must be scaled such that

$$g_m \propto C_{L,K} \tag{3.2}$$

where  $C_{L,K}$  is the load capacitance during the  $K^{th}$  evaluation phase. Therefore,  $g_m$  is reduced by the same factor as the capacitors, to save power.

#### 3.3.2 Bias current scaling

To reduce the OTA's power as the capacitive load is reduced, one technique might be to scale the OTA's bias current with the capacitive load [69]. Unfortunately, scaling the capacitive load without scaling the OTA's input and output parasitic capacitances,  $C_{pi}$  and  $C_{po}$ , degrades the feedback factor and reduces the circuit's bandwidth [73]. Referring to Figure 3.7, the closed-loop bandwidth, which is the product of the feedback factor,  $\beta$ , and the unity-gain-bandwidth,  $f_{\rm T}$ , of the OTA is given by

$$f_{3dB} = \beta \cdot f_{T} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{C_{u}}{2C_{u} + C_{pi}} \cdot \frac{g_{m}}{C_{L}}$$
(3.3)

where  $g_m$  is the transconductance of the OTA and the load capacitance is expressed as

$$C_{L} = C_{po} + \frac{C_{u} (C_{u} + C_{pi})}{2C_{u} + C_{pi}}$$
(3.4)

Therefore, by rearranging (3.3), the bandwidth becomes

$$f_{\rm 3dB} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{g_{\rm m}}{2C_{\rm po} + C_{\rm pi} + C_{\rm u} + \frac{C_{\rm pi}C_{\rm po}}{C_{\rm u}}}$$
(3.5)

In order to maximize the closed-loop bandwidth, (3.5) is differentiated with respect to  $C_u$ , and equated to zero to obtain the optimum unit capacitance value,

$$C_u^* = \sqrt{C_{pi} \cdot C_{po}} \tag{3.6}$$

Therefore, the maximum bandwidth for the fixed  $C_{pi}$  and  $C_{po}$  is,

$$f_{\rm 3dB}^* = \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{g_{\rm m}}{2C_{\rm po} + C_{\rm pi} + 2\sqrt{C_{\rm pi}C_{\rm po}}}$$
(3.7)

This is the maximum bandwidth of a closed loop system for a fixed OTA size.

As portrayed in Figure 3.8, if the OTA is initially designed to operate at point A for the maximum speed, reducing the number of unit capacitors by 50%, reduces the bandwidth, primarily due to the degradation of the feedback factor.

During each cycle of data conversion, the OTA's settling time requirements are relaxed by a factor of  $\frac{(N-K+1)}{(N-K)}$  as each bit is resolved (see (2.24)). Figure 3.9 compares the OTA's settling time requirements and the OTA's bandwidth, when the capacitors are scaled by 50% in each cycle. It is evident that while the OTA's settling requirements are reduced by a factor of (N-K+1)/(N-K), due to the reduced resolution requirements of the next cycle, the OTA's bandwidth reduces at a much faster rate after the first few cycles. Therefore, somewhat surprisingly, the OTA's bias must be increased for the later cycles to meet the settling time requirements. Consequently, scaling the OTA's bias current does not yield



Figure 3.7: Evaluation phase of the U-MDAC stage.



Figure 3.8: Bandwidth versus capacitive load for a cascode OTA in a 130-nm CMOS process with  $I_{bias}=7.5 \ \mu\text{A}$  (solid-line) and  $I_{bias}=8.5 \ \mu\text{A}$  (dashed-line).


Figure 3.9: OTA's bandwidth normalized to the maximum bandwidth for N=10 versus unit capacitor size normalized to the optimum unit capacitance.

the expected power savings, when the OTA's fixed parasitic capacitors are considered.

### 3.3.3 Proposed approach: OTA's scaling

A better approach is to design the OTA as a number of unit-OTAs. Since the load capacitors are reduced by half during each cycle, half of the unit-OTAs are powered down and disconnected from the circuit to scale the parasitic capacitances with the load. Also, the unit-OTAs remain optimally biased. To realize the potential power savings, the circuit in Figure 3.6 is redesigned in Figure 3.10, by using a unit-multiplying digital-to-analog converter (U-MDAC) approach. Each U-MDAC consists of a unit-OTA, and its associated pair of unit capacitances.

If the OTA of Figure 3.5 has transistors widths of W, a bias current of  $I_b$  and a capacitor area of C, when the OTA is split into M unit-OTAs, each component (including the compensation and common-mode-feedback capacitors) of the OTA is scaled by the 1/M. Hence, each unit-OTA will have transistors width as W/M, a bias current of  $I_b/M$ , and capacitor area of C/M. Consequently, each unit-OTA exhibits the same gain and bandwidth as the original OTA, while consuming 1/M of the power and displaying an input referred noise that is  $\sqrt{M}$  larger than that of the original OTA. Therefore, for some added wiring and layout complexity, M unit-OTAs in parallel will have the same component area, power dissipation, and input referred noise as the original OTA. Also, multiple unit-OTAs in parallel are commonly used in analog filters and mismatches among the unit-OTAs have not led to a notable degradation in the OTAs' performance [74].

To illustrate the operation, a 4-bit algorithmic ADC based on four U-MDACs and eight unit capacitors is used as an example. To perform a conversion, all eight unit capacitors first sample the input. Then, to evaluate the first residue, half of the unit capacitors are placed in the feedback, and the others are connected to the appropriate  $V_{REF}$  as shown in Figure 3.11(a). Once the residue is generated, the capacitors connected to the reference are disconnected from the sum node, in a manner similar to that used in Figure 3.6. To generate the second residue, half of the unit-OTAs are powered down and disconnected from the sum node (OTAs shown in dotted lines), and their associated feedback capacitors are connected to the appropriate  $V_{REF}$  as shown in Figure 3.11(b). For the last evaluation phase, the same procedure is repeated as shown in Figure 3.11(c). This capacitor-shared technique and OTA powering down procedure is repeated for each bit of resolution. By using this approach, the OTAs remain optimally biased (point A in Figure 3.8), and the power is reduced by 50% in each cycle.



Figure 3.10: U-MDAC approach.



Figure 3.11: U-MDAC phases (the powered down OTA and disconnected wires are represented by the dotted lines): (a)  $1^{st}$  evaluation phase, (b)  $2^{nd}$  evaluation phase, and (c)  $3^{rd}$  evaluation phase.

#### 3.3.3.1 Combined U-MDAC and the 3-caps-shared approach

In a given technology, there is a minimum size for each capacitor,  $C_{min}$ . Therefore, a pragmatic approach is to scale the capacitors for the first few cycles. After the cycles, when scaling is incorporated, a single U-MDAC can be used to generate the remaining bits. Because the first few cycles consume the most power, scaling the power, even only in the first few cycles, reduces the power consumption of the ADC substantially. An improvement is possible in the existing energy efficient U-MDAC-based design approach, by splitting the original ADC into two stages: a capacitor-scaled and capacitor-shared stage, and a 3-cap shared stage. Each stage generates N/2 bits in N/2 cycles, resulting in twice the sampling speed and a lower overall power consumption with a minimal increase in the die area.

These capacitor-scaled approaches inherently utilize the flip-around, OTA-shared and capacitor-shared techniques as shown in Table 3.2. It is evident that the combined U-MDAC and 3-cap-shared technique achieves more than a 90% power reduction from that of the conventional scheme.

| Technique             | Utilizing flip-around configura-<br>tion and OTA-shared |       |       |
|-----------------------|---|-------|-------|
|                       | $P_N$   | $T_c$ | E     |
| U-MDAC                | 0.15  | 0.5   | 0.075 |
| Scaling 4 cycles      | 0.188   | 0.5   | 0.094 |
| U-MDAC + 3-cap-shared | 0.175   | 0.5   | 0.088 |

Table 3.2: Combining the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique with the capacitor-scaled techniques for a 10-bit ADC.

# 3.3.4 Combining the proposed techniques with phase/bias scaling techniques

Since load reduction techniques are independent of the phase and bias current scaling techniques, phase and bias current scaling can be incorporated into the load reduction techniques to further enhance their energy efficiencies as listed in Table 3.3, for ideal scaling. By incorporating the phase scaling, the conversion time is reduced to 50%, compared to that of the OTA-shared scheme. Bias current scaling reduces the power consumption to 50% ideally. Table 3.3, which summarizes the results from Tables 3.1 and 3.2, illustrates that bias and non-uniform clocking achieve the same energy efficiencies (the last column of Table 3.3). Due to the added complexity of generating non-uniform clocks, the bias scaling appears to be the preferred solution for power savings. While the table illustrates the ideal scaling case, practical circuits, typically scale only for the first few cycles. In the case where scaling is applied for the first four cycles, the power consumption is increased by approximately 50%, compared to that of the ideal case.

From Table 3.3, it is seen that combining the different techniques leads to very energy efficient solutions. The U-MDAC approach, combined with a 3-cap-shared stage and bias/phase scaling, improves the energy efficiency of an algorithmic ADC by more than 90%, compared to the conventional implementation, and more than 70%, when compared to using the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared scheme.

|                       | Utilizing flip-around configuration and OTA-shared |       |              |       |       |
|-----------------------|--|-------|--------------|-------|-------|
| Technique             | Phase scaling                                      |       | Bias scaling |       |       |
|                       | $P_N$  | $T_c$ | $P_N$        | $T_c$ | E     |
| Capacitor-shared      | 0.25   | 0.25  | 0.125        | 0.5   | 0.094 |
| 2-cap-shared          | 0.2  | 0.5   | 0.1          | 1     | 0.15  |
| 3-cap-shared          | 0.3  | 0.25  | 0.15         | 0.5   | 0.075 |
| Improved 3-cap-shared | 0.18   | 0.25  | 0.09         | 0.5   | 0.067 |
| U-MDAC                | 0.15   | 0.25  | 0.075        | 0.5   | 0.056 |
| Scaling 4 cycles      | 0.188  | 0.25  | 0.094        | 0.5   | 0.07  |
| U-MDAC+3-cap-shared   | 0.175  | 0.25  | 0.088        | 0.5   | 0.066 |

Table 3.3: Comparing energy efficiencies of the different implementation techniques of a 10-bit algorithmic ADC when combined with phase/bias scaling techniques.

# 3.3.5 Estimated power savings in the presence of parasitic capacitance

To estimate the power consumption of the different algorithmic ADC configurations, it is assumed that the power dissipation of an ADC is dominated by the power consumption of the OTA. For a single pole OTA, its power consumption is proportional to its load capacitance and bandwidth. Also, by assuming the OTA is working at its optimal point,  $C_{pi}$  and  $C_{po}$  match the feedback capacitor, C, (see (3.6)). Table 3.4 presents the load capacitance of the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique, capacitor-shared technique, 3-cap-shared technique, and the U-MDAC technique in Figure 3.12.

In the U-MDAC approach, both the capacitors and parasitic capacitors are scaled when the unused OTAs are powered down. For a 12-bit ADC utilizing full scaling, the average load capacitance is given as

$$C_{L,avg} = \frac{C_{L1}}{12} \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \dots + \frac{1}{2^{11}} \right] = \frac{1.99}{12} C_{L1}$$
(3.8)

when  $C_{L1} = 1.67C$  is the OTA's load capacitance during the first evaluation phase as shown in Figure 3.12(d), then

$$C_{L,avg} = 0.28C \tag{3.9}$$

It is well known that scaling the capacitors increases the input referred noise. Therefore,



Figure 3.12: Load capacitance of different techniques: (a) flip-around and OTA-shared, (b) 3-cap-shared, (c) Improved 3-cap-shared, and (d) U-MDAC's during the  $K^{th}$  evaluation phase.

the sampling capacitor size must be increased by approximately 1.5 times to compensate for the increased noise. This increase in the load capacitance is incorporated into the total load capacitance making it 0.42C (c.f., (3.9)).

The power savings, with respect to the conventional algorithmic implementation and the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared scheme, is also reported in the table. It is evident that the proposed U-MDAC approach is highly power efficient, compared to other capacitor-shared configurations.

### 3.3.6 Summary

A low power technique utilizing both a capacitor-shared technique and a capacitor-scaled technique is proposed. The proposed technique splits the OTA into multiple unit-OTAs

| Circuit Configuration    | $C_L$ | % power reduction  | % power reduction     |
|--------------------------|-------|--------------------|-----------------------|
|                          |       | w.r.t conventional | w.r.t the flip-around |
|                          |       | implementation     | configuration and     |
|                          |       |                    | OTA-shared            |
| Flip-around & OTA-shared | 3.67C | 75                 | -                     |
| 3-cap-shared             | 2.67C | 82                 | 27                    |
| Improved 3-cap-shared    | 1.66C | 89                 | 55                    |
| U-MDAC                   | 0.42C | 97                 | 89                    |

Table 3.4: Power estimates in the presence of parasitic capacitance.

operating in parallel. This technique reduces the power consumption of a conventional algorithmic ADC implementation by more than 95%.

### 3.4 Thermal Noise Analysis

In an SC algorithmic ADC, thermal noise is a vital design parameter. It is required that the thermal noise is equal or preferably lower than the quantization noise level. In an algorithmic ADC, noise from the MDAC dominates, and that noise is generated by two sources: switches and an OTA. In this section, a simplified analysis of thermal noise is presented for a capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADC.

During the sampling phase, the sampling capacitor,  $C_s$ , samples not only the input signal but also the noise. By assuming the two capacitor of the value  $C_s/2$ , sample the noise, and the mean square noise is represented as as

$$\overline{v}_{n,s}^2 = \frac{kT}{C_s} \tag{3.10}$$

The circuit configuration during the evaluation phase is drawn in Figure 3.13. By assuming that a single stage OTA is used, the settling time of the MDAC is determined by the OTA's bandwidth. It means that the switches on-resistance,  $R_{on}$ , is much smaller than  $1/g_m$ , where  $g_m$  is the OTA's transconductance. Therefore, the circuit's noise bandwidth is determined by the OTA's closed loop bandwidth.



Figure 3.13: Noise analysis of the MDAC during the evaluation phase.

Assume the input and output parasitic capacitance is equal to the feedback capacitor, that is,

$$C_{pi} = C_{po} = \frac{C_s}{2} \tag{3.11}$$

for the first evaluation phase. Therefore, the load capacitance,  $C_L$  and feedback factor,  $\beta$ , becomes

$$C_L = \frac{5C_s}{6} \tag{3.12}$$

and

$$\beta = \frac{1}{3} \tag{3.13}$$

Also, the time constant,  $\tau$ , is given as

$$\tau = \frac{C_L}{\beta \cdot g_m} \tag{3.14}$$

For the above circuit, noise from the switches and the OTA contribute to the overall noise. Since all the noise sources are independent of each other, superposition can be used to calculate their contributions to the output noise. The mean square noise is calculated by [48]

$$\overline{v}_{n,o}^2 = \int_o^\infty S_{n,i}(f) \cdot |H(f)|^2 df$$
(3.15)

or is simplified to

$$\overline{v}_{n,o}^2 = S_{n,i}(f) \cdot |H(0)|^2 \cdot BW_{noise}$$
(3.16)

where  $S_{n,i}(f)$  is the power spectral density (PSD) of the noise source, |H(0)| is the noise gain from the noise source to the output at DC, and  $BW_{noise}$  is the equivalent noise bandwidth.

The PSD of switches computed by using

$$S_{n,R1}(f) = S_{n,R1}(f) = 4kTR_{on}[V^2/Hz]$$
(3.17)

and the PSD of the OTA is given as [48]

$$S_{n,OTA}(f) = \frac{16kT}{3g_m} [V^2/Hz]$$
(3.18)

The noise gain of different noise sources to the output at DC is given as

$$|H_{R1}(0)| = \left| -\frac{C_s}{C_s} \right| = 1$$
 (3.19)

$$H_{R2}(0)| = 1 \tag{3.20}$$

$$|H_{OTA}(0)| = \left|\frac{3C_s}{C_s}\right| = 3 = \frac{1}{\beta}$$
(3.21)

As already mentioned,  $R_{on} \ll 1/g_m$ , hence the equivalent noise bandwidth is given as

$$BW_{noise} = \frac{1}{4\tau} = \frac{\beta \cdot g_m}{4C_L} \tag{3.22}$$

Therefore, the total noise at the output at the end of the first evaluation phase is

$$\overline{v}_{no,1}^2 = 2 \cdot \left(4kTR_{on} \cdot \frac{\beta \cdot g_m}{4C_L}\right) + \frac{16kT}{3g_m} \cdot \frac{1}{\beta^2} \cdot \frac{\beta \cdot g_m}{4C_L}$$
(3.23)

Since  $R_{on} \cdot g_m \ll 1$ , the noise due to the switches can be neglected. Therefore, the total output noise becomes

$$\overline{v}_{no,1}^2 \approx \frac{24}{5} \cdot \frac{kT}{C_s} \tag{3.24}$$

where  $C_L = 5C_s/6$ . In the next evaluation phase, all the capacitors are scaled by a factor of two, including the parasitic capacitance. This arrangement will keep  $\beta$  constant. Moreover, the OTA, designed as a number of unit-OTAs, are scaled by half, reducing the overall  $g_m$ by a factor of two. Scaling  $g_m$  with the scaled capacitors with the same ratio keeps the noise bandwidth constant (see (3.22)). There are two noise contributors to the output,  $\overline{v}_{no.2}^2$ : noise from the previous cycle, and noise from the OTA.

Since the stage's time constant is much smaller than the settling time of the stage, the charge from the previous cycle disappears at the end of this evaluation phase. Therefore, only the OTA's noise will contribute to the overall noise. The OTA's noise doubles in every cycle, because of the reduction in the  $g_m$  without the reduction in the noise bandwidth of the circuit. As a result, noise power at the end of second evaluation phase is

$$\overline{v}_{no,2}^2 \approx \frac{48}{5} \cdot \frac{kT}{C_s} \tag{3.25}$$

The noise increases in each cycle during the whole conversion process and can be written

as

$$\overline{v}_{no,K}^2 \approx 2^{(K-1)} \cdot \frac{12}{5} \cdot \frac{kT}{C_s}$$
(3.26)

where K is the current evaluation phase.

Therefore, the total noise contribution through the whole conversion is determined by summing the input referred noise of each cycle and is given as

$$\overline{v}_{n,in}^{2} = \frac{kT}{C_{s}} + \frac{24}{5} \cdot \frac{kT}{C_{s}} \left[ \frac{1}{2^{2}} + \frac{1}{4^{2}} \cdot 2 + \frac{1}{8^{2}} \cdot 4 + \dots + \frac{1}{(2K)^{2}} \cdot 2^{(K-1)} \right]$$

$$= \frac{17}{5} \cdot \frac{kT}{C_{s}}$$

$$\approx 3.5 \cdot \frac{kT}{C_{s}}$$

$$= n_{f} \cdot \frac{kT}{C_{s}}$$
(3.27)

where  $n_f$  is the noise factor. The value of  $n_f$  depends on the capacitor scaling ratio, circuit configurations, and the OTA's topology. This is the total integrated noise at the input of capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADC.

# 3.5 Low Power Limit of OTA-Based Capacitor-Shared and Capacitor-Scaled Algorithmic ADC

In this section, a low power limit of OTA-based capacitor shared and capacitor scaled algorithmic ADC is presented. The low power limit is set by the settling time constraints of the OTA. The settling time requirements depend on the load capacitance, and the load capacitance is proportional to the sampling capacitor sizes. The size of the sampling capacitors is dictated by the accuracy requirements of the ADC. The goal of this exercise is to develop a relationship between the power dissipation and the resolution of the proposed capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADCs.

For an N-bit algorithmic ADC, the quantization noise is [43]

$$\overline{v_{qn}^2} = \frac{V_{FS}^2}{2^{2N} \cdot 12} \tag{3.28}$$

where  $V_{FS}$  is the ADC's signal swing and N is the ADC resolution. For an ADC to take

advantage of the given resolution, the input referred thermal noise must be equal to (or probably greater than) the quantization noise of the ADC<sup>1</sup>. Assuming the input referred thermal noise is

$$\overline{v_{th}^2} = n_f \cdot \frac{kT}{C_s} \tag{3.29}$$

where  $C_s$  is the input sampling capacitor and  $n_f$  incorporates the noise from the OTA and noise increase due to capacitor scaling. According to (3.27),  $n_f = 3.5$ . Therefore, by equating (3.28) and (3.29)

$$\overline{v}_{th}^2 = \overline{v}_{quan}^2$$

$$\Rightarrow n_f \frac{kT}{C_s} = \frac{V_{FS}^2}{2^{2N} \cdot 12}$$

$$\Rightarrow C_s = \frac{12kT \cdot n_f \cdot 2^{2N}}{V_{FS}^2}$$
(3.30)

This is the minimum capacitor size required for the ADC's SNR to be acceptable at the N-bit level.

To estimate the low power limit of a capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADC, it is assumed that the power dissipation of an ADC is dominated by the power consumption of an OTA [75, 76]. Assuming a single pole OTA, from (2.18), OTA's  $g_m$  is given as

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{(\text{N-K+1}) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot C_{\rm L,K}}{\beta \cdot T_{\rm set}}$$
(3.31)

By rearranging,

$$(g_m/I_D) \cdot I_D = \frac{(\text{N-K+1}) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot C_{\text{L,K}}}{\beta \cdot T_{\text{set}}}$$
(3.32)

This  $g_{\rm m}$  yields the minimum supply current  $I_{\rm D}$  as,

$$I_{\rm D} = \frac{(\mathrm{N-K+1}) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot C_{\mathrm{L,K}}}{\beta \cdot T_{\rm set} \cdot (g_m/I_D)}$$
(3.33)

Since an algorithmic ADC takes N clock phases for one data conversion, the settling time is given as

$$T_{\rm set} = \frac{1}{N \cdot f_s} \tag{3.34}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A lower thermal noise compared to the quantization noise is very costly in terms of power consumption, whereas, a higher thermal noise sets the lower limit of the overall signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). In practical ADCs, the difference between the stated bit and effective number of bits (ENOB) is 1.43 [72]



Figure 3.14:  $K^{th}$  evaluation phase of the U-MDAC stage.

Consequently, the power consumption of the cycle, while resolving the  $K^{th}$  bit is given as

$$P_{K} = \frac{N \cdot (N-K+1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot C_{L,K} \cdot f_{s} \cdot V_{DD}}{\beta \cdot (g_{m}/I_{D})}$$
(3.35)

Therefore, the OTA's power consumption is proportional to its load capacitance, ADC resolution squared, sampling speed, supply voltage, and biasing conditions.

The K<sup>th</sup> evaluation phase of the U-MDAC stage is reflected in Figure 3.14. Assuming the input parasitic,  $C_{pi}$ , and output parasitic,  $C_{po}$  capacitors are equal to  $C_s$ .  $C_s$  is the sampling capacitor size which is dictated by the kT/C noise. It is a well known that capacitor scaling increases the input referred noise [31]. Therefore, to incorporate the 50% scaling, the sampling capacitor sizes must be increased by  $\sqrt{2}$ . The sampling capacitor size, given in (3.30), by taking the scaling factor into account, is expressed as

$$C_{\rm s} = \frac{12\sqrt{2} \cdot n_f \cdot kT \cdot 2^{2N}}{V_{\rm FS}^2}$$
(3.36)

Therefore, with

$$C_{\rm L,K} = \frac{5C_{\rm s}}{3} \cdot \frac{1}{2^{K-1}} \tag{3.37}$$

where the factor,  $\frac{1}{2^{K-1}}$ , is due to the scaling of capacitors, the load capacitance during the

evaluation of the  $\mathbf{K}^{th}\text{-bit}$  is

$$C_{\rm L,K} = \frac{20\sqrt{2} \cdot n_f \cdot kT \cdot 2^{2\rm N}}{2^{\rm (K-1)} \cdot V_{\rm FS}^2}$$
(3.38)

Therefore, if  $\beta = 1/3$ , (3.35) becomes

$$P_{\rm K} = \frac{60\sqrt{2} \cdot n_f \cdot kT \cdot \ln 2 \cdot N \cdot (N-K+1) \cdot 2^{2N-K+1} \cdot f_s \cdot V_{\rm DD}}{V_{\rm FS}^2 \cdot (g_m/I_D)}$$
(3.39)

This is the total power of the algorithmic stage during each  $K^{th}$  cycle. As a result, the total power consumption of a capacitor scaled algorithmic ADC is

$$\mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{ADC}} = \frac{1}{N} \cdot \sum_{\mathrm{K}=1}^{\mathrm{N}} \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{K}}$$
(3.40)

This is the theoretical limit on the power consumption of an OTA-based capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADC. It is noteworthy that this power dissipation bound is valid only for the circuits that require complete settling and are not dependent on static errors, caused by OTA's gain and capacitor matching requirements. Although the OTA's gain and mismatch requirements increases the power dissipation of the OTA, however meeting gain and mismatch requirements are not fundamentally necessary, because the accuracy can be compensated by the digital calibration [52, 53, 66].

## 3.6 Design Procedure of U-MDAC Algorithmic ADCs

A generic design procedure for U-MDAC-based algorithmic ADCs is introduced here. The goal of this design procedure is to provide a step-by-step procedure to determine the circuit parameters such as transistors widths and lengths and bias currents, for the given ADC's resolution and sampling frequency. The design procedure employs the foundry provided device models, while making use of transconductance-current-ratio  $(g_m/I_D)$ -based methodology and optimizes for power consumption.

The design procedure is as follows:

- Determine the number of cycles and unit capacitor  $(C_u)$  size from the thermal noise requirements and minimum capacitor size for a given technology.
- Based on the optimal bandwidth condition, input transistor sizes are determined by using the devices' extracted parameters.
- Based on the settling time requirements, the bias current, and hence, power dissipation of a U-MDAC is calculated. This closed form power equation depends on the circuit parameters and biasing conditions.
- Power consumption of the entire ADC is determined.

# Step 1: Determining the number of scaling cycles and unit capacitor size

The design of a U-MDAC-based algorithmic ADC requires that the capacitors are scaled in successive cycles. For the ideal case, when the capacitors are scaled down till the last conversion cycle,  $C_s$  can be divided into  $2^N C_u$ s. Therefore, in case  $C_s$  is scaled for N-cycles,  $C_u$  is written as

$$C_{u,\mathrm{N-cycles}} = \frac{C_s}{2^N}$$
$$= \frac{12kT \cdot n_f \ 2^N}{V_{FS}^2}$$
(3.41)

In practical ADCs,  $C_s$  is scaled for the first few cycles. Therefore, in the case where  $C_s$  is scaled for four cycles,  $C_u$  is given as

$$C_{u,4-\text{cycles}} = \frac{C_s}{2^4} = \frac{12kT \cdot n_f \ 2^{(2N-4)}}{V_{FS}^2}$$
(3.42)

Table 3.5 presents  $C_s$ ,  $C_{u,N-cycles}$  and  $C_{u,4-cycles}$  for the different values of N with  $n_f = 6$ . It can be seen that for the case when full scaling is employed,  $C_u$  has very small values, and hence, impractical to implement. Also, for the case of the fixed number of scaling, the size of  $C_u$  can lead to power inefficient solutions.

Table 3.5: Unit capacitor size for full scaling and scaling the first four cycles when  $n_f = 6$ and  $V_{FS} = 1.5$  V.

| N [bits] | $C_s[pF]$ | $C_{u,\mathrm{N-cycles}}$ [fF] | $C_{u,4-\text{cycles}}$ [fF] |
|----------|-----------|--------------------------------|------------------------------|
| 8        | 0.009     | 0.003                          | 0.54                         |
| 10       | 0.139     | 0.135                          | 8.68                         |
| 12       | 2.221     | 0.542                          | 138.9                        |
| 14       | 35.562    | 2.171                          | 2222.6                       |
| 16       | 569       | 8.682                          | 35562.3                      |

In a given technology, there is a minimum size for each capacitor,  $C_{min}$ . Therefore, a pragmatic approach is to divide  $C_s$  by  $2C_{min}$ , and determine the maximum number of cycles, J, as

$$J = \frac{\ln \left( C_s / 2C_{min} \right)}{\ln 2}$$
(3.43)

and hence C<sub>u</sub>, can be estimated by using

$$C_u = \frac{C_s}{2^{J_{\text{int}}+1}} \tag{3.44}$$

where  $J_{\text{int}}$  is equal to J rounded to the nearest integer such that  $J_{\text{int}} \leq J$ .  $J_{\text{int}}$  and  $C_{\text{u}}$  for different ADC resolutions, are listed in Table 3.6. For a 12-bit ADC with  $C_{min}$  as 60 fF,  $J_{\text{int}}$  is estimated to be 4 and  $C_{\text{u}}$  as 69.5 fF. Therefore, the ADC resolution, N, and the minimum capacitor size for a given technology,  $C_{min}$ , set the number of scaled cycles,  $J_{\text{int}}$ , and unit capacitor size,  $C_{\text{u}}$ .

| N [bits] | $C_s[pF]$ | $J_{\rm int}$ | $C_u$ for scaling $M_{int}$ -cycles[fF] |
|----------|-----------|---------------|---|
| 8        | 0.009     | -             | -                                       |
| 10       | 0.139     | -             | -                                       |
| 12       | 2.221     | 4             | 69.5                                    |
| 14       | 35.562    | 8             | 69.5                                    |
| 16       | 569       | 12            | 69.5                                    |

Table 3.6: Unit capacitor size for the optimal number of cycles  $(n_f = 6)$ .

### Step 2: Determining the input transistor sizes

The unit-OTA, along with the associated  $C_u$ , during the evaluation phase is shown in Figure 3.15, where  $C_{pi}$  and  $C_{pi}$  are the input and output parasitics capacitance of the OTA, respectively.



Figure 3.15: MDAC during the evaluation phase.

The output capacitance,  $C_{po}$ , is the sum of the drain capacitance of the transistors and

capacitance due to the SC common mode feedback (CMFB) circuit, that is,

$$C_{po} = C_{dd} + C_{CMFB} \tag{3.45}$$

where  $C_{dd}$  is the parasitic drain capacitance and  $C_{CMFB}$  is the capacitors used in the CMFB circuit. It is assumed that  $C_{CMFB} = C_u/\zeta$ , where  $\zeta$  is the ratio of unit capacitor to the CMFB capacitor, and  $C_{dd} = C_{pi}/\alpha$ , where  $\alpha$  can be extracted from the device's characteristics.

It can be seen from (3.7), the maximum bandwidth is the function of input and output parasitic capacitance. And from (3.6), the input and output parasitic capacitance depends on C<sub>u</sub>. Hence, (3.6) becomes

$$C_{u} = \sqrt{C_{pi} \cdot \frac{C_{pi}}{\alpha} + C_{pi} \cdot \frac{C_{u}}{\zeta}}$$
(3.46)

By solving for  $C_{pi}$ ,

$$C_{pi} = -\frac{\alpha}{\zeta} \cdot \frac{C_u}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{\alpha^2 C_u^2}{4\zeta^2} + \alpha C_u^2}$$
(3.47)

The ratio,  $\frac{C_{pi}}{C_u}$ , is plotted in relation to  $\frac{C_{pi}}{C_{dd}}$  for the different values of  $\zeta = \frac{C_u}{C_{CMFB}}$  in Figure 3.16 The factor,  $\alpha (= \frac{C_{pi}}{C_{dd}})$ , is extracted from device's characteristics simulation for the different lengths. For a 130-nm CMOS process,  $\alpha$  is plotted for different device's lengths as depicted in Figure 3.17. Since  $C_{pi}$  is proportional to the width, W, of the input transistors, W can be determined, providing the desired input and output parasitic capacitances.

Consequently, the input transistors' widths are determined by taking into consideration the size of  $C_u$ . Since  $g_m \propto C_{pi}$ , therefore, the design strategy should minimize the  $C_{CMFB}$ and maximize the input parasitic capacitance.

#### Step 3: Determining the bias current

The required OTA's closed loop bandwidth during the  $K^{th}$  evaluation phase, given in (2.18), and is repeated here for convenience such that

$$f_{3dB} = N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln(2) \cdot f_s \tag{3.48}$$



Figure 3.16:  $\frac{C_{pi}}{C_u}$  versus  $\frac{C_{pi}}{C_{dd}}$  for the different values of  $\zeta = \frac{C_u}{C_{CMFB}}$ 

This required bandwidth must be equal to the maximum bandwidth given in (3.7). Consequently,

$$\frac{g_{\rm m}}{2C_{\rm po} + C_{\rm pi} + 2\sqrt{C_{\rm pi}C_{\rm po}}} = N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot f_s$$
$$\implies g_{\rm m} = N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot f_s \cdot \left(2C_{\rm po} + C_{\rm pi} + 2\sqrt{C_{\rm pi}C_{\rm po}}\right)$$
$$= N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot f_s \cdot \chi$$
(3.49)



Figure 3.17:  $\alpha$  versus different NMOS's lengths for a 130-nm CMOS process.

where  $\chi = (2C_{po} + C_{pi} + 2\sqrt{C_{pi}C_{po}})$ . By rearranging (3.49), the required bias current is dependent on the operating region or transconductance-current-ratio,  $g_m/I_D$ , written as

$$\left(\frac{g_{\rm m}}{I_D}\right) \cdot I_D = N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot f_s \cdot \chi$$
$$\implies I_D = \frac{N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot f_s \cdot \chi}{(g_m/I_D)} \tag{3.50}$$

Therefore, the power consumption of each U-MDAC stage is determined by using

$$P_{UMDAC} = I_D V_{DD} = \frac{N(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2 \cdot f_s \cdot \chi \cdot V_{DD}}{(g_m/I_D)}$$
(3.51)

Consequently, the power consumption of the U-MDAC as given in (3.51) depends on the device parasitic capacitance and the bias conditions. The choice of  $g_m/I_D$  is based on the operating region and the device's intrinsic unity gain bandwidth. For N=12,  $f_s=10$  MS/s,  $V_{DD}=1.5$  V,  $\chi = 400$  fF, and  $(g_m/I_D) = 20$ , the power consumption of an U-MDAC is

equal to 20  $\mu$ W.

In a cascode OTA, the non-dominant pole is usually about  $f_{nd} = f_T/5$ , where  $f_T$  is the intrinsic unity gain frequency of the transistor. Also, for the optimum settling, a phase margin of about 70<sup>o</sup> is required [77]. This sets the  $f_t$  of the OTA to approximately  $f_{nd}/3$ . Thus, an OTA with  $f_t$  requirements of 1 GHz, requires that the  $f_T$  of the input transistors be more than 15 GHz. Therefore, for a single stage OTA, the largest value of  $g_m/I_D$  should be chosen such that  $f_T$  is about 15-30 times more that the required  $f_t$  of the OTA. For a two-stage OTA, the largest value of  $g_m/I_D$  should be chosen such that  $f_T$  is about 50-80 times more that the required  $f_t$  of the 2-stage OTA [78].

#### Step 4: Determining the power consumption of the whole ADC

In the proposed design, an algorithmic ADC is split into a number of U-MDACs. These U-MDACs are successively scaled down by half for the number of cycles, J, whose value is given by (3.43). Since the number of scaled cycles is less than or equal to the total number of cycles to perform the complete conversion, the last U-MDAC stage can be used in the rest of the cycles to complete the data conversion. Therefore, the total power of the ADC is given as

$$P_{ADC} = \frac{1}{N} \cdot \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{J+1} 2^{(J-i+1)} \cdot P_{UMDAC} + \sum_{l=J+2}^{N-1} P_{UMDAC} \right]$$
(3.52)

The first term integrates the power consumed in each scaled cycle, and the second term sums up the power during the cycles when only one U-MDAC is used to generate the remaining bits.

For an ADC resolution of 12-bits and the number of scaled cycles J=4, the power consumption of a capacitor shared and capacitor scaled ADC is about  $3 \times P_{UMDAC}$ .

This is the total power consumption of an U-MDAC-based algorithmic ADC. It is noteworthy that this power dissipation bound is valid only for the circuits that require complete settling and are not dependent on the static errors caused by OTA's gain and capacitor matching requirements.

# 3.7 Summary

In this chapter, two low power techniques are proposed. One technique improves the existing capacitor-shared techniques to further reduce the power consumption of algorithmic ADCs. The other new technique utilizes capacitor-shared, capacitor-scaled, and switched-OTA schemes to reduce the power consumption of algorithmic ADCs. These techniques reduce the power consumption of conventional algorithmic ADCs considerably.

An analysis of the thermal noise in the proposed capacitor shared and capacitor scaled scheme is also conducted. The low power limits of the OTA-based capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADCs is determined. A detailed design procedure for a U-MDAC-based algorithmic ADC is introduced as well.

# Chapter 4

# Design Of The Experimental ADCs

Two prototype ICs are designed and fabricated in a 130-nm CMOS process. One prototype, a 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC, demonstrates the concept of the 3-cap-shared technique. The other prototype, a 12-bit 10 MS/s algorithmic ADC, proves the feasibility of the capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled technique and demonstrates its low power advantages. This chapter provides the design details of these prototype chips.

# 4.1 Design Considerations

The typical ADCs' specifications are the SNR, accuracy, and linearity. These specifications dictate the design requirements of its building blocks. The ADC's SNR, which is dominated by the circuit's thermal noise levels, dictates the size of the sampling capacitors. The accuracy requirements sets the OTA's gain and minimum capacitor size due to the matching constraints. The ADC's linearity is determined by sampling switches' linearity and OTAs' signal swing. Another key ADC requirement is the comparators' offset, which determines the size of input transistors of the comparators' block.

The design considerations of the building blocks of an N-bit SC-based algorithmic ADC are explained in Chapter 2 and 3, and are summarized in Table 4.1.

| Value                 | $C_s \ge 1.85 \text{ pF}$   | $A_v \cdot eta \ge 72 	ext{ dB}$<br>$A_v \cdot eta \ge 60 	ext{ dB}$ | $f_{3dB} \ge 85 \text{ MHz}$<br>$f_{3dB} \ge 55 \text{ MHz}$  | $\frac{\Delta C}{C} \leq 0.05\%$      | $\sigma_{ m static}=27~{ m mV}$   |
|-----------------------|---|--|---|---------------------------------------|---|
| Example<br>Parameters | $n_{f=5},  V_{FS} = \!$ | N = 12, K = 1<br>N = 10, K = 1                                       | $egin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$  | N = 12, K = 1                         | $A_{vt}{=}13.5 \ { m mV}/\mu{ m m}, \ A_{eta}{=} \ 0.5 \ arketa_{o} \ mmm(g_m/I_D){=} \ 20, \ { m L} {=} 0.48 \ \mu{ m m} \ { m and} \ { m W} {=} 1 \ \mu{ m m}$                    |
|                       | (4.1)   | (4.2)  | (4.3)<br>(4.4)  | (4.5)                                 | (4.6)<br>(4.7)  |
| Equation              | $C_s \ge n_f \cdot \frac{12kT \cdot 2^{2N}}{V_{FS}^2}$                                      | $A_v \cdot \beta \ge 2^{(N-K+1)}$                                    | $f_{3dB} = f_T \cdot \beta \ge \left(\frac{(N - K + 1) \cdot \ln 2}{2\pi \cdot T_{set}}\right)$ $= \left(\frac{N \cdot (N - K + 1) \cdot f_s \cdot \ln 2}{2\pi}\right)$ | $\frac{\Delta C}{C} \le 2^{-(N-K+1)}$ | $\sigma_{\text{static}} = \sqrt{\frac{A_{vt}^2}{W \cdot L}} + \frac{1}{(g_m/I_D)^2} \cdot \frac{A_{\beta}^2}{W \cdot L}$ Also,<br>$3\sigma_{\text{static}} < \pm \frac{V_{ref}}{4}$ |
| Ref.                  | [76]  | [79]   | [55]  | [80]                                  | [51]  |
| Eq.#                  | (3.30)  | (2.17)   | (2.20)  | (2.12)                                |   |
| Besign                | Sampling capac-<br>itor size  | OTA's DC gain  | OTA's band-<br>width  | Capacitors Mis-<br>match              | Comparators'<br>Offset  |

Table 4.1: ADC's design considerations.

# CHAPTER 4. DESIGN OF THE EXPERIMENTAL ADCS

# 4.2 10-bit 5 MS/s Algorithmic ADC

In this thesis, a 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC is designed in a 130-nm CMOS process. The single-ended version of the implemented 3-cap-shared stage and their clocks are illustrated in the Figure 4.1(a) and (b), respectively. During  $\phi_s$ , C<sub>1</sub> and C<sub>2</sub> sample V<sub>in</sub>. To generate the first residue, C<sub>1</sub> is connected to the DAC reference and C<sub>2</sub> is connected in the feedback. This generated residue is sampled by C<sub>3</sub> and the same residue voltage is also held across the feedback capacitor, C<sub>2</sub>. Therefore, the conversion is performed by keeping C<sub>2</sub> connected in the feedback, whereas C<sub>1</sub> and C<sub>3</sub> swap their roles during the  $\phi_o$  and  $\phi_e$  phases. The design criteria for different circuit blocks are as follows.



Figure 4.1: Single-ended implementation of a 3-cap-shared stage: (a) SC implementation and (b) clocks.

The switch sizes are dictated by the on-resistance and linearity requirements. Input sampling switches are designed as bootstrapped ones to achieve a high linearity. The switches connected to the OTA's output are gate boosted, and all the switches, connected to the sum node, are simple NMOS switches.

For a 10-bit ADC, the sampling capacitor size is given by (4.1). For  $n_f=5$  and  $V_{FS}=$  1.5 V, C<sub>s</sub> must be greater than 115 fF. Therefore, a C<sub>s</sub> of 120 fF is chosen in this design.

According to (4.2), the OTA's loop gain,  $A_0 \cdot \beta$ ,  $\geq 60$  dB and from (4.4), the OTA loop bandwidth must be greater than 55 MHz. The OTA, as shown in Figure 4.2, is designed as a gain-boosted cascode OTA [81], with a symmetric loading SC common-mode-feedback (CMFB) [82]. The booster OTAs are implemented as simple folded cascode OTAs.

The chip layout in Figure 4.3 occupies an area of 500  $\mu$ m x 500  $\mu$ m.

### 4.2.1 Simulation results

The ADC is designed by using the IBM 130-nm CMOS process with the MIM capacitor option. The ADC is designed and fully simulated in Spectre, and its post-layout FFT is plotted in Figure 4.4. It is fully functional, verifying the suitability of the proposed technique in algorithmic ADCs. Table 4.2 lists the simulation results.

| Technology                      | 130-nm CMOS            |
|---------------------------------|------------------------|
| Supply                          | 1.5 V                  |
| Resolution                      | 10-bit                 |
| Sampling frequency $(f_s)$      | 5 MHz                  |
| $\operatorname{Vin}_{p-p}$      | 1.5 V                  |
| SNDR                            | $50 \mathrm{~dB}$      |
| ENOB                            | 9-bit                  |
| Power (P)                       | $150 \ \mu W$          |
| FOM $(=P/(f_s \cdot 2^{ENOB}))$ | 60  fJ/conversion-step |

Table 4.2: Performance summary of the simulated 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC.



Figure 4.2: Schematic of the OTA.

## 4.2.2 Testing

A 2-layer FR4 PCB is designed to test the prototype IC in Figure 4.5. Ninety percent of the bottom layer is dedicated to the ground plane. During the chip testing it is found that some vias, connecting one pad (pad -Vref) to the chip core, are missed in the layout.



Figure 4.3: Chip layout.

Therefore, measurement cannot be taken.

### 4.2.3 Summary

A 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC is designed in a 130-nm CMOS process to validate the 3-cap-shared low power technique. The simulations results indicate that the implemented ADC has a FOM of 60 fJ/step. In practical case, power supply noise, cross talk from the adjacent signals and other issues that can not be captured in simulations might reduce the FOM a bit.



Figure 4.4: 512-point post-layout FFT of the 10-bit 5 MS/s Algorithmic ADC, where  $f_{in} = 517.57$  kHz.



Figure 4.5: PCB layout of the top layer.

## 4.3 12-bit 10 MS/s Algorithmic ADC

The objective of the prototype ADC is to design a 12-bit ADC sampling at 10 MS/s and consuming low power, while using the proposed U-MDAC approach. In this section, the design of the implemented ADC is explained at system, architectural and circuit levels. Then, the simulation details and results of the measurements are discussed.

### 4.3.1 System level

At the system level, the sampling capacitor size and number of scaling cycles are determined. The sampling capacitor, as given in (4.1), must be greater than 1.875 pF for  $n_f=5$ and  $V_{fs}=1.5$  V. Therefore,  $C_s$  is chosen to be 2 pF.

The 3-sigma percentage mismatch of identical MIM capacitors for the 130-nm CMOS process is given in [83] (pg. 396).

$$3\sigma_{MIM} = \sqrt{\frac{M_A^2}{W \cdot L} + \frac{M_W^2}{W^2}} \tag{4.8}$$

where  $M_A = 4$  and  $M_W = 1$ , and W and L are given in  $\mu$ m. Based on the mismatch data provided by the foundry, matching comparable to 12-bit accuracy is possible [84].

In the chosen 130-nm CMOS process, the minimum MIM capacitor size is 60 fF. Based on (3.43), the number of scaled cycles for  $C_s=2$  pF and  $C_{min}=60$  fF, is expressed as

$$J = \frac{\ln \left( C_s / 2C_{min} \right)}{\ln 2} = 4 \tag{4.9}$$

Consequently, 16 U-MDACs are required to be incorporated in four scaling cycles. Since this U-MDAC technique is combined with the 3-cap-shared technique, after six phases (including the sampling phase) the residue is transferred to the next stage, a 3-cap-shared stage, to generate the remaining six bits.

The implementation details are denoted in Figure 4.6. During phase-1, the input is sampled, and the first residue is evaluated during phase-2. At the end of phase-2, eight of the U-MDACs are powered down. During each successive phase, half of the remaining U-MDACs are powered OFF and disconnected from the circuit. During phase-6, a single U-MDAC generates the residue which is sampled by the second stage. The second stage generates the remaining six least significant bits (LSBs). One of the main block of the



Figure 4.6: Implementation of a 12-bit algorithmic ADC.

implemented ADC is the digital state machine (DSM). The DSM generates the required clock phases to operate the circuit as intended. The complete Spectre schematic of the whole ADC is provided in Appendix Figure A.8.

### 4.3.2 Architectural level

At the architectural level, the design of an individual U-MDAC is discussed. A single-ended SC implementation of an U-MDAC is shown in Figure 4.7. The stage is similar to that in Figure 2.21 without the explicit load capacitors, C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub>, and some extra switches. The operation of a generic stage is as follows. During  $\phi_1$ , the input is sampled on both capacitors. During  $\phi_2$ , C<sub>s</sub> is connected to the appropriate reference. During  $\phi_{f,i}$ , C<sub>f</sub> is connected to the OTA's feedback to generate the residue, where *i* is the current evaluation phase. Once the residue is generated, C<sub>f</sub> is disconnected from the OTA's output. During  $\phi_{i+1}$ , C<sub>f</sub> gets connected to the DAC output, and the DSM generates  $\phi_{pd,i}$  to power down the OTA and disconnect its input capacitance from the sum node. At the end of  $\phi_{i+2}$ , the



Figure 4.7: Single-ended U-MDAC's implementation.

DSM generates  $\phi_{sn,i}$  to disconnect the sum node of that particular U-MDAC stage from other stages' sum nodes.

A detailed schematic of 16 U-MDACs is signified in Figure 4.8, and the associated clock phases are shown in Figure 4.9. The layout of the U-MDAC is shown in Figure A.9.



Figure 4.8: Schematic of a 16 U-MDACs' circuit.


Figure 4.9: Clocks for 16 U-MDACs' circuit.

The 16 U-MDACs are divided into five banks: Bank-1, Bank-2, Bank-3, Bank-4 and Bank-5 with 8, 4, 2, 1, and 1 U-MDACs, respectively. During  $\phi_1$ , all the capacitors sample the input. During  $\phi_2$ , all C<sub>s</sub> capacitors are connected to the DAC reference, V<sub>DAC,1</sub>. At the same time, all the C<sub>f</sub> capacitors are connected to their respective unit-OTA's output. At the end of  $\phi_{f,1}$ , all the unit-OTAs of Bank-1 are powered down and disconnected from the sum node. During  $\phi_3$ , all Bank-1 C<sub>f</sub> capacitors are connected to the DAC reference, V<sub>DAC,2</sub>, whereas all C<sub>f</sub> capacitors of the rest of the banks remain connected to their unit-OTA's output . Once the residue voltage is generated, the sum nodes of Bank-1 U-MDACs are disconnected from the other U-MDACs banks at the end of  $\phi_{sn,1}$ . The same process is repeated for the rest of the banks.

## 4.3.3 Circuit level

At the circuit level, the design criteria and transistor level details of each building block of an U-MDAC are presented. These building blocks are switches, OTAs, comparators, DSM, and the 3-cap-shared  $2^{nd}$ -stage. The complete layout of the U-MDAC stage is presented in Appendix Figure A.9.

#### 4.3.3.1 Switches

There is a wide variety of switches available in the 130-nm CMOS process used for fabrication. The test circuit for the switches is displayed in Figure 4.10.



Figure 4.10: Test bench for simulating the THD of switches.

The total harmonic distortion (THD) of different switches for the single-ended and

differential modes are shown in Table 4.3 for W=500 nm and L=120 nm. The input frequency is 1.006 MHz, and a sample rate of 10 MHz is used to generate 1024-points FFT.

| Table $4.3$ : | Comparison    | of THD    | of various | simulated | switches | at input | frequency | of 1.006 |
|---------------|---------------|-----------|------------|-----------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|
| MHz and       | a sample rate | e of 10 N | IS/s.      |           |          |          |           |          |

| Switch                     | THD (SE) $[dB]$ | THD (Diff) [dB] |
|----------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| NFET                       | -15.9           | -36.66          |
| Thick-oxide NFET           | -17.7           | -43.54          |
| Transmission gate          | -54.04          | -74.16          |
| Gate-boosted NFET          | -77.88          | -81.4           |
| Bootstrap NFET             | -81.33          | -87.33          |
| Bootstrap Thick-oxide NFET | -100.9          | -107.7          |

To achieve a high linearity, bootstrapped input sampling switches [44, 49] are chosen. The switches connected to the op amp's output are gate boosted switches, and all the switches connected to the sum node, are simple NMOS switches. Bottom plate sampling is selected to eliminate the charge injection errors of the switches.

#### 4.3.3.2 Unit-OTA

The unit-OTA is the most significant active block in the U-MDAC. There are two primary design requirements of an OTA: a high gain to achieve the desired accuracy, and a high speed to settle to the desired accuracy within a given settling time. As given in (4.2), the OTA loop gain,  $A_0 \cdot \beta$ , must be greater than 72 dB and from (4.4), and for  $T_{set}=16$ ns, the OTA loop bandwidth has to be greater than 85 MHz.

The cascode OTA exhibits one dominant pole, and has higher frequency capabilities than those of other topologies. Moreover, it consumes lower power and exhibits less noise. However, cascode OTA are limited by their output swing capabilities. In order to obtain the desired gain from a cascode amplifier, gain boosting is typically employed. Therefore, to meet the high gain requirement, the OTA, shown in Figure 4.11, is designed as a gainboosted cascode amplifier [81].



Figure 4.11: Schematic of the OTA with a switched biasing scheme. During  $\phi_{pd}$  the cascode transistors are turned OFF.

Booster amplifiers in a closed-loop can cause stability issues and introduce pole-zero doublets. However, the following conditions ensure that the slow settling, due to pole-zero doublets and stability issues, can be avoided [81] by using

$$\beta \cdot f_T < f_{T,booster} < f_{p2} \tag{4.10}$$

where  $f_T$  is the unity gain bandwidth (UGBW) of the gain-boosted OTA,  $f_{T,booster}$  is the UGBW of the booster OTA, and  $f_{p2}$  is the second pole of the gain-boosted OTA.

To achieve the desired power savings, the OTAs must be turned OFF during their idle period. They are powered down by using the switched-bias technique or the switchedcurrent technique. In the former technique [33], the highly capacitive current source nodes of an OTA are switched between the bias voltage and supply/ground voltage. This technique has the advantages of a very fast turn OFF time and significantly low leakage power wastage, but they are prone to a very high turn ON time. In the switched-current technique, the OTAs are powered down by disconnecting the current path between the power supply and ground. This is achieved by switching the booster OTA's outputs to the appropriate supply such that all the cascode transistors are OFF, as illustrated in Figure 4.11. The disadvantage is that the tail transistors remain connected to the bias voltage, even during the OFF phase. Hence, the bias node suffer little variations compared to the case of the switched-bias technique in Figure 4.12. The switched-current scheme has a faster a turn ON time, compared to that of the switched-bias approach as shown in Figure 4.13.

The booster amplifiers are implemented as simple folded cascode OTAs. The folded cascode topology is selected in order to have a good input common mode range. Single-ended boosters are chosen in order to keep the layout of the OTA symmetric, and also to avoid a CMFB circuit. However, this arrangement increases the area of the overall ADC. These booster amplifiers consume approximately 5  $\mu$ W of power. The schematic of booster OTAs is drawn in Figure 4.14 The input transistors are laid out in a common-centroid fashion. The device sizes are presented in Appendix Section A.4.

The loop gain and loop phase of the layout parasitic extracted unit-OTA are illustrated in Figure 4.15. The loop gain is around 100 MHz and the phase margin more than  $80^{\circ}$ . Each unit-OTA consumes about 37.5  $\mu$ W of power.



Figure 4.12: Variations of the bias nodes during the OTA's turn ON and turn OFF.



Figure 4.13: OTA's turn ON timings.

#### 4.3.3.3 Comparator

A comparator is one of the principal blocks of an algorithmic ADC, where the operation of a comparator is synchronized with the evaluation phase. At the end of each evaluation phase, the residue is sampled by the comparator. The residue is compared with the reference



Figure 4.14: Schematic of booster amplifiers: (a) N-booster and (b) P-Booster.



Figure 4.15: Loop gain  $|A_0\beta|$  and phase of the OTA.

voltage to make the decision. This comparison is followed by the latching of the comparator for the remainder of the clock phase.

Typically, the requirements of a comparator are speed, low input referred offset, low kickback noise, low input capacitance, and low power consumption. Since the comparison and latching must occur within the evaluation phase, the time taken by the comparator to make a decision directly reduces the time allowed for the OTA to settle.

In an algorithmic ADC employing digital correction, a comparator offset of  $\pm V_{REF}/4$  can be tolerated (see (4.7)). The comparators have not only static offsets, but also dynamic offsets. Such offsets are due to the mismatch in the load capacitance at the output nodes. In high speed comparators, the dynamic offsets are much larger than the static offsets. A capacitive imbalance of 1 fF at the output nodes can lead to the input referred offset of several tens of millivolts [85]. One way to reduce the offsets is to use pre-amplifiers. They reduce the input referred offsets by the pre-amplifier gain.

One of the major issues in a latched comparator is its kickback noise. In the latch stage, the positive feedback regenerates the residue into a full-scale digital output. These large voltage swings can couple into the input nodes through the parasitic capacitances. Since the circuits driving the input nodes of the comparator do not have a zero output impedance, the kickback charge can generate glitches at the input nodes, disturbing the operation of the comparator. The fast and power efficient comparators, especially dynamic comparators [86–88], generate more kickback noise [89]. The easiest and most common solution for the kickback noise reduction is to use a pre-amplifier at the expense of increasing the power consumption.

Because OTAs directly drive the comparators during the evaluation phase, the input capacitance of the comparator directly adds up to the load capacitance of the OTAs. The input capacitance is determined by the area of the sampling transistors. By rearranging (4.7), the area of the input transistors is written as

$$W \cdot L > \left(\frac{12}{V_{ref}}\right)^2 \cdot \left[A_{vt}^2 + \frac{A_{\beta}^2}{(g_m/I_D)^2}\right]$$
(4.11)

For the chosen 130-nm CMOS process,  $A_{vt} = 13.5 \text{ mV}/\mu\text{m}$  and  $A_{\beta} = 0.5\%\mu\text{m}$ . Therefore, for  $V_{ref}=750 \text{ mV}$  and  $(g_m/I_D) = 20$ , the transistor area must be greater than  $0.4\mu m^2$ . Hence, if  $L = 0.48 \ \mu\text{m}$  then  $W \ge 833 \ \text{nm}$ . In the design, transistors' width is chosen to be 1  $\mu\text{m}$ . The comparator's device sizes are listed in Appendix Section A.4.

Figure 4.16 is a schematic of the implemented comparator. This comparator, which follows the basic structure presented in [90], has the benefits of being high speed, low offset, low kickback noise, and low input capacitance. The comparator consists of a pre-amplifier, followed by a latch stage, and eventually a set-reset (SR) flip-flop (FF). The SR FF holds the output of the latch when it is in the reset mode.

The pre-amplifier is beneficial in many ways, including amplifying the input signal, reducing the dynamic offset and reducing the kickback noise. The gain of the pre-amplifier is expressed as

$$A_{v1} = \frac{g_{m,1} + g_{m,3}}{g_{m,6}} \tag{4.12}$$

where  $g_{m,1}$  and  $g_{m,3}$  are the transconductance of the input, and  $g_{m,6}$  is the transconductance of the load transistor, respectively. In the implementation, the gain of the pre-amplifier is chosen to be around eight large enough to suppress the dynamic offset in the latch.

The operation of the latch is as follows. During the reset phase,  $\phi_{latch} = 1$ , the output nodes of the latch are set at  $V_{GS}$  of  $M_{14}$  and  $M_{15}$ . During the regeneration phase,  $\phi_{latch}$ goes low,  $M_{13}$  turns OFF pulling the output nodes down because of the charge injection.



Figure 4.16: Comparator schematic.

Then, depending on the input voltage, one of the output nodes reaches the supply rail, whereas the other goes to the ground. Depending on the latch output, the SR FF modifies its output. After the regeneration phase, the latch resets such that SR FF keeps the output of the latch for the rest of the evaluation phase. The gain of the latch during the reset in Figure 4.17, is written as

$$A_{v2} = g_{m,8} \cdot \left(\frac{R_{13}}{2} \| \frac{-1}{g_{m,15}}\right)$$
$$= \frac{g_{m,8}}{\frac{2}{R_{13}} - g_{m,15}}$$
(4.13)

Therefore,

$$\frac{2}{R_{13}} > g_{m,15}$$

for the latch to act as an amplifier during the reset phase.

During the regeneration phase,

$$V_o(t) = V_{in}(t=0)A_{v1}A_{v2} \cdot e^{t/\tau}$$
(4.14)

where  $\tau = C_L/g_{m,8}$ .



Figure 4.17: Simplified schematic of the latch.

The total input referred offset of the comparator is given by

$$V_{os} = \sqrt{V_{os,1-2}^2 + V_{os,3-4}^2 + \frac{V_{os,5-6}^2 + V_{os,7-8}^2}{A_{v1}^2} + \frac{V_{os,11-12}^2 + V_{os,13-14}^2}{A_{v1}^2 A_{v2}^2} + \frac{V_{os,dynamic}^2}{A_{v1}^2 A_{v2}^2}}{A_{v1}^2 A_{v2}^2}$$
(4.15)

where the matching of input differential pairs directly affects the input referred offset of the overall comparator. Monte Carlo analysis can be performed to extract the static offsets. However, devices are large and mismatch would be relatively small. The devices' offset information is presented in the design manual of the technology used for implementation [83].

During the layout, care is taken to make the layout as symmetric as possible to avoid any systematic offset. Input differential pairs are laid out in the common-centroid fashion, and dummy transistors are added to maintain the same surroundings around each transistor's finger, as shown in Fig 4.18. The complete layout of the comparator is provided in Appendix Figure A.11.



Figure 4.18: Common-centroid layout of the comparator's input differential pair with dummies.

# 4.3.4 $2^{nd}$ stage design

The requirements for the OTA in the second stage are substantially reduced, compared to those of the first stage. For this stage, an accuracy of only six-bits is required. This relaxes the OTA's loop gain requirements to approximately 30 dB which is met with a simple cascode OTA. The second stage's OTA is similar to the one in Figure 4.11 without the booster amplifiers. As a result, the power dissipation of this OTA is significantly lower than that of the first stage's OTA. For this stage, a unit metal-over-metal capacitor size of 30 fF is adopted to further reduce the power requirements. The vertical natural capacitor (VNC) are used as the 30 fF capacitors. The loop gain and phase of second stage OTA is shown in Figure 4.19. The total power consumed by this stage is 30  $\mu$ W. The layout of the said stage is depicted in Appendix Figure A.10.

## 4.3.5 Clock generation

To operate the ADC as intended, different clock phases are generated. The clock generation circuit is designed by using Verilog HDL and simulated in ModelSim. The verilog code is synthesized to generate the schematic in Figure 4.20. The schematic is mapped into cadence schematic by designing the logic cells in a 130-nm CMOS process.

Figure 4.21 portrays the different clock phases generated from the main clock. Non-



Figure 4.19: Loop gain  $|A_0\beta|$  and phase of the second stage OTA.

overlapping phases are generated in order to avoid any charge leakage, as indicated in Figure 4.22. The overlap time is chosen to be around 300ps, as shown in Figure 4.23.

These clock phases turn ON and OFF different U-MDACs at the appropriate times in order to save the power consumption. The clock generation circuit consumes around 180  $\mu$ W of power.



Figure 4.20: Schematic of clock generation circuit.



Figure 4.21: Six clock phases.



Figure 4.22: Non-overlapping clock generator.



Figure 4.23: Non-overlapping time between  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$ .

## 4.3.6 Simulation results

Simulations of the prototype ADC are required to prove the feasibility of the newly developed low power technique by including all the building blocks at the transistor level. The ADC is implemented in a 130-nm CMOS process with a metal-insulator-metal (MIM) capacitor option and occupies a die area of 1.7mm x 0.7mm. The chip layout is displayed in Figure 4.24



1 mm

Figure 4.24: Chip layout of the algorithmic ADC.

| Design block        | Power Consumption $(\mu W)$ |
|---------------------|-----------------------------|
| Core ADC            | 315                         |
| OTA + local biasing | 37.5 + 15 = 52.5            |
| $2^{nd}$ stage      | 30                          |
| Global biasing      | 150                         |
| sub-ADCs            | $2\mathrm{x}\;60=120$       |
| DSM                 | 180                         |
| Total               | 1035                        |

The simulated power consumption of each block is summarized in Table 4.4.

Table 4.4: Power consumption of different blocks of the simulated ADC.

It is evident that the chip consumes approximately 1 mW of power, including the digital clock generation circuitry. The core ADC consumes approximately 350  $\mu$ W, digital clock circuitry consumes 180  $\mu$ W, 120  $\mu$ W is consumed by the four comparators, and the local and global biasing consumes approximately 400  $\mu$ W.

The current profile of the core ADC is depicted in Figure 4.25. It is evident that the current reduces in successive cycles, as the unit-OTAs are powered down. The dashed-line indicates the current consumption in case the OTAs are not switched OFF. The average current consumption of the U-MDAC implementation is represented by the dashed-dot-line in the figure. In this particular current profile, it is shown that the OTAs are active during the sampling phase, however, in the actual implementation the time when the OTAs turn ON during sampling phase is digitally controlled. Therefore, a lower average current is expected, when OTAs remain OFF during most of the sampling phase. The reason of turning ON the OTAs during the sampling phase is to allow sufficient time for CMFB settling, before the evaluation phase.

With the input frequencies of 528.8 kHz and 4.59 MHz input at 10 MS/s, a 256-point FFT is shown in Figure 4.26.

The performance of the ADC is summarized in Table 4.5. Table 4.6 shows the performance comparison of the proposed ADC and recently published algorithmic ADCs. The proposed ADC has the lowest FOM, compared to that of the other published data.

$$FOM = \frac{Power}{f_{s} \cdot 2^{2ENOB}}$$
(4.16)



Figure 4.25: Current profile of the core ADC.

where ENOB is the effective number of bits.

The estimated power savings comes from inter-cycle capacitor and OTA scaling, and capacitor sharing. Compared to the conventional techniques, the power consumption in the proposed ADC is reduced by 50% in each subsequent cycle. If noise is neglected and the power of the regular ADC is normalized to unity, the proposed ADC requires a power of

$$P = \frac{1}{N} + \frac{1}{2N} + \frac{1}{3N} + \dots = \frac{2}{N}$$
(4.17)

for an N-bit ADC. Unfortunately, interstage scaling increases the input referred noise by  $\sqrt{2}$ . Therefore, 70% power savings are expected due to the capacitor scaling. Also, capaci-

| Technology                         | 130-nm CMOS  |
|------------------------------------|--|
| Supply                             | 1.5 V  |
| Resolution                         | 12-bits  |
| Sampling frequency $(f_s)$         | 10 MHz   |
| V <sub>in,p-p</sub>                | 1.5 V  |
| SNDR                               | 66  dB   |
| ENOB                               | 11 bits  |
| Power (P)                          | 1 mW   |
| FOM (=P/( $f_s \times 2^{2ENOB}$ ) | $0.02 \ \mathrm{fJ/conversion}$ -step <sup>2</sup> |

Table 4.5: Performance summary of the 12-bit 10 MS/s algorithmic ADC.

tor sharing reduces the load capacitance and hence the power consumption further by 50%. Therefore, 85% power reduction is expected with compared to the flip-around configuration and OTA-shared technique, and more than 90% when compared to the conventional technique.

| Ref.      | P (mW) | $f_s (MS/s)$ | Res. | FOM $(fJ/step^2)$ |
|-----------|--------|--------------|------|-------------------|
| [2]       | 0.09   | 2            | 10   | 0.04              |
| [13]      | 2.3    | 1            | 10   | 2.19              |
| [26]      | 15.8   | 14           | 10   | 1.1               |
| [42]      | 10     | 1.5          | 11   | 1.58              |
| [55]      | 15     | 10           | 9    | 5.72              |
| [69]      | 2.85   | 20           | 11   | 0.04              |
| [29]      | 6.9    | 50           | 9    | 0.55              |
| [91]      | 0.74   | 2.5          | 10   | 0.3               |
| [92]      | 0.115  | 0.02         | 13   | 0.1               |
| [30]      | 11     | 1.25         | 9    | 33.56             |
| [39]      | 0.069  | 0.04         | 11   | 1.24              |
| [40]      | 12     | 5            | 8    | 36.62             |
| This work | 1      | 10           | 12   | 0.006             |

Table 4.6: Comparison the FOM of recently published algorithmic ADCs.

### 4.3.7 Measurement setup and results

A prototype ADC is designed by using a 130-nm CMOS process. The chip occupies an area of 700  $\mu$ m x 1400  $\mu$ m, excluding the pads. To facilitate the chip measurements, digital outputs are taken out serially and combined off-chip. In order to test the functionality of the DSM, one clock phase ( $\phi_2$ ) is taken off-chip. The purpose of this output is not only to check the DSM functionality but also to align the serial data coming from the comparators.

Separate supply and ground pins are provided for the analog, digital, and output buffer portions of the chip. An analog supply is used for providing power to the core ADC and the pre-amplifiers of comparators. Latches, clock, and digital logic are powered by the digital supply. The output buffers consume very high power so that they are powered with a separate supply to avoid coupling the noise originating from these buffers to analog or digital portions of the chip. The master bias current and reference voltages are provided off-chip for better testability.

A 2-layer FR4 PCB, designed to test the prototype IC, is shown in Figure 4.27. A diagram of the measurement setup is drawn in Figure 4.28. The chip is packaged in a surface-mounted 44-pin CQFP package, and is soldered on the PCB. A 2-layer PCB is designed with about 90% of the bottom layer used as a ground plane to provide a good current return path. All the external capacitors and resistors are surface-mounted ones, whereas through-hole potentiometers are used. All the chip pins are decoupled by a 0.1  $\mu$ F and 10  $\mu$ F capacitors. The clock signal is provided by the signal generator. The chip can handle both sine and square wave inputs.

#### 4.3.7.1 Measurement results

In order to take the measurements of the fabricated design, all parts of the ADC must work properly. Unfortunately, in any of the seven chips tested, the DSM and comparators do not work simultaneously. Three chips have DSM working evident in Figure 4.29. Figure 4.30 illustrates that the intended operation of comparators. However, the comparators are working in two other chips, whereas in the remaining chips, neither the clocks nor comparators work.

A properly laid out and simulated circuit is susceptible to failure after manufacturing, if protection circuits are not provided on-chip. Such circuits including clamping diodes and electrostatic discharge (ESD) circuits. Clamping diodes are employed to prevent the circuit from the overshoot or undershoot of the incoming signal due to the line reflections. ESD protection circuits provide an alternate path for the charge to flow to ground in the case of a highly capacitive object, for example, a human body touches the circuit. Additionally, an IC contains not only the components required to perform the intended operation, but also parasitic components (transistors and diodes). These parasitic elements, under particular operating conditions, can become active and trigger an unintended operation that can result in a fatal fault of the chip. A typical example of an unintended operation is the latchup, which occurs due to the undesirable interaction between the PN junctions of the NMOS and PMOS transistors placed in proximity [48].

Due to the design time and die area limitations, ESD structures are not placed inside the chip. It is noticed that in different chips, different pins are sinking excess current (sometimes more than 20 mA). All of these faulty pins are connected to the gates of the transistors, indicating an oxide breakdown mechanism or internal latchup.

Therefore, the DSM and comparators are operating in different chips. However since they are not working simultaneously on one chip, measurements cannot be taken.

### 4.3.8 Summary

A 12-bit 10 MS/s algorithmic ADC is designed in a 130-nm CMOS process to validate the capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled low power technique. The simulations results showed that the implemented ADC has the FOM of 60 fJ/conversion-step. The design parameters, layouts and device sizes are also described.



Figure 4.26: Simulated 256-point FFT plot at  $f_s = 10$  MS/s: (a)  $f_{in} = 528.97$  kHz and (b)  $f_{in} = 4.59$  MHz. 112



Figure 4.27: PCB layout of the top layer



Figure 4.28: Test setup for the 12-bit Algorithmic ADC.

|      |                | clo                 | ock                |         |                      |                |                 |      |                      |              |                       |                |      |                     |                   |         | ]                |                    | ſ        |       |                      |                |               |      |       |            |             |                       |               |              |          |                  |                   | l      |            |       |        |                       |                |         |
|------|----------------|---------------------|--------------------|---------|----------------------|----------------|-----------------|------|----------------------|--------------|-----------------------|----------------|------|---------------------|-------------------|---------|------------------|--------------------|----------|-------|----------------------|----------------|---------------|------|-------|------------|-------------|-----------------------|---------------|--------------|----------|------------------|-------------------|--------|------------|-------|--------|-----------------------|----------------|---------|
|      |                | ex                  | pec                | tec     | <u>م</u> ا           | Ø2             |                 |      |                      |              |                       |                |      |                     |                   |         |                  |                    |          |       |                      |                |               |      |       |            |             |                       |               |              | <u>_</u> |                  |                   |        |            |       |        |                       | -              |         |
| File | Edit           |                     | /ertica            | al   H  | loriz <i>ii</i>      | Acq            | Trig            |      | vispla               | y            | Curs                  | ors            | Me   | easu                | re                | Mas     | :k               | Math               | n   1    | MySc  | ope                  | An             | nalyze        | Uti  | ities | He         | lp          | •                     | _             |              |          | _                | _                 | _      |            | 1     | કંદ    | [                     |                | x       |
|      |                |                     |                    |         |                      | -              | e<br>e          |      |                      |              |                       |                | 10   | a<br>u              | 2                 | e<br>R  |                  |                    |          |       |                      |                |               |      |       |            |             | 5                     |               | 10 A         |          |                  |                   |        |            |       |        | -                     |                |         |
| -  ¥ |                |                     | 2                  |         | 2 0                  | 2              | 2               |      | -<br>-               | 1.           | lerm                  |                | 27   | 0<br>0              | 2                 | 0       |                  |                    |          | Å     |                      | kn.            | 1.            |      |       | 0 3<br>0 3 | 8 Q<br>8 D  | 2                     |               | 28 2<br>20 2 |          | 1                | 1                 |        |            |       |        | 2                     | 0 0<br>0 0     | in a fa |
|      | .   .          |                     | ×                  |         |                      | -              |                 | 50.  | 0%                   |              |                       | 50.            | 0%   |                     | •                 | ×       |                  |                    |          | 1.5 \ |                      | :              | .             |      |       |            |             |                       |               |              |          |                  |                   | × .    |            |       |        | -                     |                |         |
| Ē    | + 6-1          | 4.9.4.4             | <b></b>            |         | alar-rafe            | ****           | ليريديني        |      | <b>₩</b>             | ,            | -1                    | Υγ∔ι           | **** | ***                 | A-14-4            | ولموالي | 4- <b>*</b> *    | ψ <b>φ</b> γ.Ι     | ſ.,,,    | ****  |                      | <b>4</b><br>16 | +₩<br>►<br>ns |      |       | inter and  | wint        | Avre ¶ <sup>2</sup> ∳ | - <b>†</b> -4 | -            | 10-4/I   |                  | -125              | ala an | harder     | ****  | un fre | w <del>,</del> ,,,,,, | Anthy          |         |
|      |                |                     |                    | •       |                      |                | Ĩ               |      |                      | 1 12         |                       |                | 20   | č                   | 27                |         |                  |                    | 27 - 12  |       |                      |                |               |      | •     |            |             |                       |               | 10           |          |                  |                   |        |            |       |        | 2                     |                |         |
| -    |                | 9 10                | 20                 | •       | 8.0                  | 2              | 10              |      |                      | 6 15         | - 2                   |                | 50   | 10                  | 53                | 0       |                  | 5 3                | 5. 2     | 2     | +                    | 1.21           | 10 5          | 5.55 |       | 10         | 51 10       | 20                    |               | 20.02        |          | 1.10             |                   | 0      | 53 SZ      | 5     |        | 2                     | 2 1            |         |
|      |                |                     |                    | • • • • |                      | 1              | ×               |      |                      |              |                       |                | -    | 8                   | 2                 | 6       |                  |                    | 6 H      | -     | Ŧ                    |                | 8.8           |      |       |            | 6 H         |                       |               | -11          |          | 1.15             |                   |        | -          |       |        |                       |                | 1       |
|      | e 1            | 1                   |                    |         | 10 N                 | 5              | 14              |      | ¥ 1                  | 1 12         | - 1                   |                |      | jų.                 | 21                | N.      |                  | s :                | 0 9<br>1 | 1     | +                    | 1              |               |      | 100   | N I        | 0 14        | 11                    | 1             | 25 13        | 1        | 1                |                   | ×.     | 2 3        | 1     | 1      |                       |                | 1       |
| E    |                | 1                   | 1                  | 1       |                      | 1              | 1               |      |                      | 1            | _                     | 1              |      | 1                   | I.                | 1       |                  |                    |          | -1    | t                    |                |               | _    |       | -          | 1           |                       | 1             |              |          | _                |                   | 1      |            |       | 1      |                       |                |         |
|      | C2             | )20                 | 0mV                | /div    | Va                   | lue            | 50Ω             | Bw:  | 8.0G<br>ean          |              |                       | Min            |      |                     | Max               | ĸ       | 1                | St D               | ev       | (     | Cour                 | nt             | Info          |      | C     | 2)_        | <b>F</b> 27 | 6mV                   | 8             |              |          | 40.<br>Ru<br>1 0 | 0ns/<br>n<br>37 a | div :  | 3.13<br>Sa | GS/s  | 3      | 32<br>RL:1            | 0ps/j<br>1.25k | ot      |
|      | C2<br>C2<br>C2 | ) PI<br>) M<br>) P( | k-Pk<br>in<br>os W | id* 1   | 60.0<br>24.0<br>6.62 | mV<br>mV<br>ns | 56<br>-24<br>16 | 4.31 | 0212<br>0212<br>2724 | m<br>2m<br>n | 544.<br>-40.0<br>16.3 | 0m<br>)m<br>6n |      | 592<br>-16.<br>17.0 | .0m<br>.0m<br>07n |         | 6.9<br>4.2<br>10 | 19m<br>98m<br>9.4p | n<br>n   | 1.0   | 137k<br>137k<br>137k |                |               |      |       |            |             |                       |               |              | 8        | Au               | to                | Octo   | ber        | 25, 3 | 2011   | 1                     | 11:2           | 1:15    |

Figure 4.29: Expected and measured  $\phi_2$  phase indicating the operation of the DSM.



Figure 4.30: Expected and measured MSB when common-mode input is provided. MSB is measured after passing through an inverter buffer.

# Chapter 5

# **Conclusions And Future Work**

Algorithmic analog-to-digital converters (ADCs) are commonly used in portable, consumer, sensing, and biomedical applications where medium to high resolutions are required at moderate speeds with a minimum die area and power dissipation. The algorithmic ADC architecture is most closely related to the pipelined ADC architecture. Unlike pipelined ADCs where the residue voltage is propagated through successive stages, an N-bit algorithmic ADC utilizes the same hardware N-times for each bit of resolution. Due to the hardware reuse algorithmic ADCs are very area efficient. However, in terms of power efficiency, compared to that of pipelined ADCs, traditional algorithmic ADCs are inefficient. Pipelined ADCs have greatly benefited from interstage scaling [31], which is not directly applicable to algorithmic ADCs.

In this thesis, two promising low power techniques are presented. These techniques exploit capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled schemes. In the 3-cap-shared technique, a modification of the capacitor arrangements of the flip-around configuration is proposed. It is demonstrated that the proposed technique can achieve more than an 85% power reduction, compared to the conventional scheme. A prototype chip is designed in a 130-nm CMOS process. The simulation results revealed that a 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC, implementing the proposed 3-cap-shared technique, consumes about 150  $\mu$ W of power.

The other proposed technique utilizes both capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled schemes for algorithmic ADCs. In the proposed technique, the ADC is designed by using multiple U-MDAC blocks. Each U-MDAC consists of a unit-OTA and its associated pair of unit capacitances. In order to realize the power savings during each successive cycle, half of the unit-OTAs are powered down, along with the disconnection of their associated capacitors from the circuit. This technique reduces the power consumption of a conventional algorithmic ADC implementation by more than 90%. Simulation results indicated that a 12-bit 10 MS/s algorithmic ADC, based on the proposed U-MDAC approach, consumes about 1 mW of power.

In this thesis, a comparison of different energy efficient techniques for algorithmic ADCs is conducted. These techniques, when combined with each other, can lead to significant energy efficient solutions. Due to the added complexity of generating non-uniform clocks, the bias scaling appears to be the preferred solution, to combine with the proposed techniques, for power savings. A technique is developed that combines capacitor-shared, capacitor-scaled, OTA-shared, capacitor flip-around, and bias/phase scaling techniques to reduce the power consumption of a conventional algorithmic ADC by more than 93%.

This thesis also presents the detailed analysis of thermal noise in the proposed capacitorshared and capacitor-scaled scheme. A relationship between the power dissipation and resolution of OTA-based capacitor-shared and capacitor-scaled algorithmic ADCs is presented as well. Furthermore, a detailed design procedure for the U-MDAC based algorithmic ADC is discussed.

# 5.1 Major Contributions

In this thesis, recent low power techniques are examined. Two different energy efficient techniques for algorithmic ADCs are proposed. In particular, the design technique of splitting an OTA into multiple unit-OTAs is investigated and proved it to be the most promising. The research contributions from this thesis are summed up as follows:

#### • U-MDAC-based technique

A very low power technique is proposed that utilizes both the capacitor-shared technique and capacitor-scaled technique for algorithmic ADCs. In the proposed technique, the ADC is designed by using the U-MDAC approach, incorporating the OTA scaling and capacitor-scaled technique. Moreover, noise and low power limits are derived [71,93].

#### • 3-cap-shared technique

A technique is proposed that utilizes a variation of the capacitor-shared technique. The novel technique requires only three capacitors in a single-ended implementation circuit, compared to the four capacitors in a flip-around configuration and OTAshared algorithmic ADC stage [93,94].

• Comparison of different low power algorithmic ADCs schemes

A comparative study of recently published low power techniques for algorithmic ADCs is conducted. These techniques are compared with each other in terms of their energy efficiency. It is shown that when these techniques are combined, energy efficient solutions are accomplished [94,95].

- Design procedure for U-MDAC-based algorithmic ADC
  - A step-by-step design methodology is demonstrated for designing unit-OTAs while utilizing current density  $(g_m/I_D)$ -based methodology

# 5.2 Future Work

Although the design is validated at the post-layout level, due to chip failures because of the lack of on-chip ESD circuits, the fabricated chips cannot be measured. In the future, it will be worthwhile to put ESD structures on-chip. At the research level, there are many aspects of this work that can be extended.

#### 1. Phase and bias scaling

The settling time requirements of an OTA relaxes after each successive bit resolution. As a result, bias and phase scaling can be incorporated in the design to further enhance the power efficiency of the proposed techniques.

#### 2. Calibration

There is an on-going trend to use digital calibration to ease analog circuits' design requirements. Since in U-MDAC approach, half of the unit-OTAs are not required, the idle OTAs can be used to generate digital outputs equivalent of the gain errors.

#### 3. OTA-less scheme

Since the OTA is the most power hungry block in a U-MDAC, the OTA-less circuit schemes, as presented in [65, 96], can be utilized to further decrease the power consumption of the ADC.

#### 4. Time-interleaving of low power low speed ADCs

Typically, pushing the design speeds to the technology limits results in a power

inefficient solution. Therefore, a more power efficient way is perform time interleaving of low speed highly energy efficient ADCs, such as the proposed ones, to come up with an energy efficient high speed time-interleaved ADC.

#### 5. Combining with sensing applications

Due to the attractive features of low power, high resolution and moderate speed, the proposed ADC can be readily integrated into a variety of sensor read-out circuits. Another promising area would be design sensors and data converters together to lower the cost of overall sensing system.

These possible avenues of future research can lead to significant power savings or performance enhancements. Appendices

# A.1 ADC Characteristics

## Ideal ADCs

Ideal ADCs sample the analog input and quantize it to generate the digital output, as shown in Figure A.1. The analog signal is sampled at uniform time instants<sup>1</sup> and the sampled value is quantized to its corresponding digital code.

Understanding the operations of sampling and quantization is essential to understanding the overall operation of an ADC.

#### Sampling

The first task of an ADC is to sample the analog input signal. The input signal bandwidth and the sampling rate must meet the Nyquist criterion. The Nyquist criterion states that the input signal bandwidth must be lower than the half the sampling frequency. Assume,  $f_{in}$  is the input signal bandwidth and  $f_s$  is the sampling frequency, then

$$f_{in} < \frac{f_s}{2} \tag{A-1}$$

However, if the signal bandwidth is greater than  $f_s/2$ , then the discrete-signals overlap each other. This phenomenon is called aliasing. To avoid this signal overlapping, anti-aliasing filters are used to bandlimit the input signal to be quantized by an ADC.

#### Quantization

After sampling, the next task of an ADC is to convert the sampled data into its corresponding digital code. As shown in Figure A.2(a), a range of analog signal values correspond to same digital code. This approximation or rounding effect in ADCs is called quantization.

Due to quantization, the smallest change in the analog input causing a change in the digital output is called the ADC resolution. The resolution is often expressed in LSB or  $V_{LSB}$ .  $V_{LSB}$  is defined as

$$V_{LSB} = \frac{V_{FS}}{2^N} \tag{A-2}$$

Where N is the number of ADC bits and  $V_{FS}$  is the full scale range of the ADC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Assuming uniform sampling.



Figure A.1: Basic operation of an ADC; Sampling and Quantization

The quantization process introduces an error into the output of the ADC. This error, denoted as  $\varepsilon$ , is called quantization noise and it is the difference between the original analog input and the digitized output. Hence, a signal  $x = x_j \pm \varepsilon$  will be quantized as  $x_j$ if  $\varepsilon < V_{LSB}/2$ , that is, the error never exceeds  $V_{LSB}/2$ . The quantization error for an ideal 3-bit ADC is shown in Figure A.2(b).

In an ideal ADC, this quantization noise decreases the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). SNR



Figure A.2: (a) 3-bit ADC characteristic and (b) Quantization error for the ideal 3-bit ADC.

is the ratio of the power of a full-scale input signal to the quantization noise power present at the output of a converter. The SNR is given by

$$SNR_{ideal-ADC} = 20 \log \left( \frac{\text{RMS Signal Voltage}}{\text{RMS Quantization Noise Voltage}} \right)$$
(dB) (A-3)

An expression for the SNR in such a system can be easily derived if a uniform probability density function (PDF) for  $\varepsilon$  is assumed over  $\pm V_{LSB}/2$ . Therefore the quantization noise power is calculated as

$$v_{qns}^{2} = \frac{1}{V_{LSB}} \int_{-\frac{V_{LSB}}{2}}^{+\frac{V_{LSB}}{2}} \varepsilon^{2} d\varepsilon = \frac{1}{12} V_{LSB}^{2}$$
(A-4)

For a full scale sinusoid signal the SNR is calculated, as shown in Equation A-5 [43].

$$SNR = 20 \log_{10}(2^N \sqrt{1.5}) = 6.02N + 1.76 \text{ (dB)}$$
 (A-5)

Equation A-5 shows that each additional ADC bit improves SNR by approximately 6 dB.

In summary, an ideal ADC samples and quantizes the analog input signal. The only noise source in an ideal ADC is the quantization noise. The sample rate determines the signal bandwidth and the quantization determines the SNR. For ideal ADCs, these are the only specifications.

## Real ADCs

The performance of a real ADC is degraded due to the non-idealities of the electronic components from which the ADC is made. The non-idealities include component matching, circuit noise and non-linearities in the circuits. The effect of these non-idealities lead to the need for additional ADC specifications, which is categorized into static and dynamic specifications.

#### Static specification

The input-output transfer characteristic, as shown in Figure A.2, depicts the static behavior of an ideal 3-bit ADC. However, in real ADCs, circuit imperfections cause errors known as offsets, gain, Differential Nonlinearity (DNL) and Integral Nonlinearity (INL) errors. These errors are discussed below.

**Offset errors:** The offset error is the deviation of the transfer characteristics of an ideal ADC at zero input. This error affects all codes by the same amount. Offset errors can be easily trimmed by calibration.

**Gain errors:** The slope of the ADC's transfer characteristic is the line interpolating the transfer characteristic. The deviation of the actual and ideal slopes is called the gain error. Like offset errors, gain errors can be easily calibrated.

**Differential non-linearity (DNL):** DNL is the deviation of the individual code widths from their ideal value of 1 LSB. DNL is expressed as follows

$$DNL(k) = \frac{[\text{step size of code } (k)] - V_{LSB}}{V_{LSB}}$$
(A-6)
**Integral non-linearity (INL):** INL is the deviation of code centers from their ideal values. INL is also the integral of the DNL from code zero to the code of interest, code i, and is given as

$$INL(k) = \sum_{i=0}^{K} DNL(i)$$
(A-7)

In summary, the above four parameters characterize the static specifications of Nyquist ADCs. Static specifications can be tested at very low speeds or even constant voltages. Offset and gain errors are linear errors, whereas, DNL and INL are nonlinear errors.

#### Dynamic specification

Real ADCs are also limited by the dynamic characteristics of the circuits from which the ADCs are built. An illustration of these errors is shown in Figure A.3. These limitations are due to noise and distortion. There are numerous dynamic performance measures out of which the most common are the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), the spurious free dynamic range (SFDR), the signal-to-noise and distortion ratio (SNDR or SINAD) and the effective number of bits (ENOB).

Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR): The SNR is the ratio of the power of a full-scale input signal to total noise power present at the output of a converter. The quantization noise and the circuit noise are included in the SNR, but harmonics of the signal are excluded. Hence

$$SNR = 10 \log \left( \frac{\text{Signal Power}}{v_{qns}^2 + v_{circuit\_noise}^2} \right) \text{ (dB)}$$
(A-8)

**Total harmonic distortion (THD):** Total harmonic distortion (THD) is defined as the ratio between the RMS sum of the harmonic components and the amplitude of the input signal. THD is given by

$$THD = \frac{\sqrt{\sum_{i=2}^{j} A^2(i.F_{in})}}{A(f_{in})}$$
(A-9)



Figure A.3: Frequency domain characterization for 10-bit pipelined ADC (2048 point FFT).

where  $A(f_{in})$  is the amplitude of the fundamental input signal and  $A(i.F_{in})$  is the amplitude of the  $i^{th}$  harmonic and (j) is the number of harmonics considered. Typically first seven harmonics are considered.

**Spurious free dynamic range (SFDR):** The SFDR is defined as the ratio between the maximum amplitude of the input signal and the amplitude of the next largest spectral

component, as shown in Figure A.3. The SFDR can be less than or greater than the SNR. The SFDR is an important specification in telecommunication applications.

Signal to noise and distortion ratio (SNDR): The SNDR is the ratio between the power of the full scale input signal and the total noise including harmonics and other distortion components and can be written as

$$SNDR = 10 \log \left( \frac{\text{Signal Power}}{\text{Total Noise and Distortion Power}} \right) (dB)$$
 (A-10)

SNDR is always less than or equal to SNR. It is also frequently expressed as SINAD.

Effective resolution bandwidth (ERBW): For low input frequencies, the SNDR is more or less constant, but as the input frequency increases, the SNDR decreases. The effective resolution bandwidth (ERBW) is defined as the input frequency at which the system SNR is reduced by 3 dB (or LSB/2) with respect to the SNDR at low frequencies. The ERBW can be less than or greater than Nyquist rate.

Effective number of bits (ENOB): In real ADCs, the SNDR is always less than 6.02N + 1.76 dB. This reduced resolution is captured by expressing the SNDR in terms of effective bits or ENOB. These bits are called Effective Bits. The ENOB is given as

$$ENOB = \frac{SNDR - 1.76}{6.02}$$
(Bits) (A-11)

ENOB is always less than N. For low resolutions, ENOB is approximately equal to N. For low power high resolution ADCs, ENOB is 1 or 2 bits less than N.

In summary, the specifications discussed above are frequently used to characterize real ADCs. The choice of a specification is often application dependant. For example, in voice and speech communication, low resolution low speed ADCs are used and SNDR is the only important specification. Whereas in video and wireless communications, ADCs must deliver high levels of performance in terms of SNR, SNDR and SFDR. In Radar applications, high SFDR and SNDR ADCs are required to prevent weak signals from being masked by harmonics or spurs. Imaging applications need high INL and high DNL ADCs.

#### A.2 Optimum Scaling Factor Analysis for Pipelined ADCs

In order to quantify both the capacitor scaling and stage resolution, a detailed analysis on choosing the optimum stage resolution and the scaling factor is presented. This analysis is similar to the one presented by Cline-Gray [31]. Initially, the relationship between the power consumption of the whole pipelined ADC and the scaling factor and stage resolution will be derived. Then from that relation, the optimum scaling factor will be found. The optimum stage resolution will be found by utilizing this optimum scaling factor.

In a simplified model, it can be assumed that the dominant noise source in a power optimized pipelined stage is inversely proportional to the sampling capacitor of that stage (kT/C noise). Typically, the capacitors are scaled from one stage to another by a scaling factor  $n_f$ , where  $\gamma = \frac{C_{I+1}}{C_I}$ , as shown in Figure A.4. Here  $C_u$  is the unit capacitance and M is the bit resolution of the individual stage and I is the total number of stages in the pipelined ADC. Under these assumptions, the total input referred noise is proportional to



Figure A.4: Capacitor scaled stages. Each stage resolves M bits and the sampling capacitor of each successive pipelined stage is reduced by the scaling factor  $\gamma$ .

the weighted sum of the reciprocals of the sampling capacitors scaled by the factor  $\gamma^{I-1}$  with respect to the sampling capacitor of first stage, where I is the current stage. As a result, input referred noise can be written as

$$\overline{v}_{n,in}^2 \propto kT \left[ \frac{1}{2^M C_u} + \frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^M C_u \cdot 2^{2M}} + \frac{1}{\gamma^2 \cdot 2^M C_u \cdot 2^{4M}} + \cdots \right]$$
(A-12)

$$\propto \frac{kT}{2^M \cdot C_u} \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}} + \frac{1}{\gamma^2 \cdot 2^{4M}} + \dots + \frac{1}{\gamma^{I-1} \cdot 2^{2(I-1)M}} \right]$$
(A-13)

$$\propto \frac{kT}{2^M \cdot C_u} \left[ \frac{1 - \left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}}\right)^T}{1 - \left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}}\right)} \right] = \frac{kT}{C_s} \left[ \frac{1 - \left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}}\right)^T}{1 - \left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}}\right)} \right]$$
(A-14)

This is the input referred noise of I-stages, where each stage resolves M-bits.

As already assumed, the power consumption of a pipelined ADC is dominated by the OTA power consumption, hence, it is reasonable to say that

$$\operatorname{Power}(P) \propto \frac{\operatorname{Load Capacitance}}{\operatorname{Feedback Factor}(\beta)} \times \operatorname{Number of stages}$$

where,  $\beta = \frac{1}{1+2^M}$  for the each stage. Consequently, the power consumption of the whole pipelined ADC can be given as

$$Power \propto \underbrace{(1+2^M)}^{1/\beta} \underbrace{(2^M C_u) \left(\gamma + \frac{1}{1+2^M}\right)}_{(1+\gamma+\gamma^2 + \gamma^3 \cdots + \gamma^{I-1})} \underbrace{(1+\gamma+\gamma^2 + \gamma^3 \cdots + \gamma^{I-1})}_{(1+\gamma+\gamma^2 + \gamma^3 \cdots + \gamma^{I-1})} (A-15)$$

$$\propto \left(1+2^{M}\right)\left(2^{M}C_{u}\right)\left(\gamma+\frac{1}{1+2^{M}}\right)\left(\frac{1-\gamma^{I}}{1-\gamma}\right)$$
(A-16)

Since stage scaling increases the noise contribution from the later stages, the power consumption must be increased to keep the same SNR. Therefore, combining Equation A-14 and A-16.

$$Power \propto 2^{M} (1+2^{M}) \left(\gamma + \frac{1}{1+2^{M}}\right) \left(\frac{1-\gamma^{I}}{1-\gamma}\right) \left(\frac{1-\left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}}\right)^{I}}{1-\left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cdot 2^{2M}}\right)}\right) \cdot C_{u}$$
(A-17)

Also, the size of the unit sampling capacitor,  $C_u$ , of an M-bit stage can be  $2^{1-M}$  times the unit sampling capacitor of a 1-bit stage while meeting the thermal noise requirements. This unit-capacitor-factor,  $\xi$ , is defined as  $\xi = \frac{2}{2^M} = 2^{1-M}$ . So, the above equation becomes

$$Power \propto 2^{M}(1+2^{M})\left(\gamma+\frac{1}{1+2^{M}}\right)\left(\frac{1-\gamma^{I}}{1-\gamma}\right)\left(\frac{1-\left(\frac{1}{\gamma\cdot2^{2M}}\right)^{I}}{1-\left(\frac{1}{\gamma\cdot2^{2M}}\right)}\right)\left(2^{1-M}\right)\cdot C_{u} \quad (A-18)$$

Equation A-18 shows the relationship between the ADC's power consumption and the scaling factor and the stage resolution.

As defined in the Cline-Gray model [31], a term taper-factor (x) is introduced here, which relates to the scaling factor by the equation  $\gamma = \frac{1}{2^{Mx}}$ . Hence Equation A-18 can be written as

$$Power \propto 2^{M} (1+2^{M}) \left(2^{-Mx} + \frac{1}{1+2^{M}}\right) \left(\frac{1-2^{-IMx}}{1-2^{-Mx}}\right) \left(\frac{1-2^{IM(x-2)}}{1-2^{M(x-2)}}\right) (2^{1-M}) \quad (A-19)$$

Equation A-19 shows the relationship among the ADC's power consumption, the taper factor and the stage resolution. This equation is similar to the one derived in [31], but they have not included the effect of the feedback factor, and they assumed that I is infinite. Also this analysis is done considering regular pipelined stages, whereas [31] analyzed the flip-around scheme.

The power dissipation of an infinite pipelined ADC is plotted in Figure A.5. For the



Figure A.5: Normalized power versus the taper factor

M=1 case, significant power savings are possible due to capacitor scaling. The optimum

scaling factor  $\gamma_{opt}$  is approximately equal to the reciprocal of the interstage gain of the pipelined stage, that is, the optimal taper factor  $x_{opt}$  is equal to one. In a typical pipelined ADC, when no capacitor scaling is utilized, then power dissipation of the whole pipeline ADC is proportional to the N times the power consumption of the first stage. In contrast, when the optimal scaling factor is used then the power of the whole ADC is proportional to two times the power consumption of the first stage. However, due to scaling, the power consumption of the first stage must be increased, therefore, the total power saving is around 70%, and not 80% as might be expected.

The optimum scaling factor is plotted against the per stage bit resolution in Figure A.6(a). It can be seen that  $x_{opt}$  is between 1 and 1.5, and the scaling factor increases with the increase in stage resolution. The relative power consumption between using the optimal taper factor and the taper factor of reciprocal of the stage gain is plotted in the Figure A.6(b). The power improvement is not significant in lower resolution stages, however, this power improvement increases for higher stage resolutions.



Figure A.6: (a) Optimum scaling factor versus stage resolution (M) (b) Relative power improvement when optimum taper factor is used against when the taper factor as the reciprocal of the stage gain is used.

Once the optimal taper factor is found, it is possible to find the optimal stage resolution assuming the optimal taper factor is used. Figure A.7 shows the total pipeline power consumption versus the bits resolution per stage (assuming the same number of bits in all stages). From the figure, it can be seen that large power savings are possible when going from one bit per stage to two bits per stage.



Figure A.7: Normalized power versus the stage resolution. Here optimum taper factor of each stage resolution is used

In summary, a relationship between power dissipation of a pipelined ADC and optimum capacitor scaling factor is derived. It is shown that the optimal scaling factor is slightly different from the reciprocal of the interstage gain. Although power improvements are not very high in lower per stage resolution, the power improvements is significant when more than 3-bit/stage resolutions are used. Furthermore, it is shown that large power savings are possible when going from one bit per stage to two bits per stage.

### A.3 Derivation of Minimum Sampling Power

Fundamentally, all ADCs must sample the analog signal, and the accuracy of the sampled signal must be enough to meet the SNR requirement. In practical circuits, the analog signal is sampled on the capacitor along with the thermal noise. By increasing the capacitor size, the relative SNR is improved. Therefore, one should size the sampling capacitor for the desired SNR, then the power required to charge the sampling capacitor at the required rate will limit the minimum power dissipation. The sampling noise is given as

$$\overline{v}_{ns}^2 = \frac{kT}{C_s} \tag{A-20}$$

where  $C_s$  is the sampling capacitor. For a supply voltage of  $V_{FS}$ , the maximum sinusoidal power is

$$v_s^2 = \frac{V_{FS}^2}{8}$$
(A-21)

which gives a SNR of

$$SNR^2 = \frac{v_s^2}{\overline{v}_{ns}^2} = \frac{V_{FS}^2 \cdot C_s}{8kT} \tag{A-22}$$

Hence, one can determine the required  $C_s$  for any desired SNR and  $V_{FS}$  as:

$$C_s = \frac{8kT \cdot SNR^2}{V_{FS}^2} \tag{A-23}$$

Therefore, in order to double the SNR (6 dB), four times the  $C_s$  is required. Also, when the supply voltage is reduced to half, then four times the sampling capacitor is required again.

To charge a capacitor to full scale voltage  $V_{FS}$  requires a charge of

$$Q = C_s \cdot V_{FS} \tag{A-24}$$

If this is done at a sample rate of  $f_s$ , the average current will be given by

$$I = f_s \cdot C_s \cdot V_{FS} \tag{A-25}$$

which yields a minimum power of

$$P_s = I \cdot V_{FS} = f_s \cdot C_s \cdot V_{FS}^2 \tag{A-26}$$

to sample a signal. By substituting (A-23) for  $C_s$ , the fundamental power required to sample a signal for any desired SNR is found to be<sup>1</sup>

$$P_s = 8kT \cdot f_s \cdot SNR^2 \tag{A-27}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In practice the signal is not always at  $V_{FS}$ , so the power consumption is reduced some what. The amount of the reduction depends on the characteristics of the signal. For a pure sine wave, (A-26) should be scaled by  $1/\sqrt{2}$ .

However,

$$SNR^2 = 1.5 \cdot 2^{2N}$$
 (A-28)

Therefore, (A-27) becomes

$$P_s = 12kT \cdot f_s \cdot 2^{2N} \tag{A-29}$$

The above equation states that the power consumption in an ADC is proportional to  $2^{2N}$ , and the sampling frequency. Note that, (A-29) is technology independent and sets the lower bound for any sampling based ADC.

## A.4 Layouts and Device Sizes

In this section, designed layouts and devices's sizes are provided. The complete Spectre schematic of the 12-bit 10 MS/s ADC is presented in Figure A.8  $\,$ 



Figure A.8: Complete Spectre schematic of the 12-bit 10 MS/s ADC.

## U-MDAC layout



Figure A.9: Layout of the U-MDAC's stage.

## $2^{nd}$ stage layout



Figure A.10: Layout of the second stage.

## Comparator layout



Figure A.11: Layout of the comparator.

## **Device Sizes**

| Device          | l l                    | Length $(\mu m)$ |              |       |      |  |  |  |
|-----------------|------------------------|------------------|--------------|-------|------|--|--|--|
|                 | Finger width $(\mu m)$ | Fingers          | Multiplicity | Total |      |  |  |  |
| Main OTA        |                        |                  |              |       |      |  |  |  |
| $M1_{a,b}$      | 0.6                    | 2                | 4            | 4.8   | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| $M2_{a,b}$      | 1.2                    | 1                | 1            | 1.2   | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| $M3_{a,b}$      | 0.5                    | 16               | 1            | 8     | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| $M4_{a,b}$      | 0.5                    | 16               | 1            | 8     | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| $Mtail_{a,b}$   | 0.3                    | 14               | 1            | 4.2   | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| N-Booster       |                        |                  |              |       |      |  |  |  |
| $MP1_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.3  |  |  |  |
| $MP2_{a,b}$     | 0.6                    | 2                | 1            | 1.2   | 0.48 |  |  |  |
| $MP3_{a,b}$     | 0.6                    | 2                | 1            | 1.2   | 0.48 |  |  |  |
| $MN2_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| $MN3_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.16 |  |  |  |
| $Mswitch_{a,b}$ | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| P-Boosters      |                        |                  |              |       |      |  |  |  |
| $MN1_{a,b}$     | 0.36                   | 1                | 1            | 0.36  | 0.3  |  |  |  |
| $MN2_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.48 |  |  |  |
| $MN3_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.48 |  |  |  |
| $MP2_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.18 |  |  |  |
| $MP3_{a,b}$     | 0.3                    | 2                | 1            | 0.6   | 0.48 |  |  |  |
| $Mswitch_{a,b}$ | 0.3                    | 1                | 1            | 0.3   | 0.18 |  |  |  |

#### unit-OTA and booster amplifiers

### Comparator

| Device             | I I                    | Length $(\mu m)$ |              |       |      |
|--------------------|------------------------|------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|                    | Finger width $(\mu m)$ | Fingers          | Multiplicity | Total |      |
| $M_{1-4}$          | 0.5                    | 1                | 1            | 0.5   | 0.48 |
| $M_{5-8}$          | 0.5                    | 1                | 1            | 0.5   | 1.5  |
| M <sub>9,10</sub>  | 0.5                    | 4                | 1            | 2     | 0.18 |
| M <sub>11,12</sub> | 0.5                    | 1                | 1            | 0.5   | 0.24 |
| $Mtail_{14,15}$    | 0.5                    | 1                | 1            | 0.5   | 0.24 |
| M <sub>13</sub>    | 0.6                    | 5                | 1            | 3     | 0.12 |
| M <sub>16,19</sub> | 0.5                    | 1                | 1            | 0.5   | 0.12 |



## 10-bit 5 MS/s Algorithmic ADC chip micrograph

Figure A.12: Chip micrograph of the 10-bit 5 MS/s algorithmic ADC.

12-bit 10 MS/s Algorithmic ADC chip micrograph



Figure A.13: Chip micrograph of the 12-bit 10 MS/s algorithmic ADC.

# Bibliography

- S. Kawahito, J.-H. Park, K. Isobe, S. Shafie, T. Lida, and T. Mizota, "A CMOS image sensor integrating column-parallel cyclic ADCs with on-chip digital error correction circuits," in *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2008, pp. 56–57.
- [2] S. Lim, J. Cheon, Y. Chae, W. Jung, D.-H. Lee, M. Kwon, K. Yoo, S. Ham, and G. Han, "A 240-frames/s 2.1-Mpixel CMOS image sensor with column-shared cyclic ADCs," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 2073–2083, Sept. 2011.
- [3] M.-W. Seo, S.-H. Suh, T. Iida, T. Takasawa, K. Isobe, T. Watanabe, S. Itoh, K. Yasutomi, and S. Kawahito, "A low-noise high intrascene dynamic range CMOS image sensor with a 13 to 19b variable-resolution column-parallel folding-integration/cyclic ADC," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 1–12, Jan. 2012.
- [4] J.-H. Park, S. Aoyama, T. Watanabe, T. Akahori, T. Kosugi, K. Isobe, Y. Kaneko, Z. Liu, K. Muramatsu, T. Matsuyama, and S. Kawahito, "A 0.1e- vertical FPN 4.7eread noise 71db dr CMOS image sensor with 13b column-parallel single-ended cyclic ADCs," in *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2009, pp. 268–269,269a.
- [5] M. Furuta, S. Kawahito, T. Inoue, and Y. Nishikawa, "A cyclic A/D converter with pixel noise and column-wise offset canceling for CMOS image sensors," in *Proc. ESS-CIRC*, Sept. 2005, pp. 411–414.
- [6] Y. Chae, J. Cheon, S. Lim, M. Kwon, K. Yoo, W. Jung, D.-H. Lee, S. Ham, and G. Han, "A 2.1 M pixels, 120 frame/s CMOS image sensor with column-parallel ΔΣ ADC architecture," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 236–247, Jan. 2011.
- [7] S. O'Driscoll, K. Shenoy, and T. Meng, "Adaptive resolution ADC array for an implantable neural sensor," *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits Syst.*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 120–130, April 2011.
- [8] H. Yang and R. Sarpeshkar, "A bio-inspired ultra-energy-efficient analog-to-digital converter for biomedical applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 2349–2356, Nov. 2006.

- [9] Y.-T. Lin, Y.-S. Lin, C.-H. Chen, H.-C. Chen, Y.-C. Yang, and S.-S. Lu, "A 0.5-V biomedical system-on-a-chip for intrabody communication system," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Elec.*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 690–699, Feb. 2011.
- [10] G. Bonfini, A. Brogna, C. Garbossa, L. Colombini, M. Bacci, S. Chicca, F. Bigongiari, N. Guerrini, and G. Ferri, "An ultralow-power switched opamp-based 10-b integrated ADC for implantable biomedical applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 174–177, Jan. 2004.
- [11] A. Rodriguez-Perez, M. Delgado-Restituto, F. Medeiro, and A. Rodriguez-Vazquez, "A low-power reconfigurable ADC for biomedical sensor interfaces," in *Proc. BIOCAS*, Nov. 2009, pp. 253–256.
- [12] E. AkseNov, Y. Ljashenko, A. Plotnikov, D. Prilutskiy, S. Selishchev, and E. Vetvetskiy, "Biomedical data acquisition systems based on sigma-delta analogue-to-digital converters," in *Proc. IEEE Eng. in Med. Bio. Soc.*, vol. 4, 2001, pp. 3336–3337.
- [13] J. A. M. Jarvinen, M. Saukoski, and K. A. I. Halonen, "A 12-bit ratio-independent Algorithmic A/D converter for a capacitive sensor interface," *IEEE Trans. Circuits* Syst. I, vol. 55, no. 3, p. 730, 2008.
- [14] M. Inc., "Two-touch, capacitive touch-screen controllers with tactouch haptic trigger output," Maxim Integrated Products Applications Notes, 2010.
- [15] S. Matsuo, T. Bales, M. Shoda, S. Osawa, K. Kawamura, A. Andersson, M. Haque, H. Honda, B. Almond, Y. Mo, J. Gleason, T. Chow, and I. Takayanagi, "8.9-megapixel video image sensor with 14-b column-parallel SA-ADC," *IEEE Trans. Electron De*vices, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 2380–2389, Nov. 2009.
- [16] S.-F. Yeh, J.-Y. Lin, C.-C. Hsieh, K.-Y. Yeh, and C.-C. J. Li, "A new CMOS image sensor readout structure for 3D integrated imagers," in *Proc. IEEE CICC*, Sept. 2011, pp. 1–4.
- [17] M. Marktani, S. Vivien, L. Simony, A. Ahaitouf, and A. Ahaitouf, "A successiveapproximation ADC for CMOS image sensors," in *Proc. ICMCS*, April 2011, pp. 1–6.
- [18] H.-C. Chow, B.-W. Chen, H.-C. Chen, and W.-S. Feng, "A 1.8 V , 0.3 mW, 10-bit SA-ADC with new self-timed timing control for biomedical applications," in *Proc. IEEE ISCAS*, vol. 1, May 2005, pp. 736–739.
- [19] L. Wong, S. Hossain, A. Ta, J. Edvinsson, D. Rivas, and H. Naas, "A very low-power CMOS mixed-signal IC for implantable pacemaker applications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 12, pp. 2446–2456, Dec. 2004.

- [20] M. Snoeij, A. Theuwissen, K. Makinwa, and J. Huijsing, "Multiple-ramp columnparallel ADC architectures for CMOS image sensors," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 2968–2977, Dec. 2007.
- [21] M. Shin, M. Ikebe, J. Motohisa, and E. Sano, "Column parallel single-slope ADC with time to digital converter for CMOS imager," in *Proc. IEEE ICECS*, Dec. 2010, pp. 863–866.
- [22] D. Lee, K. Cho, D. Kim, and G. Han, "Low-noise in-pixel comparing active pixel sensor using column-level single-slope ADC," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 3383–3388, Dec. 2008.
- [23] J. O'Dowd, A. Callanan, G. Banarie, and E. Company-Bosch, "Capacitive sensor interfacing using sigma-delta techniques," in *IEEE J. Sensors*, Nov. 2005, pp. 951– 954.
- [24] Z. Lu, B. Gosselin, and M. Sawan, "A 16-bit sigma-delta modulator for low power medical implantable sensors," in *Proc. IEEE ICECS*, Dec. 2005, pp. 1–4.
- [25] A. Agah, K. Vleugels, P. Griffin, M. Ronaghi, J. Plummer, and B. Wooley, "A high-resolution low-power incremental ΣΔ ADC with extended range for biosensor arrays," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 1099–1110, June 2010.
- [26] J.-F. Lin, S.-J. Chang, C.-F. Chiu, H.-H. Tsai, and J.-J. Wang, "Low-power and widebandwidth cyclic ADC with capacitor and opamp reuse techniques for CMOS image sensor application," *IEEE J. Sensors*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 2044–2054, Dec. 2009.
- [27] N. Verma and A. Chandrakasan, "An ultra low energy 12-bit rate-resolution scalable SAR ADC for wireless sensor nodes," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 1196–1205, June 2007.
- [28] M. Furuta, Y. Nishikawa, T. Inoue, and S. Kawahito, "A high-speed, high-sensitivity digital CMOS image sensor with a global shutter and 12-bit column-parallel cyclic A/D converters," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 766–774, April 2007.
- [29] Y.-C. Huang and T.-C. Lee, "A 0.02-mm<sup>2</sup> 9-bit 50-MS/s cyclic ADC in 90-nm digital CMOS technology," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 610–619, Mar. 2010.
- [30] I. Martin, A. Rusu, M. Ismail, H. Neubauer, and J. Hauer, "A flexible algorithmic ADC for wireless sensor nodes," in *Proc. ICECS*, Sept. 2008, pp. 1213–1216.
- [31] D. Cline and P. Gray, "A power optimized 13-b 5 Msamples/s pipelined analog-todigital converter in 1.2 μm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 294–303, Mar. 1996.

- [32] M. Waltari and K. Halonen, "1-V 9-bit pipelined switched-opamp ADC," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 129–134, Jan. 2001.
- [33] J. Crols and M. Steyaert, "Switched-opamp: an approach to realize full CMOS switched-capacitor circuits at very low power supply voltages," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 936–942, Aug 1994.
- [34] B.-G. Lee and R. Tsang, "A 10-bit 50 MS/s pipelined ADC with capacitor-sharing and variable g<sub>m</sub> opamp," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 883–890, Mar. 2009.
- [35] K. Nagaraj, H. Fetterman, J. Anidjar, S. Lewis, and R. Renninger, "A 250-mW, 8-b, 52-Msamples/s parallel-pipelined A/D converter with reduced number of amplifiers," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 312–320, Mar. 1997.
- [36] S. Malik and R. Geiger, "Simultaneous capacitor sharing and scaling for reduced power in pipeline ADCs," in *Proc. IEEE MWSCAS*, vol. 2, Aug. 2005, pp. 1015–1018.
- [37] P. Wu, V. S.-L. Cheung, and H. Luong, "A 1-V 100-MS/s 8-bit CMOS switched-opamp pipelined ADC using loading-free architecture," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 730–738, April 2007.
- [38] N. Sasidhar, Y.-J. Kook, S. Takeuchi, K. Hamashita, K. Takasuka, P. Hanumolu, and U.-K. Moon, "A low power pipelined ADC using capacitor and opamp sharing technique with a scheme to cancel the effect of signal dependent kickback," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 2392–2401, Sept. 2009.
- [39] H. Zhang, Q. Li, and E. Sanchez-Sinencio, "Minimum current/area implementation of cyclic adc," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 351–352, July 2009.
- [40] J. Li, G.-C. Ahn, D.-Y. Chang, and U.-K. Moon, "A 0.9-V 12-mW 5-MSPS algorithmic ADC with 77-dB SFDR," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 960–969, April 2005.
- [41] D. G. Nairn and C. A. T. Salama, "A ratio-independent algorithmic analog-to-digital converter combining current mode and dynamic techniques," *IEEE Trans. Circuits* and Syst. I, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 319–325, Mar. 1990.
- [42] B. Esperanca, J. Goes, R. Tavares, A. Galhardo, N. Paulino, and M. Silva, "Power-andarea efficient 14-bit 1.5 MSample/s two-stage algorithmic ADC based on a mismatchinsensitive MDAC," in *Proc. ISCAS*, May 2008, pp. 220–223.
- [43] B. Razavi, *Principles of Data Conversion System Design*. IEEE Press, 1995.
- [44] A. Abo and P. Gray, "A 1.5-V, 10-bit, 14.3-MS/s CMOS pipeline analog-to-digital converter," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 599–606, May 1999.

- [45] D. Nairn and C. Salama, "Current-mode algorithmic analog-to-digital converters," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 997–1004, Aug. 1990.
- [46] K. Nagaraj, "Efficient circuit configurations for algorithmic analog to digital converters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II*, vol. 40, no. 12, pp. 777–785, Dec. 1993.
- [47] K. Poulton, R. Neff, A. Muto, W. Liu, A. Burstein, and M. Heshami, "A 4 Gsample/s 8b ADC in 0.35 μm CMOS," in *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, vol. 1, 2002, pp. 166–457.
- [48] D. A. Johns and K. Martin, Analog Integrated Circuit Design. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1997.
- [49] M. Dessouky and A. Kaiser, "Very low-voltage digital-audio delta; sigma; modulator with 88-db dynamic range using local switch bootstrapping," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 349–355, Mar. 2001.
- [50] C. Diaz, "CMOS technology for MS/RF SoC," IEEE Workshop Microelec. Elec. Devices, pp. 24–27, 2004.
- [51] P. Kinget, "Device mismatch and tradeoffs in the design of analog circuits," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 1212–1224, June 2005.
- [52] A. Karanicolas, H.-S. Lee, and K. Barcrania, "A 15-b 1-MSample/s digitally selfcalibrated pipeline ADC," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 1207–1215, Dec. 1993.
- [53] H.-S. Lee, "A 12-b 600 ks/s digitally self-calibrated pipelined algorithmic ADC," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 509 –515, Apr. 1994.
- [54] I. Ahmed and D. Johns, "An 11-bit 45 MS/s pipelined ADC with rapid calibration of DAC errors in a multibit pipeline stage," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 1626–1637, July 2008.
- [55] M. G. Kim, P. Hanumolu, and U.-K. Moon, "A 10 MS/s 11-bit 0.19 mm<sup>2</sup> algorithmic ADC with improved clocking scheme," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 2348–2355, Sept. 2009.
- [56] A.-J. Annema, B. Nauta, R. van Langevelde, and H. Tuinhout, "Analog circuits in ultra-deep-submicron CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 132– 143, Jan. 2005.
- [57] O. Adeniran and A. Demosthenous, "Optimization of bit-per-stage for low-voltage low-power CMOS pipeline ADCs," *Proc. IEEE ESSCRIC*, vol. 2, pp. 55–58, Sept. 2005.

- [58] B. Li, Z. Li, and T. Chen, "Research on the Low Power Dissipation of Pipeline ADC," Proc. ICICIC, pp. 498–498, Sept. 2007.
- [59] S. H. Lewis, "Optimizing the stage resolution in pipelined, multistage, analog-to-digital converters for video-rate applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 516–523, Aug. 1992.
- [60] J. Arias, V. . Boccuzzi, L. Quintanilla, L.Enriquez, D. Bisbal, M. Banu, and J. Barbolla, "Low power Pipeline ADC for wireless LANs," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 1338–1340, Aug. 2004.
- [61] W. Bright, "8 b 75 M sample/s 70 mW parallel pipelined ADC incorporating double sampling," *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 146–147, 428, Feb. 1998.
- [62] J. Li and U.-K. Moon, "A 1.8-V 67-mW 10-bit 100-MS/s pipelined ADC using timeshifted CDS technique," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 1468–1476, Sept. 2004.
- [63] C. Enz and G. Temes, "Circuit techniques for reducing the effects of op-amp imperfections: autozeroing, correlated double sampling, and chopper stabilization," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 84, no. 11, pp. 1584 –1614, Nov. 1996.
- [64] J. K. Fiorenza, T. Sepke, P. Holloway, C. G. Sodini, and H.-S. Lee, "Comparatorbased switched-capacitor circuits for scaled CMOS technologies," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no. 12, pp. 2658–2668, Dec. 2006.
- [65] L. Brooks and H. S. Lee, "A zero-crossing-based 8-bit 200 MS/s pipelined ADC," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 12, p. 2677, 2007.
- [66] B. Murmann and B. E. Boser, "A 12 b 75 MS/s Pipelined ADC using open-loop residue amplification," in *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, 2003, pp. 328–329.
- [67] E. Iroaga and B. Murmann, "A 12-Bit 75-MS/s Pipelined ADC using Incomplete Settling," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 748–756, April 2007.
- [68] O. Erdogan, P. Hurst, and S. Lewis, "A 12 b digital-background-calibrated algorithmic adc with -90 dB THD," in Proc. IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers, 1999, pp. 316–317.
- [69] J.-W. Nam, Y.-D. Jeon, Y.-K. Cho, S.-G. Lee, and J.-K. Kwon, "A 2.85mW 0.12mm<sup>2</sup> 1.0V 11-bit 20-MS/s algorithmic ADC in 65nm CMOS," in *Proc. IEEE ESSCIRC*, Sept. 2009, pp. 468–471.
- [70] B. Soufi, S. Malik, and R. Geiger, "A capacitor sharing technique for RSD cyclic ADC," in *Proc. IEEE MWSCAS*, vol. 1, Aug. 2005, pp. 859–862.

- [71] N. Hai and D. G. Nairn, "A capacitor scaling and capacitor sharing technique for reducing power dissipation in algorithmic adcs," *Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process.*, vol. Accepted for publication, Oct. 2011.
- [72] R. Walden, "Analog-to-digital converter survey and analysis," IEEE J. Communications, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 539–550, Apr 1999.
- [73] K. Nakamura, M. Hotta, L. Carley, and D. Allsot, "An 85 mW, 10 b, 40 Msample/s CMOS parallel-pipelined ADC," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 173– 183, Mar. 1995.
- [74] S. Pavan, Y. Tsividis, and K. Nagaraj, "Widely programmable high-frequency continuous-time filters in digital CMOS technology," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 503–511, Apr. 2000.
- [75] C. Svensson, S. Andersson, and P. Bogner, "On the power consumption of analog to digital converters," in *Proc. NORCHIP Conf.*, Nov. 2006, pp. 49–52.
- [76] T. Sundstrom, B. Murmann, and C. Svensson, "Power dissipation bounds for highspeed nyquist analog-to-digital converters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 509–518, Mar. 2009.
- [77] H. Yang and D. Allstot, "Considerations for fast settling operational amplifiers," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 326–334, Mar. 1990.
- [78] B. Murmann, "A/D converter trends: Power dissipation, scaling and digitally assisted architectures," in *Proc. IEEE CICC*, Sept. 2008, pp. 105–112.
- [79] D. Nairn, "A 10-bit, 3 V, 100 MS/s pipelined ADC," in *Proc. IEEE CICC*, 2000, pp. 257–260.
- [80] W. Yang, D. Kelly, L. Mehr, M. Sayuk, and L. Singer, "A 3-V 340-mw 14-b 75-MSample/s CMOS ADC with 85-db sfdr at nyquist input," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1931–1936, Dec. 2001.
- [81] K. Bult and G. Geelen, "A fast-settling CMOS op amp for sc circuits with 90-db dc gain," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 1379–1384, Dec. 1990.
- [82] O. Choksi and L. Carley, "Analysis of switched-capacitor common-mode feedback circuit," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 906–917, Dec. 2003.
- [83] M. S. T. Development, CMRF8SF design manual, IBM Microelectronics Division, Nov. 2010.
- [84] C. M. Development, CMRF8SF model guide, IBM Microelectronics Division, Nov. 2010.

- [85] A. Nikoozadeh and B. Murmann, "An analysis of latch comparator offset due to load capacitor mismatch," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 1398–1402, Dec. 2006.
- [86] L. Sumanen, M. Waltari, and K. Halonen, "A mismatch insensitive CMOS dynamic comparator for pipeline A/D converters," in *Proc. IEEE ICECS*, vol. 1, 2000, pp. 32–35.
- [87] T. B. Cho and P. R. Gray, "A 10 b, 20 Msample/s, 35 mW Pipeline A/D Converter," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 166–172, Mar. 1995.
- [88] S. Lewis and P. Gray, "A pipelined 5-MSample/s 9-bit analog-to-digital converter," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 954–961, Dec. 1987.
- [89] P. Figueiredo and J. Vital, "Kickback noise reduction techniques for CMOS latched comparators," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 541–545, July 2006.
- [90] I. Mehr and L. Singer, "A 55-mw, 10-bit, 40-MSample/s nyquist-rate CMOS ADC," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 318–325, Mar. 2000.
- [91] J.-K. Woo, T.-H. Kim, H. Lee, S. Kim, H. Lee, and S. Kim, "A comparator-based cyclic analog-to-digital converter with boosted preset voltage," in *Proc. ISPLED*, Aug. 2011, pp. 199–204.
- [92] H. Chen, D. Wu, Y. Shen, and J. Xu, "A 13-bit, low-power, compact ADC suitable for sensor applications," in *Proc. IEEE ISCAS*, June 2010, pp. 2414–2417.
- [93] N. Hai and D. G. Nairn, "A 12-bit 10MS/s 2-stage algorithmic ADC in 130-nm CMOS utilizing capacitor sharing and capacitor scaling technique," in *Proc. MNRC*, Oct. 2009, pp. 49–52.
- [94] N. Hai and D. G. Nairn, "A low power 12-bit 10MS/s algorithmic ADC," in Proc. CCECE, May 2010, pp. 1–4.
- [95] N. Hai and D. G. Nairn, "Energy efficient circuit configurations for algorithmic ADCs," *Microelectron J.*, vol. Submitted for publication, 2011.
- [96] T. Sepke, J. Fiorenza, C. Sodini, P. Holloway, and H.-S. Lee, "Comparator-based switched-capacitor circuits for scaled CMOS technologies," in *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2006, pp. 812–821.